# **Reef Restoration** and **Adaptation Program**

# T3: INTERVENTION TECHNICAL SUMMARY

A report provided to the Australian Government by the Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program

Bay LK<sup>1</sup>, Rocker M<sup>1\*</sup>, Boström-Einarsson L<sup>2\*</sup>, Babcock R<sup>3</sup>, Buerger P<sup>3</sup>, Cleves P<sup>4</sup>, Harrison D<sup>5,6</sup>, Negri A<sup>1</sup>, Quigley K<sup>1</sup>, Randall CJ<sup>1</sup>, van Oppen MJH<sup>1</sup>, Webster N<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Australian Institute of Marine Science
<sup>2</sup>TropWATER, James Cook University
<sup>3</sup>CSIRO
<sup>4</sup>Stanford University
<sup>5</sup>University of Sydney
<sup>6</sup>Southern Cross University
<sup>\*</sup>These authors contributed equally

September 2019

# Inquiries should be addressed to:

Dr Line Bay I.bay@aims.gov.au

# This report should be cited as

Bay LK, Rocker M, Boström-Einarsson L, Babcock R, Buerger P, Cleves P, Harrison D, Negri A, Quigley K, Randall CJ, van Oppen MJH, Webster N (2019) Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program: Intervention Technical Summary. A report provided to the Australian Government by the Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program (89pp).

# Copyright

Except insofar as copyright in this document's material vests in third parties the material contained in this document constitutes copyright owned and/or administered by the Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS). AIMS reserves the right to set out the terms and conditions for the use of such material. Wherever a third party holds copyright in material presented in this document, the copyright remains with that party. Their permission may be required to use the material. AIMS has made all reasonable efforts to clearly label material where the copyright is owned by a third party and ensure that the copyright owner has consented to this material being presented in this document.

# Acknowledgement

This work was undertaken for the Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program, a collaboration of leading experts, to create a suite of innovative measures to help preserve and restore the Great Barrier Reef. Funded by the Australian Government, partners include: the Australian Institute of Marine Science, CSIRO, the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, the Great Barrier Reef Foundation, The University of Queensland, Queensland University of Technology and James Cook University, augmented by expertise from associated universities (University of Sydney, Southern Cross University, Melbourne University, Griffith University, University of Western Australia), engineering firms (Aurecon, WorleyParsons, Subcon) and international organisations (Mote Marine, NOAA, SECORE, The Nature Conservancy).

# **Disclaimer**

While reasonable efforts have been made to ensure that the contents of this document are factually correct, AIMS does not make any representation or give any warranty regarding the accuracy, completeness, currency or suitability for any particular purpose of the information or statements contained in this document. To the extent permitted by law AIMS shall not be liable for any loss, damage, cost or expense that may be occasioned directly or indirectly through the use of or reliance on the contents of this document.

© Copyright: Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS)

# Contents

1. PREAMBLE			1			
2.	EXE	CUTIVE	SUMMARY1			
3.	INTRODUCTION, BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVES					
	3.1	Reef Re	storation and Adaptation Program and objectives			
	3.2	Intervent 3.2.1 3.2.2 3.2.3	tion objectives and delivery methods			
4.	ТҮР	ES OF '	PREVENTION' INTERVENTIONS			
	4.1	Environmental adjustments that cool or shade reef waters				
		4.1.1	Shading   7     Surface films   8			
			Shade cloth deployments9			
			Ocean microbubbles			
			Marine cloud brightening11			
			Misting14			
			Fogging15			
		4.1.2	Vertical mixing			
			Pumping and mixing18			
			Box 2: What is OTEC?			
	4.2	Enhance	ed performance of corals	а		
			Box 3: What is acclimatisation and adaptation?21			
			Box 4. What is genetic diversity?22			
		4.2.1	Enhanced tolerance via interbreeding of existing coral genetic stock23 Assisted gene flow within the Great Barrier Reef			
			Assisted migration from outside the Reef, or introduction of new species26			
			Marker-assisted selective breeding27			
			Box 5: What are quantitative trait loci (QTLs)?			
			Interspecific hybridisation for novel genomics			
			Conditioning			
		4.2.2	Enhanced tolerance via symbiotic microalgae (family Symbiodiniaceae)29 Box 6: What are Symbiodiniaceae?			

			Manipulate abundance of existing Symbiodiniaceae types	32
			Manipulate abundance of experimental evolved Symbiodiniaceae	33
			Transgenerational conditioning through epigenetic reprograming	33
			Feasibility, potential risks, and knowledge gaps	33
		4.2.3	Enhanced tolerance via additional microbes (prokaryotes, viruses, ar	nd/or fungi) 33
			Manipulating abundance or ratios of existing microbes	35
			Addition of novel, naturally-beneficial (or probiotic) types of microbes	36
			Experimental selection of microbes	36
			Feasibility, potential risks, and knowledge gaps	36
		4.2.4	Genetic engineering or synthetic biology to enhance tolerance of cora	al holobiont 37
			Enhanced tolerance from genetic engineering with CRISPR/Cas9	37
5.	TYP	REPAIR' INTERVENTIONS	39	
	5.1	Active re	estoration at reef-scale	39
			Box 7: Current methods and technologies	40
		5.1.1	Enhanced larval supply - sexual reproduction	41
	5.2	Biologica	al support to accelerate natural recovery	43
		5.2.1	Design of novel man-made structures	43
			Stabilisation of existing substrate	45
			Improvement of substratum settlement quality - microbiomes and CC	A 46
		5.2.2	Coral health improvement	46
			Provide alternative foods to increase survival from stress	47
			Antioxidant/anti-microbial biological systems	47
		5.2.3	Biocontrol	48
				40 50
			Drupelle menogement	50
ргг			บานุราเล เกลาลังรากราก	JZ
KEF	CKE	NCE3		
Арр	endi	x A – RF	RAP DOCUMENT MAP	81
App	endi	x B – Gl	ossary	82

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Conceptual diagram of the layered implementation of multiple intervention types, projected as outcomes of the RRAP	4
Figure 2: Average coral cover across mid-shelf and offshore reefs of the central Great Barrier Reef from the Cairns and Townsville sectors from 2017-2018 by coral genus	7
Figure 3: Surface films aims to reduce the stress corals and other photosynthesising organisms experience during heatwave conditions, by scattering and reflecting incoming sunlight	9
Figure 4: The albedo effect of bubbles in the surface ocean is visually apparent from ship wake 1	1
Figure 5: Cloud brightening due to marine ship exhaust is a visually-detectable occurrence due to the high albedo change which occurs under certain atmospheric conditions	2
Figure 6: Marine cloud brightening aims to increase the portion of incoming solar radiation reflected back into space	3
Figure 7: Mist over the ocean1	5
Figure 9 – A schematic of a solar-powered underwater impeller system (image modified with permission, Reef and Rainforest Research Centre)	8
Figure 10: Diagram summarising the motivation for, and steps involved in, the eight assisted evolution approaches (i.e. delivery methods) discussed	ו 3
Figure 11: Terms used to describe approaches that introduce genes or species into receiving populations, and clarification of nomenclature used here in relation to the terms associated with the movement of organisms for biodiversity conservation	4
Figure 12: Potential positive and negative effects of assisted gene flow in corals on the Great Barrier Reef	6
Figure 13: RNA-guided genome editing uses clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR), guide RNA and Cas9 (CRISPR-associated 9) nuclease to cut and edit DNA containing the guide RNA sequence	s J 8
Figure 14: The bipartite lifecycle of corals includes a sessile (immobile) phase (from spat to reproductively mature adult) and a dispersive planktonic phase, which begins when gametes are spawned into the water column and continues through larval development, until larvae attach to the reef and metamorphose into spat in a process called settlement	2
Figure 15: Example of artificial substrates and rubble stabilisation techniques from largest to smallest in scale	5

# **List of Tables**

Table 1: Examples of proposed probiotics (or BMC:	)
---	---

# 1. **PREAMBLE**

### The Great Barrier Reef

Visible from outer space, the Great Barrier Reef is the world's largest living structure and one of the seven natural wonders of the world, with more than 600 coral species and 1600 types of fish. The Reef is of deep cultural value and an important part of Australia's national identity. It underpins industries such as tourism and fishing, contributing more than \$6B a year to the economy and supporting an estimated 64,000 jobs.

### Why does the Reef need help?

Despite being one of the best-managed coral reef ecosystems in the world, there is broad scientific consensus that the long-term survival of the Great Barrier Reef is under threat from climate change. This includes increasing sea temperatures leading to coral bleaching, ocean acidification and increasingly frequent and severe weather events. In addition to strong global action to reduce carbon emissions and continued management of local pressures, bold action is needed. Important decisions need to be made about priorities and acceptable risk. Resulting actions must be understood and co-designed by Traditional Owners, Reef stakeholders and the broader community.

### What is the Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program?

The Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program (RRAP) is a collaboration of Australia's leading experts aiming to create a suite of innovative and targeted measures to help preserve and restore the Great Barrier Reef. These interventions must have strong potential for positive impact, be socially and culturally acceptable, ecologically sound, ethical and financially responsible. They would be implemented if, when and where it is decided action is needed and only after rigorous assessment and testing.

RRAP is the largest, most comprehensive program of its type in the world; a collaboration of leading experts in reef ecology, water and land management, engineering, innovation and social sciences, drawing on the full breadth of Australian expertise and that from around the world. It aims to strike a balance between minimising risk and maximising opportunity to save Reef species and values.

RRAP is working with Traditional Owners and groups with a stake in the Reef as well as the general public to discuss why these actions are needed and to better understand how these groups see the risks and benefits of proposed interventions. This will help inform planning and prioritisation to ensure the proposed actions meet community expectations.

Coral bleaching is a global issue. The resulting reef restoration technology could be shared for use in other coral reefs worldwide, helping to build Australia's international reputation for innovation.

The \$6M RRAP Concept Feasibility Study identified and prioritised research and development to begin from 2019. The Australian Government allocated a further \$100M for reef restoration and adaptation science as part of the \$443.3M Reef Trust Partnership, through the Great Barrier Reef Foundation, announced in the 2018 Budget. This funding, over five years, will build on the work of the concept feasibility study. RRAP is being progressed by a partnership that includes the Australian Institute of Marine Science, CSIRO, the Great Barrier Reef Foundation, James Cook University, The University of Queensland, Queensland University of Technology, the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority as well as researchers and experts from other organisations.

# 2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

At the core of the Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program (RRAP) are the potential actions that can be taken on the Reef – the interventions to facilitate the repair of coral reefs, to protect reefs from further damage from the effects of climate change and to promote adaptation to changing environmental conditions. These interventions have three components: the functional objective, the delivery method and the scale at which they can be applied. Functional objective types share intended benefits and have similar social and regulatory considerations. In most cases, the functional objective types contain multiple delivery methods. The first phase of the RRAP program examined the feasibility and benefits of a series of these, which are systematically described at the level of the delivery method in this report. The existing scientific evidence for the interventions and their potential benefits and risks were documented, and knowledge gaps highlighted.

The interventions evaluated can be broadly divided into two groups:

- Prevention: Interventions that focus on preventing stress from occurring.
- Treatment: Interventions that focus on repairing reefs to facilitate recovery.

To date, almost all existing interventions on coral reefs have been treatment focused, however approaches are emerging that focus on preventing or limiting stress on the Reef.

Two main categories of interventions aim to limit or prevent the amount of stress experienced by the coral holobiont during (mainly) heat waves:

- 1. Environmental adjustments (i.e. shading and cooling)
- 2. Enhanced corals using genetic tools (i.e. through breeding with naturally tolerant corals, manipulation of the symbionts or microbes, and through genetic engineering/synthetic biology).

The knowledge around many of the delivery methods for these interventions is limited and often restricted to small scale, controlled laboratory conditions. In many instances the development of methodologies is at a very early stage and will require considerable research and development prior to potential deployment on the Reef. For this reason, most prevention-focused approaches fall under "intermediate" or "high-risk" classifications in the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority's permitting guidelines. Significant effort will be needed to overcome social licence issues with some of the novel and emerging technologies submitted for consideration by RRAP.

Interventions that aim to repair damage caused by disturbances on the reef to facilitate recovery fall into two main categories:

- 1. Active restoration (e.g. transplantation/fragmentation-type methods and enhanced larval supply through sexual reproduction).
- 2. Biological support to accelerate natural recovery (e.g. substrate structure and stabilisation, coral health improvement through field trials, and biocontrols).

An advantage of repair-focused intervention types (and the delivery methods they contain) is that most are already well developed and tested (albeit not necessarily on the Great Barrier Reef),

and generally rely on relatively simple technologies. However, many also have limited potential to be scaled-up beyond an individual reef and thus, a key knowledge gap is how to achieve results at larger spatial scales. Based on decades of prior research and development of repair interventions and the generally small spational scales at which they have been applied, most of these interventions fall under "low" or "intermediate" risk under the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority's permitting guidelines.

This report summarises the scientific knowledge of the main interventions considered during the RRAP Concept Feasibility Study and highlights current knowledge gaps in both potential efficacy and risks. This document will serve as the basis for further research and development, the modelling of potential and risks, and for prioritising interventions for the Reef going forward.

# 3. INTRODUCTION, BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVES

# 3.1 **Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program and objectives**

The Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program (RRAP) aims to identify and develop a set of tools and technologies that can be used to intervene at scale on the Great Barrier Reef, and other Australian reefs, to help them recover from, and adapt to, the effects of climate change. The first phase of the program examined the benefits and risks of novel active management actions across social, economic and ecological dimensions by integrating several biophysical and ecological models and a cost/benefit and decision analysis. At the heart of these analyses were a set of interventions - actions that could be taken on the Great Barrier Reef (hereafter "The Reef") to achieve the stated benefit. The interventions group into functional objective types that share intended benefits and have similar social and regulatory considerations. Many interventions can be delivered in a number of ways - here termed 'delivery methods'. The intervention types and delivery methods identified will require significant research and development both in terms of the product/process to be used, and the production and delivery method to apply them to the Reef. These processes, production and delivery methods identified during the concept feasibility study are described in this report (please see RRAP Report R2-Intervention Summary for terminology). The existing scientific literature was evaluated with respect to potential benefits and risks, noting that many of the suggested interventions are novel and poorly described in existing literature, if at all. We highlight the knowledge gaps that need to be addressed for each intervention before an informed decision can be made on its suitability for implementation on the Reef.

The objectives of this report are:

- To outline a spectrum of potential interventions which have been identified, and could, potentially, provide a benefit to the Reef under climate change.
- To outline current gaps in our understanding of the benefits, risks and feasibility of each intervention and delivery method.

Climate change has resulted in unprecedented declines in coral cover in recent decades (De'ath *et al.*, 2012; Hughes *et al.*, 2018), and is expected to continue causing significant disturbance and mortality events into the future. Among the most severe effects of climate change on corals reef are warming and acidification of the oceans, an increase in the frequency and intensity of tropical storms, and rapidly rising sea levels. Recent coral bleaching from ocean warming (<u>Box 1</u>) has led

to wide-spread mortality around the global oceans (Hughes *et al.*, 2018). Prior to these bleaching events, tropical cyclones and crown-of-thrones starfish were arguably conidered the greatest threats to reef health (De'ath *et al.*, 2012). However, in only two years of back-to-back thermal stress (2016-2017), the Reef lost ~30 percent of its coral cover in severe bleaching events (Hughes *et al.*, 2018). The scale of devastation due to bleaching is unprecedented; therefore, ocean warming is now considered to be the most significant threat currently facing the Reef and has been re-prioritised as the focus of the interventions and delivery methods presented here. Existing technologies being trialled or implemented in other parts of the world for reef restoration are reviewed in the companion report, <u>T4—Current Practices</u>. Here we concentrate on interventions and delivery methods with the potential to make a significant impact on the Reef considering the unique challenges and opportunities of this task.

# Box 1: What is coral bleaching?

Bleaching is the breakdown of the relationship between the coral host and its endosymbiotic microalgae of the family Symbiodiniaceae (Yonge and Nicholls, 1931; Coles and Brown, 2003). Coral bleaching is the primary stress response of the coral animal host to a variety of stressors including heat and occurs as a result of protein damage and oxidative stress (Davy et al. 2012). The photosynthetic pigments and/or algal cells are lost and the white skeleton becomes visible

through the host tissue and corals appear bleached (Weis, 2008). High light intensity, combined with calm doldrum summer conditions, exacerbate the effect of heat stress and can increase the severity of coral bleaching (Hoegh-Guldberg, 1999). While a bleached coral can recover from an acute event through re-growth of remnant symbiont cells or the uptake of new symbionts (although limited), prolonged and/or severe heat events often lead to coral mortality (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999, Hughes et al. 2018a). In order to reduce the impacts of bleaching and mortality of corals in a warming ocean, the reduction of the effects of sea surface temperatures and/or high light is necessary. The interaction of these two physical factors may be significantly more detrimental compared with each alone.



# 3.2 Intervention objectives and delivery methods

RRAP aims to identify a core set of interventions analogous to 'prevention' and 'treatment' concepts in medicine and conservation. Ideally, modern medicine addresses public health problems using a combination of prevention and treatment. For example, health professionals focus on treatment of the effects of heart disease (e.g. by administering drugs and performing surgical procedures), combined with initiatives focused on prevention (i.e. improving diet and increasing exercise to prevent heart disease). Terrestrial conservation tends to take a similar approach with prevention activities (e.g. controlled burns) and treatment (e.g. re-vegetation of degraded sites). Similarly, interventions on coral reefs can focus on preventing stresses from occurring or facilitate recovery of damaged reefs. To date, the vast majority of existing interventions are emerging that focus on limiting stressors on reefs to prevent damage. Ultimately the aim is to provide coral reef managers with tools comparable to those available in terrestrial ecosystems, including a mix of intervention types for prevention and treatment.

The key criteria used by RRAP to evaluate potential interventions were:

- 1. Protect and restore key ecological functions, economic and social values of the Reef.
- 2. Logistically feasible to deploy at a meaningful scale.
- 3. Economically feasible/affordable to deploy across entire reefscapes.

It is unlikely that a single delivery method or intervention type will emerge as the 'silver bullet' of reef interventions and it is clear that strong action on climate change is a fundamental prerequisite for the success of most if not all interventions. Rather, it is likely that multiple interventions will be deployed in conjunction, and as they become available. It is anticipated that a collection of effective, safe, and affordable interventions can form a holistic toolkit of measures to increase the resilience and recovery of coral on the Great Barrier Reef (Figure 1, – see also RRAP Reports <u>R2—Intervention Summary</u>, <u>T6—Modelling Methods and Findings</u>). This report summarises all of the delivery methods examined by RRAP for potential for use on the Reef.



Figure 1: Conceptual diagram of the layered implementation of multiple intervention types, projected as outcomes of the RRAP. Note that this is a visual representation only, and timeframes and intervention types do not necessarily reflect actual interventions.

To achieve outcomes at the scale of the Great Barrier Reef, a combination of both prevention and repair interventions, as well as both regional and reef-scale deployment strategies offer the greatest chance of success. For example, out-planting 100 million warm-adapted corals per year on the most well-connected reefs on the Great Barrier Reef may be insufficient to meet the criteria of success unless combined with regional-scale shading or cooling strategies or effective control of crown-of-thorns starfish (T6—Modelling Methods and Findings). Importantly, in combination, these interventions are predicted to produce a synergistic effect with greater positive impact than the sum of the individual interventions. The challenge for RRAP is to identify how the positive impact of new interventions can be maximised: when and where, and at minimum risk and cost.

## 3.2.1 Prevention

Intervention types and delivery methods that fall under the <u>prevention</u> category include technologies and processes to reduce exposure to and impacts of climate change on coral reefs. For the purposes of RRAP, prevention interventions focus on ocean warming. The interventions considered here are broadly divided into two categories:

- Regional to Reef-scale environmental adjustments to reduce the exposure of coral
  reefs to events that cause acute thermal-stress, such as high temperature and ultra-violet
  light events. Changes to the local or regional environment may include the application of
  engineering processes and other technologies to cool water or shade corals at a variety of
  spatial scales. Examples include water column destratification, changing ocean currents,
  pumping cooler deep water up onto shallow reefs, reflecting heat and light from the ocean
  surface/water column, or reflecting heat and light through the modification of low-lying
  marine clouds, or atmospheric albedo.
- Enhanced performance of corals to increase the resistance of corals to conditions that induce bleaching through an enhancement of key fitness-related traits in the coral host, or those of their <u>microbiome</u>. As there are hundreds of species of coral on the Great Barrier Reef, these interventions will likely focus on a subset of species. A key area of study will be to examine if natural processes of adaptation of the coral and/or the algal and microbial symbionts can be promoted (also known as assisted evolution). This may involve the translocation of existing corals along the temperature gradient of the Reef, or the selective breeding of resilient or surviving corals from harsher environments, or disturbance event (e.g. mass bleaching). Other methods in this category use genetic engineering and synthetic biology approaches to engineer corals with enhanced performance.

Interventions that seed either local or enhanced corals onto the reef will require parallel research and development in the areas of production and delivery, ranging from the capture and transport of natural slicks to coral aquaculture and nursery know-how, to genomic and cryopreservation tools. Environmental adjustment-type approaches will require engineering innovations, especially around logistics, technology, and infrastructure, improved modelling of ocean-atmospheric processes, and improved understanding of follow-on effects. All interventions will require a full and comprehensive investigation, assessment, and mitigation of potential unintended impacts. Interventions considered in RRAP will need to be tested for social, regulatory, ethical, and Traditional Owner acceptance and approval.

## 3.2.2 Repair

Intervention types and delivery methods which fall under the <u>repair</u> category include those that aim to enhance recovery after disturbances. These interventions can be broadly divided into two groups:

- Active restoration: Cost-effective propagation and production and deployment of <u>larvae</u>, <u>juvenile</u> or <u>adult</u> stock of key species that, if restored, will provide an acceptable level of ecological function, even though biodiversity may be lower than pre-impact. Larvae, juvenile and adult corals can be produced and deployed via many delivery methods including enhanced larval supply and recruitment by deployment of laboratory-reared or wild-caught larvae or juveniles. These intervention types would typically not attempt to enhance the performance of corals but could be combined with these other approaches through a deliberate selection of donor stock.
- **Biological support to accelerate natural recovery:** Creating artificial reef structures, or modifying reef substrate, to enhance natural coral recruitment. This involves the stabilisation of rubble and/or the deployment of optimised, artificial structures and surfaces to enhance coral recruitment, growth and survival of juveniles derived from natural, field or laboratory conditions. Other approaches focus on facilitating rapid recovery of bleached corals. This could occur through direct treatment of disease, nutrient supplementation through probiotics, feeding or other methods.

## 3.2.3 Species diversity and ecological interactions

A fundamental goal of ecological restoration is to restore ecosystem functioning, which requires a complete suite of species assemblages, preferably indistinguishable from pristine, predisturbance communities (Society for Ecological Restoration International Science & Policy Working Group 2004). Indeed, the health of an ecosystem can generally be estimated from the diversity of species within the system. However, it is often not feasible to focus interventions on every single species in an ecosystem and instead, many intervention methods are forced to focus on a subset of ecologically significant target species, such as foundational or keystone species, or structural ecosystem builders. Further, interventions may have unintended effects when implemented, which could transform reefs into novel ecosystems. This forces difficult trade-offs that require weighing ecosystem function against historical ecosystem composition (Anthony *et al.,* 2017). However, the risk of creating an ecosystem with lower diversity than pre-impact needs to be viewed in the context of potentially losing the system in its entirety, if no interventions are implemented.

The Great Barrier Reef hosts a diverse range of coral species (more than 600), however more than 75 percent of the overall coral cover is provided by species from nine genera (*Acropora*, *Pocillopora*, *Porites*, *Montipora*, *Diploastrea*, *Stylophora*, *Goniastrea*, *Echinopora* and *Favia*; Figure 2). While the whole suite of corals species present on the Great Barrier Reef contributes to the functioning of the ecosystem, restoration projects might most effectively support the resilience of the Reef by focusing on species from these nine dominant genera. Further, while a diversity of species is important to ecosystem function, diversity of growth morphologies is also critical to maximise the variety of habitats for other non-coral Reef biota. In RRAP, it is envisaged species selection will be guided by our knowledge of the system (i.e. with data from the Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS) Long-Term Monitoring Program) to recover the function of an ecosystem that is largely built by nine genera.



Figure 2: Average coral cover across mid-shelf and offshore reefs of the central Great Barrier Reef from the Cairns and Townsville sectors from 2017-2018 by coral genus (source: AIMS Long-Term Monitoring Program). All genera that contribute more than 0.5 percent coral cover are included. Shaded area represents those genera that contribute > 75 percent coral cover combined.

# 4. TYPES OF 'PREVENTION' INTERVENTIONS

# 4.1 Environmental adjustments that cool or shade reef waters

## 4.1.1 Shading

Mass coral bleaching is caused by warmer than normal water temperatures. Although it can be induced in the dark (Tolleter et al., 2013; Bessell-Browne et al., 2017), it is generally exacerbated by light (Coles and Jokiel, 1978; Gleason and Wellington, 1993; Lesser and Farrell, 2004). Any natural or human-enhanced conditions that decrease solar irradiance, such as cloud cover, natural shade or high turbidity, can offer protection to corals under thermal stress (Hoegh-Guldberg, 1999; Goreau et al., 2000; Mumby et al., 2001; West and Salm, 2003; Wagner et al., 2008; Golbuu et al., 2011). It is therefore feasible to reduce or avoid bleaching during marine heatwaves if light levels could be attenuated through <u>shading</u>. Direct evidence for this hypothesis mostly comes from aquarium conditions (Lesser and Farrell 2004; Smith and Birkeland 2007; Coelho et al., 2017) but is also evident from observations of mass bleaching in the field (Leahy et al., 2013; Hoogenboom et al., 2017; Hughes et al., 2017). Therefore, shading poses a direct adjustment of the environment that could be strategically deployed in summer months, or in response to bleaching forecasts (Coelho et al., 2017). While all shading interventions considered by RRAP are aimed at blocking incoming light, some are likely to be limited to individual reefscale deployment due to logistical constraints. Others could be scaled-up to larger regional application, targeting both a reduction in light and cooling of ocean surface waters.

While shading and cooling may reduce the stress experienced by corals during a heat event, there is a possibility of diminishing corals' adaptation and/or acclimatisation to extreme conditions. A potential risk with shading is therefore to inadvertently slow <u>'hard' natural</u> <u>selection</u> through mortality events for more tolerant coral species or symbionts (Donner *et al.,* 2005, Hughes *et al.,* 2018a), potentially forcing shading to become a permanent requirement on reefs under future-predicted climate scenarios where emissions are not reduced quickly enough

to stabilise temperatures. However, there is growing evidence that corals are capable of adapting to increasing temperatures through <u>'soft' natural selection</u> (Matz *et al.*, 2018), which would occur outside times where intermittent shading would be applied. The same consideration applies to environmental adjustments which cool water temperatures. Environmental adjustment interventions such as shading appear to have a reasonable level of control in terms of how much is applied. Understanding then, the interplay between environmental stress, its manipulation, and rates of adaptation will be critical to managing any environmental adjustment-type interventions for long-term benefit.

Other potential undesirable impacts common to all shading techniques include over-shading of light-limited corals or other autotrophic biota such as seagrass, as well as reduced coral growth rates and reduced rate of translocation of photosynthates from symbionts to corals. Further, risks associated with the required infrastructure, such as contamination to the marine environment or the creation of habitat and stepping-stones for invasive species and pests should be considered. Some undesirable consequences, particularly those related to over-shading of light-limited organisms are less of a concern for individual reef-scale intervention, as they can be mitigated by prudent site selection and limited shading duration. On the other hand, regional scale shading options achieve the outcome by much less shading intensity over a much larger area, the total amount of shading for inteventions at this scale may not differ markedly from natural variability due to atmospheric conditions.

However regional-scale deployment carries further risks, as successful cooling of ocean waters may alter local climate and increase the capacity of the ocean to absorb  $CO_2$ , leading to higher acidity (Robock, 2011). It can also be argued that these impacts should be evaluated against the pre-industrial case rather than that of the current anthropogenically-altered climate. Critically, all forms of intervention will carry multiple types of risk and potential benefits which will need to be evaluated and weighed against the risks and potential benefits of not intervening.

### Surface films

The deployment of ultra-thin surface films aims to reduce solar radiation reaching corals (ultraviolet [UV] stress on corals and photosynthetically active radiation [PAR] stress on symbiont photosystems). Under certain conditions (e.g. in very shallow water) it may also affect local water temperature (visible light and infrared radiation heating up the water), although this requires further testing to determine at what scales it could make a meaningful difference to heat-stressed corals. This potential intervention proposes to reduce stress on corals and other photosynthesising organisms during heat wave conditions (**Figure 3**). Its basis stems from efforts to reduce evaporation in open water storage units, such as reservoirs and dams, using ultra-thin surface films (Barnes, 2008). The technology is currently being researched and developed to aid in the protection of the Great Barrier Reef. Early laboratory trial findings suggest surface films can be stable, attenuate light by approximately 20 percent across the spectrum (including UV), are non-toxic to corals (made from calcium carbonate and biodegradable) and protect some coral species from bleaching (Qiao et al 2017). The application of ultra-thin films could be implemented without permanent infrastructure and would only need to be applied when bleaching conditions are predicted.



Figure 3: Surface films aims to reduce the stress corals and other photosynthesising organisms experience during heatwave conditions, by scattering and reflecting incoming sunlight. Reproduced with permission by the lead author and Great Barrier Reef Foundation.

While early phase trials are still underway, technical aspects of deployment are being considered. Potential deployment methods of surface films include air (drone or plane), vessel, or automated buoy. Deployment would be reef-specific, following bleaching forecasts and predictive oceanographic modelling. It would likely target high-value reefs with long water retention times. Mechanisms for automated deployment and regeneration of surface films during a bleaching event are being considered. This intervention should be focused on ecologically important seed reefs to improve recovery of nearby reefs. Further, surface films could be combined with coral seeding, crown-of-thorns starfish and *Drupella* management measures at high-value reefs, to benefit tourism and industry.

The maximum stability of the film in large tank studies is less than 48 hours. Realistic targets for reduction in light levels are around 20 percent in the field, mitigating the risks associated with over-shading. Further testing and development is required to improve attenuation and behaviour of surface films, test efficacy, longevity (including stability and strength) and environmental safety (and post-breakdown effects), and to model both direct irradiance and heat load benefits.

### Shade cloth deployments

The primary goal of providing shade (with cloth or organic material including algae) is to reduce the levels of UV light and PAR on the coral holobiont, thereby reducing levels of bleaching and mortality in targeted corals on reefs. The suggestion that shade cloth might be used to prevent corals from bleaching has been around since at least 2006 (AAP 2006, Rau *et al.*, 2012). The shading approach has been demonstrated in aquaria (Lesser and Farrell, 2004; Smith and Birkeland, 2007) and can reduce levels of bleaching (Coelho *et al.*, 2017). In the field, subsurface shading has been shown to reduce the bleaching colour score in a reef pool (Coelho *et al.*, 2017), but the experiment did not extend to the point of inducing mortality so it is not clear how effective it might be under more severe conditions. Shade cloth deployments have been trialed at small

scales on Agincourt Reef by an ecotourism group (QuickSilver's Reef Biosearch; AAP, 2006) but the results are not presently available.

Deployment of shade cloth would most likely involve suspension of shades at or near the surface by a system of floats and anchors, and, as such, create a site-specific deployment unit on the spatial scale of 100m<sup>2</sup>. In order to scale-up this intervention, multiple shades would need to be engineered to allow low-cost and rapid deployment and retrieval without causing damage to the reef. Full retrieval is likely necessary for cleaning of fouling organisms and maintenance, as well as to avoid damage and deterioration by cyclones and storms.

This intervention would be immediately available in terms of its technical aspects. However, such applications carry risk of unintended physical damage to reef corals and structure from anchors or breakage of the shade cloth suspension system and would require appropriate high-risk permits. As with any artificial structures added to the reef, these surfaces will become substrate for microbes and other organisms. Non – natural substrates tend to have increased likelihood of supporting invasive species (Glasby *et al.*, 2007, Tyrell and Byers 2007, Ruiz *et al.*, 2009). If the shade cloths themselves are in the water, then the surface area will be very large potentially increasing this risk. The risk is offset however if shade cloths are deployed for short periods of weeks to months during thermally stressful periods and then recovered and stored until next needed. Although this intervention is short-term, knowledge gaps exist regarding indirect effects such as changes to water temperature, photosynthesis, and primary production (i.e. changes to algal assemblages). These risks would increase if the application was to be scaled up.

## Ocean microbubbles

Microbubbles of air suspended in the surface ocean reflect incoming sunlight in a very similar way to droplets of water suspended in air (i.e. clouds or fog), albeit with less efficiency, due to the absorption of backscattered light in ocean waters (Seitz 2011). Generation of large quantities of microbubbles in the surface ocean has been suggested for use in global-scale geoengineering (Forster et al. 2014; Seitz 2011), but could also be applied at a local or regional scale (Seitz 2011). Microbubbles can be generated in the upper few metres of the ocean and are expected to persist from hours to days. Both the lifetime and reflectance of the microbubbles coated with organic film increase the reflectance as much as 400 percent based on modelling and observations of natural microbubbles (Zhang et al. 1998). This may occur naturally in the Great Barrier Reef due to coral-secreted surface-active compounds (Deacon 1979), or potentially through the co-application of biologically-benign organic surfactants with the generation of microbubbles (Seitz 2011).

Microbubbles can be generated through several means, such as by methods involving expansion of air-saturated water through vortex nozzles, ultrasonic excitation, and fluidic oscillation—the last of which may be the most energy efficient (William *et al.* 2008). Crook et al (2016) suggests adding surfactants to the wake of ships could prolong the lifetime of microbubbles in the ships' wake (Figure 4), a technique which could be employed on the Reef as part of a regional solar radiation management strategy.



Figure 4: The albedo effect of bubbles in the surface ocean is visually apparent from ship wake. Microbubbles would persist for days in comparison to the much larger ship wake bubbles which only persist for minutes to hours. Image credit: <u>Chris Cardinal</u>.

It is conceivable microbubbles could be applied at either an individual reef scale, for shading, or operated more continuously at a regional scale for both shading and cooling, as an alternative or supplement to atmospheric interventions described below.

Given microbubbles are dispersed by ocean currents rather than winds, they are expected to spread more slowly than interventions released into the air. Therefore, if regional cooling is targeted using microbubbles, it would require comparatively more 'stations' than would be required with atmospheric shading interventions. However, if microbubbles were found to be safe for shallow coral reef habitats, their slower dispersion may prove an advantage for targeting shading to an individual reef, leading to longer residence times and increased efficacy.

Risks specific to the microbubble approach for global-scale geoengineering have been pointed out by Robock (2011) but remain as yet undocumented. Of these, most relevant to local-scale application are the potential for adverse impacts if surfactants are added to promote bubble lifetime, the unknown impact of the bubbles themselves on marine biota, including corals, and regional climate impacts from the cooling of surface waters. The production of microbubbles would require surface-based infrastructure, either stationary or vessel-based, leading to associated risks of equipment malfunction or destruction, creating marine debris.

### Marine cloud brightening

<u>Marine cloud brightening</u> (Figure 5) has been suggested as a method of mitigating bleaching on the Reef by increasing the reflectivity (known as albedo) of low-altitude marine clouds over the Reef, to reflect the sun's incoming solar radiation back into space (Harrison, 2018). This intervention would both cool and shade surface waters over regional-scale areas. The combined effects of decreased sea surface temperatures and lower light levels are expected to reduce coral bleaching. Local cloud brightening from cargo-ship exhausts has long been identified in satellite imagery in regions of the world where large, persistent decks of marine stratocumulus coulds commonly occur, providing in some cases an unambiguous, visually-detectable example of albedo increase (e.g. Figure 5).

Regional cloud modification (for the purpose of enhancing rain or snowfall) is extensively and regularly practiced around the globe. In Australia, both Snowy Mountains Hydro and Tasmania Hydro use the technique to produce hydroelectricity. Legislation in Australia specifically permits cloud seeding activities in the Snowy Mountains alpine national park (Snowy Mountains Cloud Seeding Act 2014) which may provide a basis for legislation regulating marine cloud brightening for coral bleaching mitigation in the future.

Cloud brightening would provide shading and cooling through two mechanisms:

- 1. A direct effect from sprayed seawater droplets (which does not require clouds to be present)
- 2. Through indirect effects of the sea salt particles brightening low lying clouds, from which the technology derives its name.



Figure 5: Cloud brightening due to marine ship exhaust is a visually detectable occurrence due to the high albedo change which occurs under certain atmospheric conditions. These conditions are not often present on the Reef, but modelling (see Report T14- Environmental Modelling of Solar Radiation Management) has indicated that low-level clouds on the Reef are amenable to a lower intensity of brightening. Image credit: <u>NASA</u>.

The technology is sometimes referred to as marine sky brightening (e.g. Stjern *et al.*, 2018), particularly when targeted at regions or periods without suitable cloud formations. While the atmosphere of the Great Barrier Reef is not characterised by the persistent decks of marine stratocumulus cloud considered ideal for cloud brightening, there is a reasonable fraction of low cloud during summer bleaching conditions, which preliminary atmospheric modelling has indicated to be susceptible to cloud brightening (see <u>T14—Environmental Modelling of Large</u> <u>Scale Solar Radiation Management</u>).Studies examining the global sensitivity to marine cloud brightening have also shown the Reef region to be suitable and amongst the most responsive (Alterskjær *et al.*, 2012).

The process works by supplying additional sea salt aerosols to regions where droplet density is limited within low-lying marine stratocumulus clouds (Latham, 1990). Aerosols can be provided in the form of nano-sized salt crystals produced by spraying sub-micron-sized seawater droplets into the atmospheric boundary layer and allowing them to evaporate (Latham et al., 2012a). Alternatively, vaporised oil through deliberate heating of oil, or through the combustion of crude oil in cargo ships, has long been known to increase the albedo of clouds (Russell et al 2013). The portion of nano-sized aerosols that reach the cloud condensation level act as additional cloud condensation nuclei. Additional cloud condensation nuclei affect the droplet size distribution within clouds by increasing the number of droplets while decreasing the mean droplet size. This results in a cloud with higher albedo, that reflects a greater portion of incoming solar radiation back into space (Twomey, 1991). When salt is used, this cloud albedo effect is enhanced by the albedo of salt crystals themselves, regardless of whether cloud is present or not (Ahlm et al., 2017), and also because 'brightened' cloud is less likely to precipitate and thus may remain in state longer (Albrecht, 1989). Marine cloud brightening aims to replicate natural processes of sea salt aerosol generation by the ocean, and also mimic, less exactly, the generation of sulfur-based aerosols by corals and algae (through the production of dimethyl sulfide; DMS), which is also hypothesised to be linked to low-level cloud albedo on the Reef (Jones et al., 2017).



Figure 6: Marine cloud brightening aims to increase the portion of incoming solar radiation reflected back into space (i.e. albedo). Figure used with permission from Harrison (2018).

The benefits of cloud brightening are cumulative over time. eReefs hydrodynamic modelling shows that approximately two weeks of operation is required to reach full cooling effect, although this is expected to depend on the size of the region over which marine cloud brightening is operated (Harrison, 2018). Marine cloud brightening technology has the potential to significantly relieve bleaching stress over large portions of the Reef (i.e. regional spatial scale), simultaneously reduce mixed-layer temperatures, and provide shade over these areas. To be

effective on the Great Barrier Reef, marine cloud brightening would need to operate continuously over weeks to months, when satellite-based warning systems indicate the risk of bleaching to be high. The input materials are seawater and energy. The energy could potentially be supplied by renewable sources (e.g. solar, wave, current, or wind). Cloud brightening stations would be analogous to snow-making cannons, including a fan, for initial dispersion of the droplets and around 400 atomising nozzles to produce ~1.2 quadrillion (10<sup>15</sup>) nano-sized aerosols per secondfrom 1.6 L/s of seawater (Figure 6) (Cooper *et al.*, 2014).

Potential undesired impacts include the possibility of changing local weather and rainfall patterns, an issue comparable to that of cloud seeding. Recent studies hypothesise a link between rainfall in north-east Queensland on aerosols currently produced by Reef corals (Jones & Ristovski, 2010). At this time, it is unclear whether cloud brightening over the Reef would increase, decrease, or have negligible impact on rainfall over the impacted regions. Cooling of sea surface temperatures may well have a larger impact on weather patterns than the aerosol interactions with cloud. Similar risks to other shading techniques must also be considered (such as reduced productivity), however these may be of lower impact as the marine cloud brightening principle works though a lower reduction in shortwave solar radiation, spread over a longer period (weeks to months).

Nearly 30 years' of research into application of marine cloud brightening on a global basis to cool the planet and offset anthropogenic warming have refined the theory (Latham *et al.*, 2012b), but progression to field experiments and trials has been slowed by controversy surrounding proposals to deliberately alter the global climate, so called 'geoengineering' (Wood and Ackerman, 2013). Geoengineering acts on a global scale, by attempting to alter climate mainly through greenhouse gas removal, or global-scale solar radiation management. In contrast, marine cloud brightening, applied either regionally or over the entire Great Barrier Reef during marine heatwaves, presents a significantly different risk profile, which is yet to be comprehensively evaluated. In addition to social, ethical, and environmental considerations, there remains considerable feasibility, engineering, and experimental work to develop marine cloud brightening to readiness for trials.

# Misting

Misting refers to an intervention where particles are distributed into the atmosphere over the Reef by vaporising a biogenic oil to form a mist of reflective smoke particles, to reduce incoming solar radiation. This is the same technology used in 'smoke' machines for recreational activities such as concerts, the sport of paintball, and in the special effects industry. The solar forcing is analogous to the cloud brightening direct effect (i.e. reflection due to the seawater droplets themselves in the absence of cloud) and can be considered an alternative method of marine sky brightening. The primary differences are that seawater is not used to produce the atmospheric particles, and that the aerosol direct effect since effects on cloud formation and microphysics will still inadvertently occur, such that at large enough scales, the impacts of misting on clouds may be very similar to that of cloud brightening. For example, misting generators have been used previously in field experiments to examine the cloud microphysical and albedo impacts of additional aerosols (e.g. Russell *et al.*, 2013).

Generators to produce white smoke from vaporising oil are available for a variety of applications, from the movie special effects industry to military applications where they are operated by defence forces around the world to obscure the field of battle. A commonly employed method is

to use the hot exhaust gases of a pulsejet turbine engine to vaporise oil. The military grade of technology is the most suitable for producing large quantities of solar obscurant.

Misting could conceivably be operated on a local scale, such as that of an individual reef or collection of reefs. Operated in this manner, the primary effect would be shading to reduce the light component of stress on corals. There may also be some transient localised cooling of shallow waters within individual reef lagoons due to the shading — as with surface films. Alternatively, it may be possible to operate misting on a regional scale, similar to cloud brightening, by employing a large number of generators distributed throughout the region and relying on atmospheric mixing and advection to distribute the generated particles. In this scenario, the radiative forcing effect would be similar to that of cloud brightening, acting to both lower sea surface temperatures and reduce light stress on corals.

The risks of misting on a regional scale are comparable to those of cloud brightening. At an individual reef scale, the risk of over-shading is potentially high, as the shading will be more intense in regions immediately around the generator. This impact could be reduced if the generator was mounted on a moving vessel. Misting carries some additional undesirable impacts such as decreased visual amenity and potential safety considerations to vehicles (aircraft/ships) and human health in the immediate vicinity of the generators. It is likely that some area of exclusion to other marine park users would be required in the vicinity of operating generators. Development of this technique is dependent upon selecting a suitable biogenic oil, perhaps derived from phytoplankton, which would not pose an unacceptable risk to the Reef marine environment. Commonly used military fog oil, a severely refined white mineral oil (NAS 1997), is not anticipated to be suitable for use on the Great Barrier Reef.



Figure 7: Mist over the ocean.

# Fogging

Producing a low hanging 'sea fog' of seawater droplets is a potential solar radiation management technique. Producing sea water droplets an order of magnitude (or so) larger than for marine cloud brightening would be roughly equivalent to the properties of a heavy sea fog (Figure 8). Although the process of pumping seawater and spraying it into the marine boundary layer is

almost identical to that of marine cloud brightening, the target effects, lifecycle of the produced droplets, and probable scale are quite different.

Droplets of order 10µm would tend to hang low in the marine boundary layer, unlike nano-sized droplets produced for cloud brightening. They would experience a much shorter lifetime before predominately falling back into the ocean. Equivalent to the direct effect of marine cloud brightening and misting, the droplets produced by fogging would reduce the incoming shortwave solar radiation, providing shading. Their evaporation near the sea surface would lead to evaporative cooling of the air mass in which they were suspended, potentially providing cooling by both shading and by sensible heat flux into the ocean surface waters. As with misting, fogging could conceivably be applied at the scale of individual reef or collection of reefs. Subject to energy and logistical requirements, it may also be possible to operate fogging over a larger local or regional area. Commercial fogging systems are commonly used in industrial processes to provide either cooling (by evaporation) or dust suppression.

Generating a sea fog formed of seawater particles is expected to be relatively environmentally benign. Risks include those associated with over-shading, suppression of natural adaptation, and infrastructure risks. Modelling has not yet been performed to evaluate the various components of the ocean–atmosphere heat flux. While evaporative cooling of the air above the ocean will tend to cool the ocean by adjusting the sensible heat flux, the increased humidity will tend to suppress evaporative cooling of the ocean surface (latent heat flux). The net heat flux change induced by the evaporative cooling is therefore unquantified. However, the large particle size of sea water droplets in the fog can be expected to create significant shading to the extent that the fog can be maintained over the target region.

# 4.1.2 Vertical mixing

<u>Vertical mixing</u> is an upward or downward movement of water that occurs as a result of temperature gradients in the oceans. It occurs naturally on scales from 10 - 1000km. Mixing of waters on the Great Barrier Reef is partly facilitated by wind, however this process may fail during summer doldrum conditions. If these conditions persist over several days, it may contribute to the severity of coral bleaching events (West and Salm 2003, Bainbridge 2017). The mechanics of this natural phenomenon can be engineered on smaller spatial scales to manipulate water temperatures and circulation patterns; hence, a role for vertical mixing technologies has been proposed to, and/or aid in, reef maintenance and restoration. It has been hypothesised that benefits can be achieved either by creating mixing during summer doldrum conditions, or by pumping cooler waters from depth.

The primary objective of vertical mixing technologies is to reduce temperature in shallow reef environments, thus reducing the thermal exposure of corals (measured in degree heating weeks) and subsequent bleaching and mortality. There is evidence that, in certain locations, natural upwelling of cooler water from below the thermocline can reduce the local occurrence of bleaching (e.g. Eidens *et al.*, 2012).

Currently, there are two main ways to artificially increase vertical mixing in a reef environment: by using slow-moving impellers to 'turn over' shallow water, or by pumping quantities of cool water from depth. Both vertical mixing technologies require substantial infrastructure. Therefore, they carry the risk of equipment failure and potential reef damage during construction or deployment, as well as potential aesthetic and noise considerations, which may affect their social acceptability. Introducing artificial structures into the marine environment also carries a risk of

supporting algae, other microorganism, and invasive species. As discussed above for shade cloths, the risk may be worsened for vertical mixing infrastructure that is required to be permenantly in place. Further, similar to shading technologies, there is a possibility that these techniques may prevent natural acclimatisation to thermal extremes, by preventing natural selection during heat waves.

### Underwater impellers

Vertical mixing of the water column can be achieved through submerged, slow-moving, solarpowered impellers or fans. The primary objective of these systems is to reduce the shallow water temperature stress by mimicking normal mixing processes during summer doldrum conditions, at very small scales (e.g. that of a 'snorkelling footprint' associated with a reef tourism site <u>Figure</u> <u>9</u>). The proposed ecological benefits of underwater impellers include reducing or avoiding heat stress to reef species during heat wave conditions. This intervention is based on approaches to break down stratification in static water bodies such as lakes and dams (Kirke and Gezawy, 1997; Kirke, 2000) where it has been employed for more than 40 years (Kirke, 2000).

A trial research program (*Reef Havens Research Project*) is being implemented at Moore Reef in the Northern Great Barrier Reef. At the site, an in-water monitoring array has been established that allows testing of interventions aiming to mimic normal water column mixing, such as impellers. The deployment and use of impellers will be temporary (as they are only needed during doldrum summer periods), and site-specific, planned to target high-value tourism sites (350-500 m<sup>2</sup>), with low potential to upscale beyond selected reefs. The efficacy of the underwater impeller interventions will depend on natural water circulation at the site, the residence time of water within the reef lagoon (e.g. turbulence, flow) as well as the depth of the thermocline.

Further development and modelling are required to determine the capacity of the impellers to move, mix and maintain water in unconstrained marine environments. The Reef Havens research project assessed the risk of depositing excess nutrients on the reef as low, given the mixing intervention is only aiming to mimic normal water column mixing that has suffered short-term failure due to doldrum conditions. The project will monitor flow, temperature, coral light stress, and the depth of stratification that occurs during doldrum conditions. The Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority classifies this intervention as a high-risk activity since it requires installation of facilities and large infrastructure that will require maintenance and may be sensitive to local weather and storms.



Figure 8 – A schematic of a solar-powered underwater impeller system (image modified with permission, Reef and Rainforest Research Centre).

# Pumping and mixing

Cooling of surface waters can be achieved by mixing warm surface waters with cooler water from below the thermocline. The technique uses pumps to move water from a depth sufficient to achieve a temperature gradient and mix this with warm surface waters during summer doldrum conditions. Successful cooling of waters may prevent bleaching, thus preserving whole reefs, supporting overall reef biodiversity and functionality. The input of nutrient-rich, deep water may boost productivity of reef fisheries, which could provide beneficial nutrient inputs for corals or negatively impact corals through indirect effects. These impacts on corals (both negative and positive) must be effectively understood and managed prior to deployment.

The input of deep-water nutrients is one of the main ecological risks of the pumping and mixing method, especially given that substantial volumes of water would mean nutrient inputs were commensurately large (Rocheleau and Grandelli, 2011; Lapointe, 1997). This could lead to eutrophication of the water column, a destabilisation of internal nutrient dynamics of corals, potentially exacerbating thermal sensitivity (Morris et al 2019) and blooms of benthic algae. Further, nutrient enrichment from deeper waters could lead to phytoplankton blooms, enhanced survival of crown-of-thorns larvae, and changes in overall water chemistry on the reef (e.g. decreased oxygen). In addition, the equipment could contribute to noise and visual pollution.

Further research into the physiological mechanisms underpinning bleaching are required to assess whether a 'safe' balance of temperature reduction and nutrient limitation is possible. Potential effects could also be mitigated by operating the shallow-water cooling scheme intermittently, when required, and releasing deep water back below the thermocline at other times. The technique may be possible to combine with <u>Ocean Thermal Energy Conversion</u> (OTEC, <u>Box 2</u>) plants to generate electricity to power the pumps, although this requires further research.

# Box 2: What is OTEC?

Ocean Thermal Energy Conversion (OTEC) can produce electricity by using the temperature difference between deep, cold ocean water and warm, tropical surface waters. OTEC plants simultaneously pump large quantities of cold seawater from the deep ocean and warm surface seawater through heat exchangers, to run a power cycle and produce electricity. Generally, a temperature differential of at least 20°C is required (<u>https://www.tudelft.nl/ocean-energy/research/thermal-gradient-otec</u>). Once established, such plants would provide the energy required for pumping limiting the amount of external energy which would need to be supplied. Existing plants around the world are mainly used for air conditioning and electricity generation; none are used to manage surface seawater temperature. Therefore, returning subsurface water is recirculated to depths below the thermocline, to prevent any ecological effects on the surface ocean layers.

OTEC uses warm (around 25°C) surface waters to vaporize a working fluid with a lowboiling point (e.g. ammonia). The vapour expands and spins a turbine coupled to a generator to produce electricity. The vapour is then cooled by seawater pumped from cooler depths (5°C) and condenses back into a liquid, ready to be reused in a continuous electricity-generating cycle. OTEC systems require very large volumes of water (over 44,000m<sup>3</sup> per minute for a 100MW generator), which have the potential for cooling substantial areas of reef. However, an extensive diffuser network would be required, along with sophisticated modelling and control systems, in order to create even levels of cooling.

# 4.2 Enhanced performance of corals

# Enhanced stress tolerance (or other desirable trait) of the coral holobiont via accelerated evolution

Corals can be described as <u>holobionts</u>, a collective of the coral animal and communities of eukaryotic and prokaryotic microorganisms (Rohwer *et al.*, 2002; Ainsworth *et al.*, 2010). The health, physiology, and stress tolerance of the coral holobiont is attributed to the symbioses between the coral animal, photosynthetic endosymbionts (many species from the family Symbiodiniaceae), and beneficial bacteria, viruses and fungi. Demographic attributes of coral host populations, such as long generation times (~4 - 40 years: Babcock, 1991; van Oppen *et al.*, 2011b), have formed the basis of arguments that coral host adaptation cannot keep pace with the increasing rates of global warming (Hoegh-Guldberg, 2014). Emerging evidence from genetically diverse populations across multiple invertebrate taxa show that a redistribution of existing genetic variation can support relatively rapid adaptive response (Messer & Petrov, 2013; Whiteley *et al.*, 2015; Torda *et al.*, 2017). Additionally, the coral-associated <u>microbial</u> communities (i.e. Symbiodiniaceae species, bacteria, viruses, fungi) may provide significant contributions to the adaptive potential of the coral holobiont due to their orders of magnitude greater diversity, shorter

generation times (e.g. Wilkerson *et al.*, 1988) and overall high <u>functional diversity</u> (Stat *et al.*, 2008; Torda *et al.*, 2017; van Oppen et al 2015). These mechanisms support the possibility of accelerated adaptation to climate change conditions through <u>assisted evolution</u>.

The functional objective of the following interventions is to increase the resilience of corals by enhancing their stress tolerance to acute and chronic ocean warming (van Oppen *et al.*, 2017). This can target one or more of the holobiont partners (Jones and Monaco, 2009; van Oppen *et al.*, 2015; Figure 10). Specifically, the interventions summarised here may target the host potential for acclimatisation and adaptation (five delivery methods) or alternatively, the potential of the microbial partners (three delivery methods) (Figure 10). These approaches could, in principle, be applied to any trait of importance including tolerance to other stressors (e.g. disease), calcification and growth rates or other important traits for survival. Traits can be correlated, which can increase or decrease rates of adaptive evolution, depending on whether they are negatively or positively associated with each other (Sunday *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, it is critical to adopt a holistic approach in the development and application of corals with enhanced performance, in order to avoid accidental adverse trade offs and the degradation of genetic diversity. The mechanisms by which a focal trait (e.g. thermal stress tolerance) can be enhanced include:

- <u>Physiological acclimatisation</u> where a shift in the organism's phenotype is achieved through physiological adjustments, potentially under heritable or epigenetic control (Coles and Brown 2003; Weis 2010; Brown and Cossins 2011; Sanford and Kelly 2011).
- <u>Genetic adaptation</u> where natural selection causes a shift in the mean phenotype in the population through increases in the frequency of adaptive alleles in response to local environmental conditions (Sanford and Kelley, 2011).

For corals, acclimatisation and adaptation can occur in the coral host or associated microbial partners (**Box 3**), a topic well explored in Torda *et al.*, 2017, van Oppen *et al.*, 2015, and Webster & Reusch, 2017.

The suites of delivery methods presented here are based on the principles of <u>human-assisted</u> <u>evolution</u>. This concept aims to accelerate naturally-occurring evolutionary processes such as acclimatisation or adaptation, to enhance particular traits of interest (Jones and Monaco, 2009; van Oppen *et al.*, 2015; <u>Box 3</u>) and has also been termed <u>facilitated adaptation</u> (Thomas *et al.*, 2013; Johnson *et al.*, 2016). Assisted evolution is based on biological engineering principles (including selective breeding, probiotics and genetic engineering), which are already successfully applied to improve human health and food production (van Oppen *et al.*, 2015) and are only just beginning to be explored in the field of biodiversity conservation (Piaggio *et al.*, 2017).

# Box 3: What is acclimatisation and adaptation?

Acclimatisation involves <u>phenotypically</u> plastic responses in physiology, morphology, or behaviour that can help maintain or increase fitness in a new environment (Sunday et al 2014). Acclimatisation is reversible and does not involve a genetic change (although plasticity itself can have a genetic basis [Brown and Cossins 2011]). In corals, acclimatisation can occur through several pathways. Intra-generational acclimatisation can cause physiological adaptations within the lifespan of an individual, and may occur through stress memory, as well as epigenetics and nutritional factors (e.g. transfer maternal lipid reserves). Recent evidence suggests some non-genetic changes to phenotypes are heritable (i.e. trans-generational acclimatisation, reviewed in van Oppen et al 2015). Epigenetics can also influence the community of microbes associated with an organism, causing a phenotypic change in the host organism at the holobiont level (Webster and Reusch 2017). These changes can be passed onto the next generation.

In contrast, adaptation involves a genetic change in the form of allele frequency changes from one generation to the next, caused by natural selection on the phenotype (Sunday et al., 2014). When populations are diverse and harbour ample existing genetic diversity (i.e. standing genetic variation), this process can be relatively rapid (Torda et al., 2017).



# Box 4. What is genetic diversity?

Genetic diversity describes variation in the genomes of organisms and is essential for maintaining survival by facilitating adaptation within populations in natural, changing environments (Vali *et al.*, 2008). The generation and maintenance of genetic diversity is dependent upon the processes of mutation, genetic drift, migration, and natural selection. There are two distinguishing types of genetic diversity: neutral and adaptive (also known as functional or selective) variation. Both neutral and adaptive diversity can occur on multiple levels within the coral holobiont (i.e. host animal, Symbiodiniaceae (symbiotic algae), and as well as bacteria, viruses and fungi). Standing genetic variation within a population is defined as genetic regions (<u>loci</u>) where there is a presence of more than one variant (<u>allele</u>).

Neutral diversity is the proportion of genetic diversity that has no effect on fitness. This type of variation is detected by most molecular-genetic laboratory techniques (e.g. microsatellites or single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs); (Holderegger *et al.*, 2006)). However, neutral genetic variation can provide extensive information for landscape ecology regarding gene flow, migration, and dispersal patterns (Holderegger *et al.*, 2006). Adaptive diversity refers the proportion of genetic variability that influences fitness and can be established through new, beneficial mutations, or recombination and redistribution of existing genetic variants (Messer and Petrov, 2013). Adaptive variation can be identified using quantitative trait loci (QTL). These loci (or markers) are associated with health and fitness benefits under prevailing environmental conditions. Adaptive, selective genetic diversity is more difficult to estimate compared with neutral diversity, and requires quantitative genetic designs (Holderegger *et al.*, 2006). Both estimates are needed to assess demographic processes (neutral diversity) and adaptive potentials (adaptive diversity).

Limited genetic diversity can constrain the adaptation of populations and decrease fitness in the short term (i.e. inbreeding depression; Vali *et al.*, 2008). Populations of some coral species often have high levels of standing genetic diversity (Matz *et al.*, 2018), which may be due in part to the occurrence of interspecific hybridisation across some taxa (van Oppen *et al.*, 2015), and to a lack of segregation between <u>somatic cells and the germline</u>. Coral germline cells develop from somatic cells, which have been exposed to developmental and environmental cues throughout the individual's life (van Oppen *et al.*, 2011b). This provides a wider scope for epigenetic changes and somatic mutations to introduce genetic variability in coral populations (van Oppen *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, the amount of standing genetic diversity within populations can determine how fast they can adapt to rapid environmental change (Barrett and Schluter, 2008; Visser, 2008).



Figure 9: Diagram summarising the motivation for, and steps involved in, the eight assisted evolution approaches (i.e. delivery methods) discussed. Modified with permission from van Oppen et al., 2015.

# 4.2.1 Enhanced tolerance via interbreeding of existing coral genetic stock

One proposed delivery method aims to enhance the stress tolerance of corals on the Great Barrier Reef is via genetic <u>introgression</u>, where new genetic variation for stress tolerance is incorporated into a receiving population by interbreeding with tolerant individuals from another (differentiated) reef population (from within or outside the Great Barrier Reef) or a different species (Petit and Excoffier, 2009; Ellegren and Galtier, 2016; Chan *et al.*, 2018). There are several intervention delivery methods that focus on the coral host animal that could facilitate this outcome (Figure 10 and 11). These include assisted gene flow, assisted migration, or colonisation, interspecific hybridisation and marker-assisted selective breeding (Aitken and Whitlock 2013, van Oppen *et al.*, 2015, 2017). The feasibility of these approaches is based on three major assumptions:

- The existence of relevant standing (i.e. existing) adaptive genetic variation within populations or species
- The absence and/or manageable level of unintended fitness consequences of hybrid individuals
- The presence of diagnostic genetic or environmental data to identify individuals and locations with adaptive diversity of interest.

The current state of knowledge around the benefits and risks for each delivery method are described in turn. The non-exhaustive list of risks associated with moving and breeding populations or species that would otherwise not reproduce (or reproduce very rarely) also include:

- Outbreeding depression, where offspring exhibit lower fitness than parents due to a lack of adaptation to either parental habitat in intermediate phenotypes
- Genetic bottlenecks, if the pool of individuals used for breeding is not sufficiently large to maintain genetic diversity
- Introductions of pests and diseases
- Altered ecological interactions including invasiveness.

Further genetic risks are discussed in Aitken and Whitlock 2013.

#### Translocation -

(i) any movement of a species from one location to another (Seddon, 2010);
 (ii) Intentional release of a species in an attempt to establish, re-establish, or augment a population (Griffith *et al.*, 1989)

#### Assisted migration -

(i) introduction of a species to regions where it has not existed and expansion of this species in response to climate change (McLachlan *et al.*, 2007);
(ii) intentional translocation of individuals within (assisted gene flow) or outside (assisted colonisation) the natural range of a species (Aitken & Whitlock, 2013)

### Assisted gene flow -

(i) intentional translocation of individuals *within* a species range to facilitate
adaptation to anticipated local conditions
(Aitken & Whitlock, 2013);
(ii) managed movement of individuals into populations to reduce local maladaptation to climate or other environmental change
(Whiteley *et al.*, 2015)

Assisted colonisation -

(i) intentional translocation of individuals outside the natural range of a species (Aitken & Whitlock, 2013); (ii) the intentional movement of focal units to recipient localities where they are currently absent and cannot be expected to colonise by natural means within years or decades (Kreyling et al., 2011); (iii) the introduction of a species to regions where it has not existed and extends beyond only assisting dispersal/ introduction to assuring successful colonisation, a step that will often require extended husbandry (Hunter, 2007); (iv) synonymous with assisted migration and assisted translocation (Hoegh-Guldberg et al., 2008; Ricciardi & Simberoff, 2009)

Figure 10: Terms used to describe approaches that introduce genes or species into receiving populations, and clarification of nomenclature used here in relation to the terms associated with the <u>movement of organisms for</u> <u>biodiversity conservation</u>. Please also see the glossary in <u>Appendix B</u>.

### Assisted gene flow within the Great Barrier Reef

Assisted gene flow is the human-facilitated movement of individuals within a species to promote the rate of adaptation of populations to changing or future predicted environmental conditions (Aitken and Whitlock, 2013; Whiteley *et al.*, 2015). Considerable spatial variation exists in the temperatures that induce coral bleaching and mortality, which provides evidence that coral symbioses are adapted to local thermal environments (e.g. Coles *et al.*, 1976; Berkelmans, 2002; Riegl *et al.*, 2011). Coral populations harbour extensive standing genetic variation that may facilitate heat acclimatisation and/or adaptation (Matz *et al.*, 2018; Underwood *et al.*, 2018), and mass bleaching events may select for increased heat tolerance in surviving colonies (Hughes *et al.*, 2018b). It is unclear how the genetic diversity of populations might be affected under climate scenarios and increasing disturbance.

Assisted gene flow is proposed on the Great Barrier Reef as a mechanism to introgress naturally occurring, heat-tolerant genetic variation into other coral populations within the Reef. Introducing corals from, for example, northern regions, generally exposed to higher temperatures (and potentially those that have survived and recovered from recent bleaching events), to populations in cooler but warming locations, may provide novel genetic variation and increase the heat tolerance of reef populations in the future (provided that introduced individuals interbreed with native individuals) (Matz et al 2018; Quigley et al 2019). This can be achieved in situ through translocation of heat-tolerant corals to novel environments, followed by natural asexual propagation (i.e. fragmentation and growth), as well as sexual reproduction between the novel and local, native coral populations. Ex situ breeding, between colonies from either pure donor populations (e.g. thermally-tolerant parental colonies) or mixed with the receiving population (e.g. one thermally-tolerant parental colony and one receiving population parental colony), followed by deployment of the regional hybrid larvae or early juveniles onto the cooler reef is a scalable option and may reduce collection impacts on donor reefs. It may also be more successful if hybrids have thermal tolerance alleles (acquired from the thermally tolerant parent) within a genetic background optimised to local environmental conditions through longer-term natural adaptation (from native parent). Further, these early life stages have a greater potential to acclimatise to local conditions via developmental acclimatisation (Munday et al., 2013) than translocated adult fragments.

Heat tolerance tests on laboratory-bred corals found that **F1** (first generation) larvae have higher thermal tolerances, at least if the mother originated from a warmer reef (Dixon *et al.*, 2015). Field studies suggest that F1 regional hybrid juveniles survive better than introduced F1 purebred juveniles but die more than purebred local corals (van Oppen *et al.*, 2014). When crossing northern and central populations followed by transplantation to a central reef there were no negative effects on larval survival, weight and settlement, and juvenile survival (Quigley *et al.*, 2016). While these early studies are promising, further examination is needed to fully assess potential negative impacts, including: the loss of fitness due to a break-up of co-adapted gene complexes or the creation of negative interactions of the novel variants with the local environment (Baums, 2008); the unintentional dilution or disruption of locally-adapted or co-adapted alleles of other genes (Thomas *et al.*, 2013); and the rapid increase in frequency of introduced non-adaptive variants that leads to substantial replacement of local variants due to a numerical or fitness advantage (gene swamping; Hufford and Mazer, 2003).

Rigorous and extensive testing is dependent on juvenile and adult coral husbandry, aquaculture breeding techniques, and the spread of novel and beneficial genetic variants in receiving populations. Approaches to large-scale coral husbandry and propagation will be addressed in the

R&D plan for the Enhanced Corals, Treatments and Aquaculture Subprogram. The genetic interactions between novel and local populations are currently also being modelled (Matz et al 2018, Quigley et al 2019).

### Assisted migration from outside the Reef, or introduction of new species

<u>Assisted migration</u> describes the intentional movement of individuals to recipient localities outside their natural distributional range (Aitken and Whitlock, 2013), or where they cannot be expected to colonise by natural means within years or decades (also referred to as assisted colonisation, managed translocation and managed relocation; Kreyling *et al.*, 2011). It can also be applied at the community level through the introduction of new species. This latter strategy is most commonly considered a 'Noah's Ark' approach to protect threatened species or populations by moving them to refugia not exposed to the damaging conditions, and assuring successful colonisation with an additional step of extended husbandry (Hunter, 2007; a process termed



#### assisted colonisation).

Figure 11: Potential positive and negative effects of assisted gene flow in corals on the Great Barrier Reef. Assisted gene flow involves human-assisted movement of individuals within a species, to facilitate the adaptation of populations to future conditions. Redrawn with permission from Aitken and Whitlock, 2013.

For corals on the Great Barrier Reef, assisted migration of genes from outside the Reef could be used to introduce beneficial variation from the source population into the receiving population(s). It has been proposed to introduce coral individuals or species from the Coral Triangle or the Persian Gulf where they grow and survive under higher ambient temperature regimes than those currently experienced on the Great Barrier Reef (Hoegh-Guldberg *et al.*, 2008; Coles and Riegl, 2013). Corals in the Persian Gulf, for example, are consistently exposed to temperatures  $3 - 7^{\circ}$ C higher than in other parts of the world (Riegl *et al.*, 2011), and, consequently, have higher thermal tolerance (Howells *et al.*, 2016). With continued rising sea temperatures and the reoccurrence of severe bleaching events in the Persian Gulf (Coles and Riegl, 2013), it has been suggested that assisted colonisation of threatened Persian Gulf corals should be considered to ensure the

protection of their genetic legacy. These species represent 10 percent of the common Indo-Pacific coral fauna and hence also provide a heat-resistant reservoir of corals for the world.

Many arguments exist against assisted migration, ranging from adverse effects on ecosystem composition and functioning (e.g. creating biased flora/fauna, disturbing nutrient cycling and productivity) to technical feasibility and lack of predictive/informative risk assessments (Hoegh-Guldberg *et al.*, 2008; Pelini *et al.*, 2009; Ricciardi and Simberloff, 2009; Kreyling *et al.*, 2011). While these counter arguments are legitimate concerns, they should be assessed and addressed in the context of other risks (e.g. extinction due to climate change) in risk and decision-making frameworks (Riegl *et al.*, 2011). In comparing assisted gene flow, assisted migration, and assisted colonisation, assisted gene flow may have lower ecological risks (as the focal species is already present) and higher genetics risks (outbreeding depression and genetic swamping; Aitken & Whitlock, 2013; Figure 12). It should be noted that assisted migration could be considered as a final resort.

### Marker-assisted selective breeding

Marker-assisted selective breeding uses genetic markers to select brood stock that have the desired phenotype - such as heat tolerance, growth rate or other (Rothschild and Ruvinsky, 2007; Abdelrahman et al., 2017). This method has been developed and extensively and applied in aquaculture for food production over the past decade (e.g. Rothschild and Ruvinsky, 2007; Yue, 2014; Abdelrahman et al., 2017) and has the potential to support breeding for restoration and adaptation (Rau et al., 2012; Guest et al., 2014; van Oppen et al., 2017). Phenotypic variation in traits, such as growth or thermal tolerance, is typically associated with quantitative variation at any number of genetic loci (also known as guantitative trait loci [QTLs], Box 4). QTLs can be identified with SNPs (single nucleotide polymorphisms) or AFLPs (amplified fragment length polymorphisms) and are essential for understanding the molecular mechanisms underpinning phenotypes (Abdelrahman et al., 2017). The use of QTLs for aquaculture of other species, particularly invertebrates, provide promise for use in corals. In the Pacific oyster (Crassostrea gigas), growth (Guo et al., 2012), resistance against summer mortality (Sauvage et al., 2010), and viability (Plough and Hedgecock, 2011; Plough et al., 2016), have been linked to QTLs. However, nominated traits in selective breeding (i.e. thermal tolerance) may have differential, and potentially opposite, effects on the organism, dependent upon the life stage. For example, in Sydney rock oysters (Saccostrea glomerata), up-regulation of specific cellular systems increased tolerance to elevated CO<sub>2</sub> and was beneficial for larvae, however this was subsequently detrimental to adult oysters (Thompson et al., 2015).

In addition to marker-assisted selective breeding, brood stock can also be chosen based on the coral phenotype, or the local environment to which they have likely adapted. Interbreeding of corals from different regions on the Great Barrier Reef found variation in offspring fitness (van Oppen *et al.*, 2014, Quigley *et al.*, 2016). Additional research is needed to explore multiple and additional trait responses and the effects and outcomes of breeding in future generations (F2, F3, etc.) and breeding potentials of different species. Currently, selective breeding of survivors from recent bleaching events attempts to test whether natural selection has selected for individuals with enhanced thermal tolerance.

# Box 5: What are quantitative trait loci (QTLs)?

Specific QTLs in corals have been identified with regards to bleaching tolerance and antioxidant capacity (Lundgren et al., 2013; Bay and Palumbi, 2014; Dixon et al., 2015; Jin et al., 2016). β-hexosaminidase and Elongation factor 1- $\alpha$ , in *Pocillopora damicornis*, significantly correlated with temperature in P. damicornis type  $\alpha$  and with temperature and water clarity in *P. damicornis* type  $\beta$  (Lundgren *et al.*, 2013). In Acropora millepora, Ligand of Numb X2 and Thioredoxin SNPs correlated with water clarity, while  $\beta$ -gamma crystallin, Galaxin, and Ubiquitin SNPs correlated with temperature (Lundgren et al., 2013). Additionally, in Acropora millepora, heat-tolerant larvae were associated with the upregulation of genes relating to oxidoreductase



Acropora millepora is a well-characterized model species Image Credit: Allison Paley James Cook Univeristy

activity and extracellular matrix, and downregulation of genes associated with transmembrane transport and motor activity (Dixon *et al.*, 2015). Two SNPs (*C29226S281* and *C70S236*) have also been identified and suggested as true QTLs in *A. millepora* for higher antioxidant capacity, thermal tolerance, and water quality tolerance (Jin *et al.*, 2016).

# Interspecific hybridisation for novel genomics

Introgressive hybridisation of species (inter-specific) or differentiated populations (intra-specific; <u>4.2.1 Assisted gene flow</u> and <u>4.2.1 Assisted migration</u> considered above) can produce novel genomic combinations, and facilitate adaptation to changing or disturbed environmental conditions (Rhymer and Simberloff, 1996). The generation of novel genomic combinations can result in transgressive hybridisation (creation of hybrids with more extreme phenotypes than their parental lines; Whiteley *et al.*, 2015) and can increase <u>hybrid vigor</u>, a condition where offspring enjoy higher fitness than their parents (Shull, 1948). Hybridisation may be relatively common in animal and plant species and occurs in both terrestrial and marine environments (reviewed in Arnold, 1992; Dowling and Secor, 1997; Gardner, 1997; Mallet, 2005; Willis *et al.*, 2006).

Interspecific hybridisation is believed to play a major role in the evolution of coral species (Willis *et al.*, 2006) and can occur naturally among some coral species (Fogarty, 2012). Hybrids between certain species can also be created through single choice laboratory experiments (Willis *et al.*, 1997, Isomura *et al.*, 2016, Chan *et al.*, 2018, 2019). There is some evidence for increased fitness of hybrids compared with their parents. For example, *A. prolifera*, the natural hybrid between the Caribbean species *Acropora palmata* and *A. cervicornis*, has equivalent or higher fitness relative to its parent species, and has increased its distribution and abundance despite recent degradation of the reefs where it occurs (Fogarty, 2012). Laboratory-produced *Acropora* hybrids of the F1 generation from the Great Barrier Reef grew faster than their parents in some reef environments (Willis *et al.*, 2006) and had higher fitness relative to at least one parent (Chan *et al.*, 2018). It is important for future breeding experiments to assess whether F1 hybrids (and generations beyond) are able to reproduce sexually, as hybrids are often found to be sterile (Vollmer and Palumbi, 2002; Flot *et al.*, 2011; Wei *et al.*, 2012, but see Richards and Hobbs,

2015). In fertile hybrids later generations can show <u>outbreeding depression</u>, the consequences of which can be as significant as inbreeding depression (Edmands, 2007). In long-lived coral hybrids, this intervention delivery method may be beneficial to coral reef resilience even if sexual reproduction is absent.

## Conditioning

Inducing a shift in the stress tolerance of an organism due to sub-lethal stress exposure is known as <u>conditioning</u> or <u>stress hardening</u>. This process allows organisms to acclimatise, and potentially adapt, to changes in their environment. This acclimatisation can be within generations (physiological acclimatisation of the individual through stress memory) and reversible or passed between generations (<u>transgenerational acclimatisation/plasticity</u> through potential mechanisms, including epigenetic programming; TGP; Torda *et al.*, 2017).

Physiological acclimatisation of corals has been extensively studied and reviewed (e.g. Weis, 2010); however, due in part to the long generation times (Babcock, 1991; van Oppen *et al.*, 2011a), and complex reproductive methods (Baird *et al.*, 2009), transgenerational plasticity is just beginning to be documented and studied in corals (e.g. Putnam & Gates, 2015; Torda *et al.*, 2017; Putnam *et al.*, *in review* (Biorxiv); Quigley et al., in review (Biorxiv)). This process provides a long-term increase in tolerance to climate change stressors through <u>epigenetic</u> changes (Putnam *et al.*, *in review* (Biorxiv); but also see <u>4.2.3 Enhanced tolerance via additional</u> <u>microbes</u> for microbe-mediated transgenerational acclimatisation). Epigenetic changes are external modifications of genes, without a change in the genetic sequence, that induces changes in expression level (i.e. DNA methylation, histone modifications, chromatin remodelling, noncoding and antisense RNAs; Handel *et al.*, 2010; Feil & Fraga, 2012; Torda *et al.*, 2017).

Transgenerational plasticity is currently being studied in many marine and model invertebrates (e.g. Sydney rock oyster, *Saccostrea glomerata* - Thompson *et al.*, 2015; Olympia oyster, *Ostrea lurida* - Hettinger *et al.*, 2012; model roundworm, *Caenorhabditis elegans* - Klosin *et al.*, 2017; model marine polychaete, *Ophryotrocha labronica* - Gibbin *et al.*, 2017), and some corals (e.g. *Acropora millepora* – Dixon *et al.*, 2018; *Platygyra daedalea* – Kirk et al 2018). The mechanisms of transgenerational plasticity are currently unclear as potential pathways include somatic, genetic, and epigenetic factors, as well as associated microbes (Torda *et al.*, 2017; Putnam *et al., in review* (Biorxiv); Quigley *et al., in review* (Biorxiv)). Future research should focus on demonstrating transgenerational plasticity in well-defined experiments, and understanding its relative genetic, epigenetic, and microbial contributions to future generations of corals. While rapid acclimatisation may occur naturally in populations exposed to sub-lethal temperature stress (e.g. Torda *et al.*, 2017), current research is exploring whether it is possible to manually induce this shift in phenotypic performance. Therefore, physiological and transgenerational acclimatisations must be considered in reef restoration and adaptation programs.

# 4.2.2 Enhanced tolerance via symbiotic microalgae (family Symbiodiniaceae)

The endosymbiotic relationship established between corals and microalgae of the family Symbiodiniaceae is essential to their health and fitness and profoundly affects the ecology and evolution of both partners. Both the coral host and the symbionts benefit from the endosymbiotic relationship: coral hosts provide a microhabitat, protection, and nutritional requirements to their algal symbionts (Smith and Douglas, 1987; Trench, 1987), while the Symbiodiniaceae provide their hosts with the benefits of a primary producer, satisfying more than 90 percent of the energy requirements of some species (Trench, 1979; Muscatine, 1980; Muscatine, 1990). In this

exchange, the algal symbiont can affect the growth, nutritional status, bleaching tolerance, and survival of its coral host (e.g. Rowan *et al.*, 1997; Little *et al.*, 2004; Berkelmans and van Oppen 2006; Abrego *et al.*, 2008; Cantin *et al.*, 2009; Bay *et al.*, 2009b). The translocation of photosynthates from Symbiodiniaceae is necessary for calcification (Barnes and Chalker, 1990). Light-enhanced calcification of corals is mediated by their algal symbionts through the elimination of excessive carbon dioxide and phosphate. These processes contribute to the massive calcium carbonate skeletal structures that are the foundation of coral reef ecosystems (Goreau and Goreau 1959; Simkiss 1964; Loh *et al.*, 2001).

Due to the functional and genetic diversity and their (general and specific) associations with coral host species (Trench, 1993), the high abundance in which they are found in coral host tissues (1- $3 \times 10^6$  symbionts per cm<sup>2</sup> makes the genus Symbiodiniaceae a keystone species group that underpins the tolerance of corals, their adaptive potential and thus future health of coral reef ecosystems (Paine, 1969; Power *et al.*, 1996; Baker, 2003).

It has been proposed that evolution can occur much more quickly within the Symbiodiniaceae community compared with the coral host. As such, manipulating the Symbiodiniaceae communities may facilitate faster acclimatisation—and potentially adaptation to future climate conditions—within the coral host.

Manipulation of the Symbiodiniaceae community can be achieved through influencing the:

- Presence or abundance of existing Symbiodiniaceae within coral hosts
- Presence or abundance of experimental evolved or engineered Symbiodiniaceae
- Transgenerational conditioning through epigenetic reprogramming.
### Box 6: What are Symbiodiniaceae?

Symbiodiniaceae is a genetically- and physiologicallydiverse family of microalgae, consisting of five genera with distinct geographic distributions among coral hosts and local environments. A recent systematic revision has reclassified the previous five *Symbiodinium* clades associated with scleractinian corals (A, B, C, D, and F), into five proposed new genera (*Symbiodinium, Breviolum, Cladocopium, Durusdinium and Fugacium* respectively; LaJeunesse et al 2018). These genera can be widely distributed (e.g. *Cladocopium* is found worldwide; Burnett, 2002; Loh *et al.*, 2001; Rodriguez-Lanetty and Hoegh-Guldberg 2003; Baker 2003; van Oppen *et al.*, 2009),

while others have restricted distributions due to host or habitat specificity (e.g. *Fugacium* is restricted to the temperate western Pacific Ocean; Baillie *et al.*, 2000; Baker, 1999; LaJeunesse, 2001; 2002; LaJeunesse *et al.*, 2003; Santos *et al.*, 2003).



Algal cells can be seen within the tissues of the coral polyp Image from <u>https://phys.org/news/2013-07-</u> <u>coral-symbiont-genome-</u> <u>decoded.html</u>

Geographically, there appears to be ocean basin specificit (Baker and Rowan, 1997; LaJeunesse *et al.*, 2003; Baker, 2003), as well as a latitudinal (i.e. tropical/temperate) divergence in Symbiodiniaceae distribution patterns (Baker, 1999; Rodriguez-Lanetty *et al.*,



Isolated algal cells each ~ 10 micrometers. Image from Photo: TC. LaJeunesse, Penn State University.

2002: Savage et al., 2002: Baker, 2003). Symbiodinium and Breviolum are dominant in the Caribbean, while Cladocopium dominates the Pacific. Additionally, genera can be depth stratified. Symbiodinium, Breviolum, and *Durusdinium* are found in shallow colonies of Montastraea annularis and Montastraea faveolata, whereas *Cladocopium* is found in deep water corals (within the Caribbean; Rowan and Knowlton, 1995; Rowan et al., 1997; Toller et al., 2001; Baker, 2003). However, Montastraea franksi harbours Durusdinium in deeper waters (Toller et al., 2001; Baker, 2003). Depth stratification between symbiont types within Cladocopium was also observed on the Great Barrier Reef (Bongaerts et al.,

2010). Further, clades *Symbiodinium, Breviolum*, and *Fugacium* are more commonly associated with sub-tropical and temperate waters, while *Cladocopium* is predominantly tropical (Baker, 1999; Rodriguez-Lanetty *et al.*, 2002; Savage *et al.*, 2002; Baker, 2003). This indicates that temperature and light are important factors in determining geographical distribution patterns of Symbiodiniaceae species.

Scleractinian corals obtain their symbiont partners by vertical, horizontal or mixed transmission. Vertical (direct) transmission occurs when eggs acquire symbionts directly from the parental colony (Trench 1987; Benayahu and Schleyer, 1998), prior to the release of eggs in some spawning coral species (Szmant *et al.*, 1980; Arai *et al.*, 1993; Schwarz *et al.*, 1999; Loh *et al.*, 2001) or during the period of larval brooding in others (Richmond 1981; Benayahu and Schleyer, 1998; Shlesinger *et al.*, 1998; Sier and Olive, 1998; Titlyanov *et al.*, 1998; Loh *et al.*, 2001). Vertical transmission equips the next generation of corals with similar presumably well-adapted, symbionts for a local environment although novel uptake can also occur (Quigley *et al.* 2018b).

Horizontal transmission occurs when corals acquire symbionts from the environment in the larval or post-larval phases (Trench, 1987). Horizontal transmission is the most common mode of Symbiodiniaceae acquisition in corals (Babcock *et al.*, 1986; Harrison and Wallace, 1990; Shlesinger and Loya, 1991), and approximately four times more common than vertical transmission in the dominant group of broadcast spawning corals (Baird *et al.*, 2009). For these coral species, symbionts are most likely acquired from free-living populations in reef sediments (Coffroth *et al.*, 2006; Adams *et al.*, 2009; Quigley et al 2017), expelled mucus from other corals (Hoegh-Guldberg *et al.*, 1987) and the water column (Manning and Gates 2008). Acquisition from the environment may promote flexibility and diversity in the Symbiodiniaceae genera and types hosted by corals (Douglas, 1998; Baird *et al.*, 2007; Dunn and Weis, 2009).

### Manipulate abundance of existing Symbiodiniaceae types

The association between corals and Symbiodiniaceae, in abundance and type, is naturally flexible, as demonstrated by extreme events (e.g. bleaching – Baker *et al.*, 2002), as well as by acclimatisation to local environmental conditions (e.g. water quality – Rocker *et al.*, 2017). The presence and abundance of Symbiodiniaceae species/ type is important in determining stress resistance (i.e. thermal tolerance; Swain *et al.*, 2017; Cunning *et al.*, 2015b; Cunning and Baker, 2014). The coral host naturally mediates its symbiont communities in response to the surrounding environment, and therefore, manipulation of Symbiodiniaceae communities, through both abundance and type, could potentially be used to increase coral resilience to climate change.

The inoculation of corals with cultured naturally tolerant Symbiodiniaceae aims to increase the coral holobiont's thermal tolerance to future climate conditions. Symbiodiniaceae communities are naturally variable in thermal tolerance (Swain *et al.*, 2016; Gregoire *et al.*, 2017). There is a general consensus that *Symbiodinium* and *Durusdinium* are more thermally tolerant relative to *Breviolum* and *Cladocopium* (e.g. Swain *et al.*, 2017; Kemp *et al.*, 2015). This generalisation can be further influenced by source location, as symbionts from warmer reefs performed better (in terms of photochemical performance and survivorship) than symbionts from cooler reefs when exposed to thermal stress (both in culture and in symbiosis; Howells *et al.*, 2012). Further clarification is required as specific genotypes within genera may have substantially different tolerance characteristics (Howells *et al.*, 2012). Additionally, as proportions of thermally tolerant Symbiodiniaceae communities increase in corals, and bleaching susceptibility decrease, tradeoffs, including reduced photochemical efficiency (Cunning *et al.*, 2015a) and/or coral growth rates (Little *et al.*, 2004), may also occur.

### Manipulate abundance of experimental evolved Symbiodiniaceae

Experimental evolution is the directed evolution of a population generally within a laboratory under specified conditions through multiple generations (Chakravarti et al. 2017). For Symbiodiniaceae populations (that have a high adaptive potential), experimental evolution is feasible due to large population sizes (~10<sup>10</sup> cells in a branching coral ~30cm diameter; Drew, 1972; Littman *et al.*, 2008, van Oppen *et al.*, 2011b), genetic isolation (Santos *et al.*, 2003; Howells *et al.*, 2009) and short asexual generation times (3 - 74 days; Wilkerson *et al.*, 1988).

Few studies have explored the long-term response and evolution of Symbiodiniaceae to thermal stress (Huertas *et al.*, 2011; Chakravarti *et al.*, 2017, 2018). These studies find that, after at least 40 generations of experimental selection of Symbiodiniaceae strains, selected *Cladocopium* strains perform better compared with wild-type strains under thermal stress in culture. This improved performance has not yet translated to an improved *in-hospite* performance of multiple *Acropora* species (Chakravarti *et al.*, 2017, 2018) therefore, future research should focus on developing this increased thermal tolerance and its transference to the coral host.

### Transgenerational conditioning through epigenetic reprograming

See section <u>4.2.1 Conditioning</u> for coral host transgenerational acclimatisation and <u>4.2.3</u> <u>Enhanced tolerance via additional microbes</u> for microbe-mediated transgenerational acclimatisation.

By advancing current knowledge of coral-symbiont relationships, particularly the dynamics of endosymbiont acquisition in reef corals, supportive measures (e.g. induced acquisition of potentially environmentally tolerant Symbiodiniaceae) could be implemented to aid corals in their acclimative and/or adaptive responses.

### Feasibility, potential risks, and knowledge gaps

Due to the complexity of initial acquisition, regulation, and potential re-acquisition post-bleaching (e.g. Weis, 2008; Davy *et al.*, 2012), many knowledge gaps regarding the molecular basis of coral and Symbiodiniaceae symbioses still exist. It is possible that model systems such as *Hydra* and *Aixaptasia* can be used to quickly uncover fundamental principles and generate hypotheses that can subsequently be tested in corals (Davy *et al.*, 2012). Risks associated with manipulating Symbiodiniaceae include potential tradeoffs between desirable traits selected for, and other known or unknown linked traits. For example, increased thermal tolerance in some species has been linked to reduced growth in coral hosts (Little et al., 2004, Jones et al., 2008). Further, the risk of introducing novel species on the Reef include invasiveness and altered symbiotic and ecological interactions.

# 4.2.3 Enhanced tolerance via additional microbes (prokaryotes, viruses, and/or fungi)

The coral animal lives in close association with microbial communities defined as the coral <u>microbiome</u>. This includes Symbiodiniaceae (considered separately in <u>4.2.2. Enhanced</u> <u>tolerance via symbiotic microalgae (family Symbiodiniaceae)</u>, bacteria, archaea, protists, fungi and viruses (Rosenberg *et al.*, 2007; Ainsworth *et al.*, 2010; Bourne *et al.*, 2016). The functional basis for these microbial symbioses primarily centres on cycling of essential nutrients such as carbon, nitrogen, sulphur, and phosphate, as well as passage of trace metals, vitamin synthesis, provision of cofactors, and production of secondary metabolites (reviewed in Bourne *et al.*, 2016).

The microbial community of corals and their associated functions can be altered by changes in the health status of the holobiont (Sweet and Bythell, 2017) as well as changes in environmental conditions including elevated sea surface temperatures and ocean acidification. For example, alterations in microbial communities have been found to occur during field bleaching events (Bourne *et al.*, 2008; Littman *et al.*, 2011) and in response to elevated temperature (Vega Thurber *et al.*, 2009; Webster *et al.*, 2016; Liang *et al.*, 2017; Ziegler *et al.*, 2017), pH changes (Vega Thurber *et al.*, 2009; Meron *et al.*, 2011; Bell *et al.*, 2013), and nutrient enrichment (Vega Thurber *et al.*, 2009, 2014). These environmentally induced changes in the microbiome highlight the importance of further understanding the microbiome and how different aspects of the holobiont interact with each other and the environment (Hernandez-Agreda *et al.*, 2017). Recently, the National Science Foundation and 23 additional US Government agencies invested in planning and funding microbiome research (The Interagency Strategic Plan for Microbiome Research), including interdisciplinary research to facilitate understanding of microbiome functioning in diverse ecosystems (including coral reefs).

The microbial community has larger diversity and population sizes, significantly shorter generation times and a large metabolic range compared with the coral host (Elena and Lenski, 2003; Torda *et al.*, 2017). It has therefore been proposed that evolution can occur through <u>microbiome-mediated transgenerational acclimatisation</u> (Webster and Reusch, 2017) in addition to adaptation of the coral host. (See <u>Conditioning section for transgenerational</u> <u>acclimatisation</u>). Research using the model organisms *Nematostella vectensis* (Mortzfeld *et al.*, 2016) and *Exaiptasis pallida* (Alagely *et al.*, 2011) indicates that microbial partners are essential to acclimatisation and maintenance of homeostasis under changing environmental conditions.

Manipulation of the microbial community can be achieved through:

- Altering the abundance or ratios of existing microbes within the microbiome
- Adding novel, naturally beneficial (or probiotic) types of microbes
- Experimental selection of microbes.

Probiotics, also known as beneficial microorganisms for corals (Peixoto et al., 2017), are bacteria, algae, fungi or viruses that could confer health benefits to the coral host or the Symbiodiniaceae. Some coral-associated microbial partners can be cultured without their host (Marx 2016; Röthig et al., 2016), suggesting that production of probiotic microbial cocktails may be possible. Recently, coral larvae inoculated with a single dose of bacterial cocktail were shown to develop different microbiomes depending on the inoculum (Damjanovic et al., 2017), supporting the hypothesis that the coral microbiome can be manipulated. Adult corals have also been inoculated with microbial communities that confer beneficial qualities, to enhance survival of the holobiont when exposed to environmental stress (dos Santos et al., 2015). However, despite the potential for probiotics to enhance coral health and environmental tolerance, the mechanisms through which environmentally induced microbial alterations affect the functioning and acclimatisation/adaptation potential of the coral host are unknown. Further studies are required to fully address whether microbiome-mediated transgenerational acclimatisation (through symbiont changes or genetic evolution of the microbe) is possible in corals. Most importantly, it will be essential to determine whether any alterations to the microbiome can be maintained by vertical transmission of symbionts across generations, as ultimately this would be required for adaptation of the holobiont (Webster and Reusch 2017).

### Manipulating abundance or ratios of existing microbes

Coral-associated microbes appear to provide a range of benefits to the coral host, although the mechanisms are not yet fully understood (<u>Table 1</u>; Peixoto *et al.*, 2017). For example, bacteria associated with the coral *Mussismilia hartii*, were selected for their ability to degrade water-soluble oil fractions, then re-applied as a probiotic, which minimised the effects of water-soluble oil fractions on coral health (dos Santos *et al.*, 2015). Cultivation of a diversity of coral-associated microorganisms would facilitate direct testing of their potential to support coral health in environmental and laboratory-simulated stress (Peixoto *et al.*, 2017). This approach may be applied to heat stressed corals with microbes that produce antioxidants in order to reduce oxidative stress, with compounds such as superoxide dismutases and lysozymes (Peixoto *et al.*, 2017).

Proposed beneficial characteristic	Beneficial mechanism	References
Photosynthesis	Input of organic compounds to the holobiont	Verbruggen and Tribollet, 2011; Burriesci <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Davy <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Tremblay <i>et al.</i> , 2012
Nitrogen fixation	Input of fixed nitrogen to the holobiont	Olson <i>et al.</i> , 2009; Lema <i>et al.</i> , 2012; dos Santos <i>et al.</i> , 2014; Bednarz <i>et al.</i> , 2015; Cardini <i>et al.</i> , 2015
Fixed nitrogen and carbon cycling and regulation	Control of organic compound distribution	Kimes <i>et al.</i> , 2010
Production of dimethylsulfoniopropionate (DMSP)	Bacterial populations control on the coral surface	Barott and Rohwer, 2012
Degradation of dimethylsulfoniopropionate (DMSP)	Increase carbon and sulfur availability; production of sulfur- based antimicrobial compounds such as tropodithietic acid (TDA)	Kirkwood <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Raina <i>et al.</i> , 2016
Production of mediated signals to larval settlement facilitation	Contribute to larval settlement modulation or regulation	Webster <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Heyward and Negri, 2010; Ritson-Williams <i>et al</i> ., 2010; Shikuma <i>et al</i> ., 2014
Production of antibiotics and competition with pathogens	Biological control of pathogens	Ritchie, 2006; Gochfeld and Aeby, 2008; Kirkwood <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Alagely <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Kvennefors <i>et al.</i> , 2012
Production of quorum sensing (QS) signal molecules, such as N-acylhomoserine lactones (AHLs)	Allow microbial interactions within the holobiont; can act on bacterial colonisation control, bioluminescence, pathogenesis control and extracellular enzyme production	Henke and Bassler, 2004; Ng and Bassler, 2009; Tait <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Sharp and Ritchie, 2012; Certner and Vollmer, 2015; Mever <i>et al.</i> , 2015

Table 1: Examples of proposed probiotics (or BMCs). Reproduced unchanged from Peixoto et al., 2017.

Mechanisms influencing the protection of skeletogenic cells	Enhance the survival of skeletogenic cell types	Domart-Coulon <i>et al.</i> , 2004
Production of mycosporine-like amino acids (MAA)	Protection of coral tissue against ultraviolet radiation	Dunlap and Shick, 1998

### Addition of novel, naturally beneficial (or probiotic) types of microbes

### See 5.2.2 Antioxidant/anti-microbial biological systems

### Experimental selection of microbes

Enhancing beneficial traits of the coral microbiome presents new possibilities for coral holobiont acclimatisation and adaptation to future conditions. Probiotics for corals can be created through exposure to selection pressures in controlled, laboratory conditions (e.g. simulated heat stress; Damjanovic *et al.*, 2017). As such, microbes may adapt to continuous heat stress by increasing their antioxidant capacity and could then be applied as probiotics to corals (Damjanovic *et al.*, 2017).

### Feasibility, potential risks, and knowledge gaps

Technical challenges associated with genomic and transcriptomic sequencing of coral-associated microorganisms has greatly hindered our understanding of microbial function in the coral holobiont (particularly relative to other model systems where the microbiome is generally much easier to sequence). These fundamental knowledge gaps pertaining to microbial function make it difficult to select target organisms for microbiome manipulation or the application of probiotics. Importantly, it still needs to be validated whether cultivated coral-associated microbes perform the same in culture as they do in hospite. It is also not known to what extent manipulating the coral microbiome may adversely affect corals or other reef organisms. As probiotic treatments are generally applied in closed systems (e.g. the treatment of *Clostridium difficile* infections in humans with faecal transplants; Kassam et al., 2013), application of microbial manipulations in open systems, such as coral reefs, will prove extremely challenging. As microorganisms commonly found on coral reefs are frequently shared among many reef species, the introduction of manipulated microbes may trigger cascade effects to non-target species. Importantly, there is limited understanding of the symbiont acquisition strategies of most coral species (whether microbial symbionts are passed strictly vertically from parent to offspring or acquired horizontally from the environment in each new generation). If artificial manipulation of the microbiome is to offer a lasting mechanism for enhanced holobiont tolerance, it would be preferable to target vertically transmitted symbionts so that they are maintained within the host.

In terms of delivering probiotics to corals, inoculation of adult and juvenile corals with microbes during stressful periods, and during the recovery phase, has been proposed for both prevention and repair (Peixoto *et al.*, 2017). For instance, a single exposure of one coral to mucus sourced from another coral can direct the development of its subsequent microbiome (Damjanovic *et al.*, 2017). The delivery of microbial manipulations may be achieved through several methods, including the use of *ex situ* rearing in aquaria facilities (Damjanovic *et al.*, 2017), custom designed underwater robots, and incubation bags to ensure effective dilutions and exposure times of corals to the probiotic cocktail. While these methods can be applied at small spatial scales, it would be extremely challenging to apply at scale, since delivery methods are labour intensive and probiotics would have to be grown in large quantities. A potential horizontal

infection of probiotics from a manipulated coral to neighbouring corals may increase the feasibility of applying probiotics at large scales, but this also comes with environmental risks associated with exposure of non-target species. It has also not yet been demonstrated that microbiome manipulation through the application of probiotics forms a stable, enduring association. If a stable partnership is not formed with the applied probiotic, then continual re-application would be required (as occurs in the application of most probiotics in aquaculture).

# 4.2.4 Genetic engineering or synthetic biology to enhance tolerance of coral holobiont

Changes in the genetic information (or mutagenesis) of the coral host, its Symbiodiniaceae, and/or associated microbes, may occur spontaneously in nature, be promoted by mutagen exposure, or be experimentally-induced in the laboratory (as outlined in sections on experimental evolution above). As such, novel mutations can be harnessed to offer additional approaches to enhance the coral holobiont through genetic changes of the coral host or its microbes. Genetic engineering is the application of technologies that permit direct manipulation of hereditary genetic material to alter a phenotype of interest in a target organism (Piaggio et al., 2017). This genetic engineering approach has been extremely successful in improving agricultural crops, mass-producing compounds for industry, and in improving drug production. However, genetic engineering has not been possible for most ecologically relevant organisms, such as corals, because of the lack of technology allowing for genetic manipulation. In fact, the ability to genetically engineer organisms has been limited to a few, well-studied and taxonomically restricted groups, with specific biology that has made them genetically tractable. In recent years, this limitation of genetic engineering has been overcome with the discovery of new technologies, such as CRISPR/Cas9, that have enabled genetic manipulations in a wide variety of organisms. These new technologies have spurred the formation of an emerging area of research called synthetic biology' (Piaggio et al., 2017).

### Enhanced tolerance from genetic engineering with CRISPR/Cas9

With the advent of CRISPR/Cas9 technology, genetic engineering as a biodiversity conservation tool, specifically for reef corals, should be considered. <u>CRISPR/Cas9</u> is a biochemical method using clustered, regularly interspaced, short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) 'guide RNA' in conjunction with Cas9 (CRISPR-associated 9) nuclease, to efficiently cut and edit DNA containing the guide RNA sequence in the genome of the target organism (<u>Figure 13</u>; Esvelt *et al.*, 2014; Piaggio *et al.*, 2017). This technology allows the precise manipulation of target DNA in organisms including corals that affect phenotypes of interests, such as thermal tolerance. The technique can be used to both down- or up-regulate the expression of target traits.

The ability to introduce genetically engineered corals on the scale of the Great Barrier Reef is difficult without mechanisms to spread the engineered alleles. <u>Gene drives</u> are DNA pieces that are inherited more frequently than normal. Most DNA sequences in sexually-reproducing organisms have a 50 percent chance of being inherited by each offspring but the technique called gene drives changes this so that they are inherited more frequently (more than 50 percent chance; <u>more information here</u>). Thus, gene drives can spread selected, usually recombinant, DNA sequences (genes) through wild populations, with the aim of eliminating unwanted or adding desired characteristics (Kaebnick *et al.*, 2016; Piaggio *et al.*, 2017). The prospects of gene drives have been recognised for some time, but its application was limited by our ability to cut and edit DNA. However, combined with CRISPR/Cas9, gene drives are a promising new tool to efficiently spread selected genes throughout a population.

Recently, genome editing using the CRISPR/Cas9 tool was used to induce mutations in FGF1a (*encoding fibroblast growth factor 1a*), GFP (*green fluorescent protein*), and RFP (*red fluorescent protein*) the coral *Acropora millepora* by microinjecting single-guide RNA/Cas9 complexes into coral embryos (Cleves *et al.*, 2018). This method has also been used successfully in the model organisms *Nematostella vectensis* and *Hydractinia echinata* (Ikmi *et al.*, 2014; Servetnick *et al.*, 2017; Gahan *et al.*, 2017). By using reverse genetics (analysing the phenotypic effects of engineered gene sequences) and the CRISPR/Cas9 tool the functions of genes and pathways can be further examined in corals to determine, and potentially edit, their stress tolerance to climate change, and other phenotypes.



Figure 12: RNA-guided genome editing uses clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR), guide RNA and Cas9 (CRISPR-associated 9) nuclease to cut and edit DNA containing the guide RNA sequence. Redrawn with permission from Esvelt *et al.*, 2014

Genetic engineering tools can also be applied to corals' symbiotic partners. Next generation sequencing has revealed many genetic elements that can potentially be engineered but also obstacles for success in Symbiodiniaceae spp. (reviewed in Levin *et al.*, 2017b). Recent work has generated Symbiodiniaceae protoplasts (viable cells with cell walls removed), which can facilitate modification of the nucleic material by genetic engineering (Levin et al. 2017a). Potential candidate genes to be targeted for genetic engineering (i.e. Fe-sod, Mn-sod, Prxd, and Hsp70) are predicted to enhance thermal tolerance and reduce bleaching (Levin *et al.*, 2016; Gierz *et al.*, 2017; Goyen *et al.*, 2017).

Additional technologies such as multiplex automated genome engineering (MAGE) can allow for large-scale programing, and accelerated evolution of cells, to find interacting mutations that synergistically produce beneficial phenotypes (Wang *et al.*, 2009). However, current MAGE technologies are in early stages of development and have been used exclusively in *E. coli*. Once transformation technologies are established, this type of technology may be able to be applied to Symbiodiniaceae or other associated microbes.

Recently developed technologies and knowledge for corals open up possibilities to enhance beneficial traits of the coral microbiome. For example, existing genes in the the coral microbiome can be manipulated with CRISPR-Cas9 (Tian *et al.*, 2017), and thus, it may be possible to alter the microbe's antioxidant capacity and increase its benefits to the coral during heat stress. In synthetic biology, a novel microbe with enhanced characteristics can be created with the introduction of new molecular pathways through artificially synthesised genetic material (Benner and Sismour 2005). A microbe might be constructed that can localise oxidative stress, invade cells, and produce targeted antioxidant compounds, such as superoxide dismutases, to help the coral survive heat stress (Peixoto *et al.*, 2017). These concepts could be used to produce microbes that can be applied as coral probiotics during heat stress.

Genetic manipulation of the coral, or its associated microbes, and subsequent release into the ecosystem is not without obvious environmental risks. For example, the introduction of mutations into the wild using gene drives has considerable unknowns that must be carefully considered and approved by all stakeholders before proceeding. However, advancing genetic engineering technologies will continue to provide valuable information about the molecular basis of thermal tolerance, while building the technological feasibility for future ecological interventions deemed feasible and passing risk-benefit analysis.

# 5. TYPES OF 'REPAIR' INTERVENTIONS

# 5.1 Active restoration at reef-scale

Repair intervention types are implemented following disturbance and aim to facilitate recovery of impacted reefs. Reseeding of corals, for example, requires cost-effective propagation, production, and deployment of larvae, juvenile or adult stock of key species that, if restored, will provide an acceptable level of ecological function. Compared with prevention interventions, existing technologies in repair interventions have typically been small-scale (< 1ha) targeting local reefs. However, many large-scale prevention-intervention delivery methods build upon existing technologies of active restoration at the reef scale. These include direct transplantation, coral nursery production and micro-fragmentation, which have been extensively reviewed in report T5—Current Practices and will not be covered in great detail here (See Box 7 for a summary).

# Box 7: Current methods and technologies

Report <u>T5—Current Practices</u> details 329 case studies of coral-restoration projects that cover three intervention types: (1) recruitment and reproduction, (2) biocontrol, and (3) reef structures and stabilisation. Most case studies were from scientific literature (195), 79 were sourced from grey literature (i.e. reports and online descriptions), and 55 were responses to a global survey of restoration practitioners. Ten coral restoration intervention delivery methods are covered: coral gardening - transplantation phase (23 percent of records), coral gardening - nursery phase (17 percent), coral gardening (both phases, seven percent), direct transplantation (21 percent), substrate enhancement with electricity (four percent), larval enhancement (one percent), microfragmentation (less than one percent), substrate stabilisation (four percent), artificial reefs (19 percent) and algae removal (two percent). Most interventions involve coral fragmentation or transplantation of coral fragments (70 percent).

Practitioner-driven development has generated a series of production methods that use lowcost materials and are simple to deploy at small spatial scales. This has made active restoration techniques popular with lay-people, and projects often rely on an extensive volunteer labour-force. Active restoration delivery methods are therefore easily accessible, and can be deployed on local reefs, involving the local community. Thus, the potential for socioeconomic benefits beyond purely ecological benefits are substantial (Hein *et al., 2019*).

While many coral delivery methods have been developed, there is still a pauciy of data on the broader ecological outcomes of active restoration. Few projects have monitored long-term outcomes (median monitoring length is 12 months) and monitoring of metrics beyond the growth and survival of the transplanted corals remains rare (Hein *et al.*, 2017). Without appropriate monitoring, it is impossible to determine whether the significant time and economic investment in coral propagation is meeting ecological objectives. This mismatch between objectives and outcomes may also increase the risk of losing public trust by not delivering on project goals. Further, given that many active restoration techniques rely on harvesting wild coral colonies, there is a risk of overharvesting remnant healthy reef communities in order to replenish degraded areas. Finally, while it is evident that restoration without addressing the cause of disturbance is futile, few active restoration projects have incorporated climate change resilience, to date. Unless the ultimate cause of disturbance is mitigated, restored corals risk succumbing to the next mass-coral bleaching event.

The main messages from the report are:

- 1. On average, survival of restored corals is relatively high, at least in the short-term. All coral genera with sufficient replication from which to draw conclusions (more than 10 studies listing that genus) report an average survival between 60 and 70 percent.
- 2. Differences in survival and growth are largely species- and/or location-specific, so restoration methods should be tailored to the local conditions and to the specific objectives of each project.
- 3. Projects tend to be small and short. Substantial scaling-up is required for restoration to be useful in supporting the future survival of reefs. While there is ample evidence of successfully growing corals at small scales, few methods demonstrate a capacity to be scaled-up beyond 1ha. Notable exceptions include methods that propagate sexually

derived coral larvae. Long-term performance needs to be monitored.

- 4. To date, coral restoration has been plagued by the same common problems as restoration in other ecosystems. Mitigating these problems, outlined below, will be crucial to successfully scaling-up projects, and retaining public trust in restoration as a tool for resilience-based management.
  - a. *Lack of clear objectives* there are inconsistencies among the stated objectives of a project, the design of the project, and the monitoring of the project's outcomes. Poorly articulated or overinflated objectives risk alienating the general public, and scientists, by over-promising and under-delivering. Social and economic objectives have inherent value and do not need to be disguised with ecological objectives.
  - b. *Lack of appropriate monitoring* a large proportion of projects do not monitor metrics appropriate for their stated objectives, or do not monitor long enough to provide meaningful estimates of success. Further, there is a clear need for standardising the metrics used, to allow comparisons among projects.
  - c. *Lack of appropriate reporting* the outcomes of a large proportion of projects are not documented, which restricts knowledge-sharing and adaptive learning. While we attempted to access some of the unreported projects through our survey, it is clear we have only scratched the surface of existing knowledge.
  - d. *Poorly designed projects* some projects are inadequately designed and replicated in relation to for their specific contexts. Improved knowledge-sharing, capacity building and development of best-practice coral restoration guidelines will mitigate this problem.

See <u>T5—Current Practices</u> for more details.

# 5.1.1 Enhanced larval supply - sexual reproduction

Corals have a bipartite life history with a sessile (immobile) adult phase and a planktonic (mobile) larval phase during which they may be transported among reefs to establish new populations or replenish existing ones (Harrison, 2011; Figure 14). For most coral species, larvae are produced in annual mass-spawning events in which colonies release eggs and/or sperm (gametes) into the water column where fertilisation and subsequent embryogenesis occur, which results in the development of swimming planula larvae (Harrison, 2011). During mass-spawning events, the buoyant eggs can be so abundant they form conspicuous slicks on the ocean surface (Oliver and Willis, 1987). In other coral species, fertilisation and larval development occur inside the adult colony and the larvae are considered brooded (Harrison, 2011). Larvae can live for several months or more in the water column but are most capable of settlement relatively soon after release from the adult colony (Richmond, 1987; Wilson and Harrison, 1998). The process of settlement is an important stage in the lifecycle of corals as the choice of settlement site determines the coral's permanent location. Larvae use a range of physical and biological cues to inform this decision, to optimise the likelihood of survival (e.g. Baird *et al.*, 2003; Heyward and Negri, 1999). As settling corals are very small, they take one to two years to become visible to the

naked eye (Babcock, 1991; Doropoulos *et al.*, 2016) and several additional years to grow large enough to become reproductively mature.

Following severe disturbances on reefs, many species rely on recruiting sexually derived larvae from other reefs to recover. Recruitment rates may be greatly reduced following bleaching (Hughes et al 2019). Several interventions seek to accelerate recovery by increasing the number of larvae or juveniles available for recruitment. Enhancing larval supply may be particularly desirable on reefs that receive a poor supply of larvae, either as a result of local hydrodynamics, or because widespread mortality has decimated source populations in the region (e.g. following a regional-scale bleaching event). The larvae used to repopulate reefs may improve recruit survival and can come from a variety of sources: endemic wild populations; translocated from other regions to accelerate gene flow; or sourced from cultured populations selected to express desirable traits such as heat tolerance. The method would likely be employed in conjunction with some form of engineered substrate.



Figure 13: The bipartite lifecycle of corals includes a sessile (immobile) phase (from spat to reproductively mature adult) and a dispersive planktonic phase, which begins when gametes are spawned into the water column and continues through larval development, until larvae attach to the reef and metamorphose into spat in a process called settlement. Coral life-history stages are in blue, and processes are in black.

Enhancing recruitment onto reefs using sexually derived larvae (termed <u>larval seeding</u>) has been successfully trialled at small scales  $(10m^2)$ . Most larval seeding trials have used larvae of single species (Guest *et al.*, 2014; Edwards *et al.*, 2015) spawned and reared in aquaria (e.g. Pollock *et al.*, 2017). Natural, wild slicks resulting from mass-spawning of corals (Oliver and Willis, 1987) have also been collected and reared using similar methods, before being pumped into fine mesh enclosures on reefs that are designed to prevent them from being dispersed (Heyward *et al.*, 2002; dela Cruz and Harrison, 2017). While enhanced settlement rates have been reported from larval seeding approaches, long-term (> 1 year) recruitment is not always higher than natural levels. Further, research is ongoing to test reproducibility and scale-up the method to larger areas (e.g.  $100m^2$ ; Harrison *et al.*, pers. comm.).

Larval seeding has the potential to be upscaled using commercial vessels designed to carry large volumes of seawater, and therefore large numbers of coral larvae (Doropoulos *et al.*, 2019). These larvae, whether sourced from natural slicks or industrial-scale aquaculture facilities, can be translocated over long distances to desired target reefs, where deployment could occur by either pumping larvae onto the reefs or deploying substrates that have newly-settled recruits (e.g. SECORE tetrapods or other substrata; Chamberland *et al.*, 2015, 2017; van Koningsveld *et al.*,

2017). At the reef-scale, large volumes of deployed larvae could reduce the cost per unit by not requiring enclosure in mesh cages upon deployment. Overall, the viability of these methods relies on low unit-cost, as the mortality of larvae and newly settled juveniles is high.

Harvesting natural slicks allows a diverse suite of species to be captured, leading to the reestablishment of reefs at a community level, rather than re-seeding a few select species, noting that some species do not spawn during mass-spawning events and others have negatively buoyant gametes and thus do not contribute to slick formation. Harvesting wild slicks is hypothesised to have a minimal effect on the source reef's ecology, as slick mortality is naturally high (through predation, dispersal failure, and post-settlement mortality). Harvesting natural slicks is expected to face minimal social and regulatory obstacles, particularly where it uses local populations as larval sources. Where translocation of slick-derived larave is involved, there are likely to be challenges around biosecurity, regulations, and social licence. Efficiently harvesting wild slicks would require: the improved ability to predict when and where slicks will form; a better understanding of natural survival rates within slicks; and improved understanding of the degree of species-bias within wild slicks.

# 5.2 Biological support to accelerate natural recovery

### 5.2.1 Substrate stabilisation and structure

Major disturbances such as severe cyclones can directly impact corals and damage the reef structure by destabilising coral rubble and reducing habitat complexity, which in turn, can increase the abundance of macro algae (Johns et al., 2018). Coral recovery may be reduced in such disturbed habitats because of low survival of coral juveniles in patches of loose rubble substrate and reduced settlement and post-settlement survival because of macroalgal competition (see <u>Section 5.2.3 Macroalgal removal</u>; Johns et al. 2018). The recovery of corals can also be inhibited by the loss of herbivorous fishes that can occur following the loss of habitat and structural complexity, which can influence local algal abundance. Intervention delivery methods that directly stabilise rubble or provide potentially cyclone-stable substrates that act as recruitment surfaces, can enhance rates of recovery of corals and reefs. Added structure can also provide habitat for herbivorous fishes, thus restoring a key ecological function. Rubble stabilisation methods also have the potential to enhance recreational diving and tourism at new or recovering sites by showcasing efforts to support recovery of degraded reefs. The functional benefits described above may be achieved through several delivery methods, explored in detail in the following sections.

# Design of novel man-made structures

Substrate improvement to facilitate coral settlement and growth can occur by introducing artificial substrates, or by manipulating existing substrates across a range of spatial scales, from micro-scale engineered settlement surfaces to artificial reef structures. An artificial reef is a man-made structure that mimics one or more of the features that characterise a natural reef (Baine, 2001). By designing novel structures for settlement (e.g. new shapes, sizes and surfaces; e.g. Chamberland *et al.*, 2015, 2017) and large-scale structures (e.g. Subcon reef modules, ReefBall reef units, and Mars Reef Spiders), or using electrical current to stimulate mineral accretion (Goreau and Trench, 2013), new reef structures can aid both *in situ* and *ex situ* recruitment processes and enhance reef structural complexity.

There are many groups currently exploring the development and potential uses of novel substrate structures (e.g. BioRock, SECORE Project, Australian Institute of Marine Science SeaSim). The SECORE (SExual COral REproduction) Project has developed settlement tetrapods with grooves down the arms to promote coral settlement on artificial substrata in culture, and to maximise retention on the reef after deployment. The SECORE method, which allows corals to be placed on natural reefs with minimal handling, significantly reduces deployment and outplanting time of cultured corals, and reduces outplanting costs by up to 18-fold (Chamberland et al., 2017; Figure 15), compared with directly adhering cultured corals to reefs. At larger scales, artificial reefs have been constructed of various materials to provide structure for coral settlement and reef function. Artificial reef structures range in size from clusters of reef balls (1-3m in diameter) to extensive areas of reef framework, created from guarried or dredged rock material at scales of hundreds of metres (Blakeway et al., 2013). BioRock is a novel artificial substrate that uses low-voltage electrical current through steel structures to form solid limestone through underwater electrolysis (Goreau and Trench, 2013; Figure 15). SeaSim is currently testing the effects of substrate material, shape, aspect, and microcrevice structure, to maximise larval settlement across a diversity of species, and to enhance recruit and juvenile survival during the first 12 months.

In general, deployment at small scales would be diver or small-vessel-based, using passive or active placement of structures, with or without additional seeding of recruits or juveniles. Deployment methods would be site- or reef-specific and would require minimal time investments (days or weeks). At larger scales, artificial reefs would require industrial approaches to construction (Rio Tinto, 2015). Whether at small or large industry scale, the overall restoration effect would be still be at relatively small scales (tens to hundres of metres squared). The benefits would be experienced in years to decades, as outplanted corals grew and as others recruited through natural processes. Reef restoration outcomes could be enhanced by deploying artificial structures on high-value tourism sites, in conjunction with other interventions.

Regulatory permitting will range from low risk (substrate consolidation/stabilisation) to high risk (habitat engineering and artificial reefs), depending on the specific delivery methods used. Additional studies are required to determine optimum material types (e.g. anode metal in BioRock; Zamani *et al.*, 2010) or shape (e.g. tetrapod width; Chamberland *et al.*, 2015, 2017). At larger scales, the effects of artificial reefs on local water quality, flow dynamics and/or physical conditions, such as sediment dynamics, must be investigated.

Risks and indirect effects of novel substrata differ markedly, depending on the scale of intervention. When using novel surfaces and structures for outplanting cultured corals, the impact of the structures on the ecosystem are likely to be trivial, if constructed of inert calcium carbonate-based materials. At larger scales, construction of artificial reefs may be difficult to justify where natural reef substrata already exist. Potential negative effects to other reef organisms should be considered, including the potential shifts in community composition due to novel substrata favoring some species over others. Where hard substrata exist, novel substrata use is more likely to be through deployment of outplants. Coral survival on outplanted structures is predicted to be higher than natural survival rates. Therefore, this intervention has the potential to accelerate reef recovery, and promote tourism and recreational use of the Great Barrier Reef, at least at the local scale. Cost of large-scale reef construction (e.g. > 1km<sup>2</sup>) is likely to be much higher.





### Stabilisation of existing substrate

The physical restoration of damaged substrate has, until now, involved stabilising rubble over an area that has been damaged by acute disturbances such as storms or ship groundings. The rationale for such restorations is, on a damaged reef, corals cannot attach to loose substrata (Lindahl, 2003). While physical restoration has been relatively common in US territorial waters, funded by insurance claims following ship-strikes, there is a paucity of published literature that describes such methods. The most common technique is to install mesh or netting over the rubble to prevent further movement and encourage cementation processes. This is generally a precursor to transplanting corals or deploying artifical structures onto the damaged area (Lindahl, 2003). Other methods include driving metal reinforcement bars into loose substrate (Fox et al., 2005), piling rocks on unstable degraded reef areas (Fox et al., 2005), placing open cement structures that contain loose substrate onto damaged substrate (Hudson and Diaz, 1988; Clark and Edwards, 1995), and to inject grout or other chemicals to bond and stabilise loose rubble. Implementation of these approaches requires assessing the benefits of substrate stabilisation in the context of the natural level of consolidation on a particular reef. For example, on reefs that lack naturally consolidated substrata, rubble stabilisation may not be worth the risk and expense. Such stabilisation activities may, however, be beneficial on a small scale at high-value sites or following ship groundings that generate very large areas of unconsolidated rubble on naturally well consolidated reef framework (Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, 2011).

### Improvement of substratum settlement quality - microbiomes and CCA

Improvements to substratum quality for increased coral settlement and post-settlement survival can potentially be achieved by enhancing reef-associated benthic biofilms and/or crustose coralline algal (CCA) communities through the application of biological or chemical films to bare substrate. Ecological succession on reefs involves both positive and negative inter-species interactions, with the early colonisers of bare substrate able to modify the environment to make it more (i.e. inductive) or less (i.e. inhibitory) suitable for colonisation by other species arriving later in the successional process. Studies into ecological succession and post-settlement survival of corals generally define algae as the primary colonisers and coral as the secondary colonisers (Harrington et al., 2004), with turf algae typically considered the earliest space occupiers and CCA considered mid successional colonisers (Birrell et al., 2008). In addition, microorganisms also play an important role in the initial colonisation of bare surfaces, laying down exopolysaccharide and other chemical cues that modify the attractiveness of surfaces for subsequent colonisation by higher sessile organisms (Mieszkin et al., 2013). Of particular relevance for the successful recruitment and post-settlement survival of corals are bacterial biofilms (Tran and Hadfield 2011, Hadfield 2011, Webster et al., 2004) which influence in a positive, neutral, or negative manner, the settlement of diverse micro and macro algae (Mieszkin et al., 2013) which coral larvae may rely on for settlement and subsequently may outcompete settled recruits (Evensen et al., 2019; Johns et al., 2018). Appropriate surface films (biological or chemical) that control the successional trajectory of reef substrate to optimise coral settlement and post settlement survival could be applied under both aquaculture and field conditions. However, the optimal microbial community composition or chemical environment needed to support coral recruit survival is currently unknown and represents a key knowledge gap for application of this technology to restoration surfaces.

Introducing probiotic species to reef substrates is classified by the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority as 'habitat engineering and artificial reefs', which is defined as high-risk. Deployment methods range from the introduction of priobiotic treatment capsules around restoration sites, the application of surface paints to reef structures and aquaculture enhancement of substrates prior to outplanting and could be combined with enhanced sexual larval supply. Maximum spatial scale effect of microbial substratum enhancement is predicted to be reefwide (> 10km<sup>2</sup>) but it is unclear how long-lived the effects might be. While microbial enhancement has been shown to be beneficial *in vitro*, it remains to be tested whether it will result in significant recruitment enhancement *in situ*. Understanding and optimising successional processes at the scale of recruitment and post-settlement survival, are critical to the success of this intervention.

### 5.2.2 Coral health improvement

Corals obtain their nutrition from both <u>autotrophic</u> (i.e. from photosynthesis of microalgae) and <u>heterotrophic</u> (i.e. from externally captured food particles, such as plankton) processes. Manipulating the heterotrophic component of coral nutrition aims to increase survival, following environmental stress events that compromise their health. Supplementary nutrients, or alternative nutrients of higher quality, may help corals recover more quickly by helping restore impacted physiological functions such as growth, energy stores and reproduction. The impacts of environmental stress on coral physiology become particularly important during coral bleaching events, when endosymbionts are expelled, and corals experience decreased autotrophic capacity. Coral health could be restored with direct actions that aim to replenish energy stores that may in turn enable growth and reproduction (Conlan *et al.*, 2017).

### Provide alternative foods to increase survival from stress

Lipids are a major source of energy storage in corals (Bergé and Bartnathan 2005) and can influence the outcome of bleaching events in individual coral colonies. Corals with higher quantities of lipids are more resilient to, and recover faster from, climate-change stressors (Rodrigues and Grottoli 2007, Baumann *et al.*, 2014, Towle *et al.*, 2015). Some coral species increase their heterotrophic feeding when bleached, to compensate for reduced autotrophic feeding, improving their chances of recovery (Grottoli *et al.*, 2006; Connolly *et al.*, 2012). Modelling of coral mortality from a bleaching event suggests that the timing between bleaching and mortality depends on the amount of lipids in store prior to bleaching, and heterotrophic capacity post-bleaching (Anthony et al 2009).

To date, most research into supplementing nutrients for corals has focused on the coral aquaculture process, primarily for the aquarium trade (Barton et al 2017). Additional feeding during vulnerable early lifestages could increase survival and growth (Conlan et al., 2017) and thus decrease time to a juvenile-size refuge, where survivorship increases substantially. For example, newly settled recruits of *F. fragum* and *A. tenuis* grew significantly faster—and had higher survival rates—when supplied with daily feeds of *Artemia salina* in an aquarium setting (Petersen et al 2008). Importantly, Toh et al (2014) demonstrated that benefits of feeding are evident even after transplantation to the reef. Colonies of *P. damicornis* that were fed with *A. salina* during their *ex situ* propagation phase, experienced higher growth rates and survival after transplantation to *in situ* coral nurseries. The authors calculated that feeding corals with high densities of nauplii decreased the cost of propagation 12-fold (Toh et al 2014). Further, alternative foods could potentially be packaged with probiotics, inoculated with symbionts or antioxidants (see section <u>5.2.2 Antioxidant/anti-microbial biological systems</u>).

In the context of increasing resilience to bleaching or other stressors, this delivery method has the most potential if deployed *in situ* prior to an expected bleaching event (to boost lipid stores in corals), and during the recovery stage (to increase capacity for heterotrophic feeding). Further research is needed to develop deployment methods *in situ*, the composition of manufactured feed to maximise recovery potential during a stress-event, finding the optimal nutrient balance, and exploring how species-specific potential benefits are.

Supplementing nutrients into the open reef system carries the potential of cascading risks associated with excess nutrients on reefs (D'Angelo and Wiedenmann 2014). Further, it is critical that the balance of nutrients is tailored to the coral algal symbiosis. Incorrect ratios of carbon, nitrogen and phosphorous can destabilise the symbiosis and make corals less resilient to thermal stress (Wiedenmann *et al.*, 2014; Morris *et al.*, 2019).

### Antioxidant/anti-microbial biological systems

Higher disease prevalence has been correlated with the occurrence of warm seawater temperatures, potentially due to a decrease in immunocompetency of bleached corals (Maynard *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, removing coral disease and appying treatments (e.g. antioxidant/anti-microbial biological systems) could help mitigate coral diseases (stopping the spread and/or limit the effects), and may contribute to the recovery of bleached corals. Mitigation and diagnostics of coral diseases with microbial interventions is currently limited, as most of the disease aetiologies are not fully understood (Pollock *et al.*, 2011). This leads to immunisation treatments that are difficult to apply in environmental scenarios. Current successful strategies to mitigate coral disease are very localised and include the direct application of underwater epoxy to prevent black band disease on corals from spreading, as well as surgically removing affected tissue

(Raymundo *et al.*, 2008). These direct techniques can be very effective, reducing tissue loss by up to 30 percent in treated corals (Aeby *et al.*, 2015). However, this approach is very labour intensive and impractical over large areas.

Innovative strategies have shown promising results, such as **phage therapy**, which is the treatment of a bacterial disease with a virus. Phage therapy is a promising alternative to antibiotics. It has been successfully applied in aquaculture to mitigate bacterial pathogens in several species, such as catfish (Clarias batrachusm), ayu fish (Plecoglossus altivelis) and shrimp (Penaeus monodon; Oliveira et al., 2012). Also, coral bacterial pathogens have been treated through phage therapy, such as Vibrio corallilyticus (Efrony et al., 2007, 2009; Atad et al., 2012; Cohen et al., 2013) and Thalassomonas loyana (Efrony et al., 2007, 2009). Phage therapy has been successfully used to control T. loyana, a bacterium that can cause white plague-like disease in the coral Favia favus (Thompson et al., 2006). Treatment inhibited the progression and transmission of white plague-like disease to neighbouring corals in both a laboratory experiment (Efrony et al., 2007) and a seven-week field trial in the Red Sea (Atad et al., 2012). The logistics associated with large-scale applications of phage therapy on coral reefs have not been studied thoroughly enough to be considered for large-scale applications in the Great Barrier Reef. A better understanding of feasible coral disease mitigation strategies is required, including a better understanding of disease etiology, the establishment of a robust coral disease diagnostic system (Pollock et al., 2011) and the development of practical and safe delivery methods that can be scaled.

Given the importance of microbial relationships on the Reef, any intervention that aims to disrupt deleterious (i.e. disease-causing) relationships, runs the risk of unintentionally affecting unrelated microbes. For example, manual treatment of coral disease has the potential for further disease transmission through infected tools and other equipment. Phage therapy releases a virus which has the capacity to self-replicate and evolve, potentially spreading uncontrollably throughout an ecosystem. Once introduced into the open reef ecosystem, it would be virtually impossible to control or remove.

### 5.2.3 Biocontrol

Interventions that aim to control crown-of-thorns starfish are already implemented, particularly on high-value tourism sites on the Great Barrier Reef. These interventions could potentially be extended to other predatory or competing species that are reducing coral cover or impeding recovery following a disturbance. This report only addresses the removal of macroalgae and *Drupella* spp. (a predatory snail). For more information on crown-of-thorns starfish the reader is directed to Westcott *et al.*, (2016).

### Macroalgal removal

Macroalgae occur naturally in coral reef ecosystems (Fulton *et al.*, 2016). Yet, when the ecosystem is under pressure, macroalgae can become so abundant they overgrow corals, prevent settlement, and outcompete recruits, which can cause phase shifts from coral to macroalgal domination (Marimuthu *et al.*, 2016; Ceccarelli *et al.*, 2018). Phase shifts from coral to algal-dominated states have been recorded primarily on Caribbean reefs (e.g. Hughes 1994; Mumby 2009), although general declines in coral cover and corresponding increases in macroalgal cover have been reported on the Great Barrier Reef (Hatcher, 1984; Done, 1992; Done *et al.*, 2007; Diaz-Pulido *et al.*, 2009; Cheal *et al.*, 2010; De'ath *et al.*, 2012). Macroalgae have the potential to negatively affect corals directly and indirectly through shading, space occupation, abrasion, pathogen transmission, chemical inhibition, and fueling detrimental

microbial pathways (Birrell *et al.*, 2008; Morrow *et al.*, 2011; Vega Thurber *et al.*, 2012). Specifically, macroalgae can reduce coral <u>fecundity</u> (Cetz-Navarro *et al.*, 2015), inhibit larval recruitment and <u>metamorphosis</u> (Baird and Morse, 2004; Webster *et al.*, 2015), and reduce juvenile growth and survival (Hughes *et al.*, 2007, Webster *et al.*, 2015). Macroalgae reduced survival of nursery-reared *Acropora* coral (van Woesik *et al.*, 2017) and growth and fecundity of *Acropora* coral was significantly higher when macroalgae was cleared (Tanner, 1995).

Macroalgae removal aims to enhance coral survival, growth, and recovery in areas where competition for space exists. Manual removal of macroalgae is labour-intensive. When conducted by a diver, it can be completed by hand or with tools to facilitate removal (e.g. scraper, suction device). For enhanced and longer-term results (months to years), macroalgal holdfasts must be fully removed (Loffler and Hoey, 2017). Biologically-assisted macroalgal removal, such as herbivory by urchins (Stimson *et al.*, 2007; Barlow *et al.*, 2010; Idjadi *et al.*, 2010) herbivorous fishes (Trapon *et al.*, 2013), and crustaceans (Spadaro 2014) present the greatest potential for long-term management of macroalgae and enhancement of coral recruitment on coral reefs, as manual removal by divers requires regular maintenance to suppress regrowth (Hancock *et al.*, 2017).

The potential costs, benefits and risks of active removal of macroalgae for coral reef restoration are largely unknown (Tanner, 1995; van Woesik *et al.*, 2017). Macroalgae occur naturally and, on healthy reefs, have positive effects on coral reef ecosystems; hence, their removal presents ecological risks. Macroalgae removal could influence local biodiversity by limiting food and habitat, as well as reducing recruitment of fish larvae (Wilson *et al.*, 2010; Evans *et al.*, 2014; Radulovich *et al.*, 2015; Streit *et al.*, 2015). (Box 7).

### Box 8: Is removing macroalgae a good idea?

Ceccarelli *et al.*, 2018 reviewed the available literature regarding positive and negative ecosystem effects of macroalgae, and how macroalgae removal may affect the ecosystem. Excerpts below are from the main conclusions of the review paper reproduced here with permission from the author.

Despite the documented deleterious effects of macroalgae on coral populations, there is very little literature documenting macroalgae removal as a tool for reef restoration. Algae removal is sometimes conducted as part of the maintenance regime in coral transplantation projects, but is rarely quantified (Shaish *et al.,* 2010; Forrester *et al.,* 2012; Frias-Torres & van de Geer, 2015). Eight case studies across the Caribbean, Indian and Pacific Oceans illustrate the potential successes and failures of macroalgae removal. Removal was conducted by divers, either entirely by hand or assisted with hand tools and/or a suction device.

Two important insights were gained from the case studies:

- Combined enhanced herbivory and active algae removal was optimal (Hancock *et al.,* 2017).
- It is necessary to remove the anchoring holdfast to prevent immediate regrowth (Loffler & Hoey 2017).

Very little data exist to support an evaluation of the long-term success of macroalgae removal as a reef restoration technique. Given the widely reported negative effects of increasing macroalgal cover or biomass on coral reefs generally, the expectation of a positive effect on the settlement and growth of corals appears reasonable (van Woesik *et al.,* 2017). The following considerations should guide the evaluation of algae removal as a management tool:

- Establishing the need for removal by demonstrating a phase shift or 'threshold' abundance of macroalgae: the macroalgal abundance level that should trigger intervention will vary by site. Ideally, this threshold would be based on temporal changes in macroalgal abundance and corresponding declines in coral juvenile abundance and/or adult coral cover, but in many instances such data do not exist. In an ideal scenario, macroalgal biomass would be reduced to levels prior to the increase.
- 2. Interaction with herbivory: Previous studies suggest the most successful removal efforts were coupled with an introduction of herbivores if their density is low (Hancock et al. 2017). Re-introducing or protecting herbivores prior to algal removal can allow the herbivores to establish control by consuming new plants and prevent regrowth of existing ones. With effective protection, herbivore populations can recover rapidly and reach unfished biomass within a year (Mumby et al. 2006).
- 3. **Methods and logistics:** Macroalgal reduction is usually undertaken by hand, with or without scrapers or suction devices. Information is needed on the optimal size of cleared patches, and the frequency of macroalgal reduction. Removal during the early growing season may be more effective than late in the growth period. The success of removal methods will depend on biological characteristics that vary extensively among algal morphs and species.
- 4. **Potential negative effects of macroalgae removal**: Removal of algal holdfasts may disturb or damage the substrate and may injure corals and other benthic

organisms. For example, *Sargassum* spp. generally negatively impact coral (e.g. shade, space domination, abrasion, hostile allelochemistry), but their removal may open space for the potentially more detrimental ephemeral algae, which, despite its short-lived nature, can form dense carpets that deplete oxygen and kill or stress the benthos. Removing plant biomass and physical structure may result in declines in other taxa such as fishes—especially species that recruit into stands of macroalgae—and affect microbial, physical, and chemical parameters. These risks should be assessed prior to large-scale macroalgae removal on coral reefs.



Conceptual diagram summarising positive (green) and negative (red) effects of fleshy macroalgae on coral reefs. Reproduced from Ceccarrelli *et al.*, 2018

- 5. **Response of corals to macroalgae removal and controlling chronic stressors:** Following algal removal many factors likely to affect the recruitment, growth and survival of corals include connectivity to larval sources, the quality of the receiving environment, the availability of suitable settlement substratum, and other natural and anthropogenic drivers of coral communities. The success of removal projects may be enhanced by simultaneous interventions to enhance coral recruitment. It will also depend on controlling chronic stressors.
- Measures of success: The performance indicators for restoration success should be clearly defined and measured with standard scientific principles<sup>1</sup> (McDonald *et al.,* 2016). Local management teams may begin with short-term, small-scale goals, scaling up measures of success as a restoration program expands. Hein *et al.,* (2017) proposed 10 socioecological indicators of reef restoration success: coral

<sup>1</sup> Common to all interventions not just macroalgal removal.

diversity, herbivore biomass and diversity, benthic cover, recruitment, coral health, reef structural complexity, reef-user satisfaction, stewardship, capacity building, economic value. Immediate, short-term and long-term measures of success need to be considered in the sampling design. The measure of success for a macroalgae reduction program should ultimately be whether coral and algal cover have returned to baseline pre-disturbance levels, and whether the remaining macroalgal beds are fulfilling the role of nursery, habitat and food for dependent species.

### Drupella management

In certain circumstances predation by species other than crown-of-thorns starfish may negatively impact coral cover and recovery from disturbance. Coral-eating snails of the genus *Drupella* can cause significant coral mortality at local scales and on remnant populations following impacts (e.g. Cros and McClanahan 2003; Bruckner *et al.*, 2017). Collection and removal of coral-eating snails by hand to protect corals has been shown to be effective at limited spatial and temporal scales (Miller, 2001; Williams *et al.*, 2014). Further, manual removal of a common Caribbean coral-eating snail (*Coralliophila abbreviata*) increased the resistance and recovery of treated corals (*Pseudodiploria* and *Diploria* spp.) to bleaching (Shaver *et al.*, 2018).

Push-pull technologies use pheromones or other chemical signals to disperse or aggregate pest species as part of integrated pest-control strategies. 'Push' technologies (in development for crown-of-thorns starfish), release chemicals from natural predators, which may elicit a strong escape response in the target species (e.g. Paterson, 1990; Hall *et al.*, 2017). If such compounds were characterised and synthesised for coral predators such as *Drupella* snails, they could potentially be deployed in high-value coral reef areas to reduce predation. A risk of push technologies is that they may disperse predators rather than reducing their population levels. In contrast, pull-technologies draw in the target species so that they can be trapped and more cost-effectively removed. Potential pull technologies could be based on feeding, sexual or other aggregative pheromones (Kita *et al.*, 2005). The spatial and temporal scales at which push-pull technologies could be deployed are presently limited to sites, and time scales of months. Application at larger scales will require innovation in deployment such as biodegradable, single-use, slow-release units.

Risks include potentially disrupting the biology and ecology of other species, and currently little is known about how push-pull technologies may interfere with other reef species. Developing species-specific technologies may be necessary, particularly for pheromone-based pull techniques. Further research and development are required to determine if *Drupella* predation is a problem and to quantify the benefits and risks of push-pull technologies.

Biological control of *Drupella* by natural predators offers an alternative approach to protect highvalue corals (e.g. Cros and McClanahan 2003; Bruckner *et al.*, 2017). Modelling indicates that abundant predator populations such as mutualistic crabs that inhabit corals (McKeon and Moore, 2014; Samsuri *et al.*, 2018) could provide effective control of *Drupella* populations (Ratianasingh *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, outplanting restored corals with biological control organisms could protect corals from predation but will need to account for crab/coral-host specificity and an ability to be bred in captivity. Assuming no major barriers to breeding, small-scale deployment of crabs combined with manual removal or trapping of *Drupella* may be feasibile.

If methods of biological control prove to be effective in reducing coral mortality, they could be combined with transplantation-based interventions to ensure post-deplyment success. Risks from stocking cultured crabs include introducing disease and biosecurity and would need to be carefully controlled. Ecological risks to other reef fauna would need to be examined.

# REFERENCES

AAP (2006) Reef shade structures almost a reality. Sydney Morning Herald. [URL https://www.smh.com.au/national/reef-shade-structures-almost-a-reality-20060203-gdmwer.html; Accessed 21 Jan 2019]

Abdelrahman H, ElHady M, Alcivar-Warren A, Allen S, Al-Tobasei R, Bao L, Beck B, Blackburn H, Bosworth B, Buchanan J, Chappell J, Daniels W, Dong S, Dunham R, Durland E, Elaswad A, Gomez-Chiarri M, Gosh K, Guo X, Hackett P, Hanson T, Hedgecock D, Howard T, Holland L, Jackson M, Jin Y, Kahlil K, Kocher T, Leeds T, Li N, Lindsey L, Liu S, Liu Z, Martin K, Novriadi R, Odin R, Palti Y, Peatman E, Proestou D, Qin G, Reading B, Rexroad C, Roberts S, Salem M, Severin A, Shi H, Shoemaker C, Stiles S, Tan S, Tang KFJ, Thongda W, Tiersch T, Tomasso J, Prabowo WT, Vallejo R, Steen H, Vo K, Waldbieser G, Wang H, Wang X, Xiang J, Yang Y, Yant R, Yuan Z, Zeng Q, Zhou T (2017) Aquaculture genomics, genetics and breeding in the United States: current status, challenges, and priorities for future research. BMC Genomics 18:1–23

Abrego D, Ulstrup KE, Willis BL, van Oppen MJH (2008) Species specific interactions between algal endosymbionts and coral hosts define their bleaching response to heat and light stress. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences

Adams LM, Cumbo VR, Takabayashi M (2009) Exposure to sediment enhances primary acquisition of Symbiodinium by asymbiotic coral larvae. Marine Ecology Progress Series 377:149–156

Aeby GS, Work TM, Runyon CM, Shore-Maggio A, Ushijima B, Videau P, Beurmann S, Callahan SM (2015) First record of black band disease in the Hawaiian archipelago: Response, outbreak status, virulence, and a method of treatment. PloS One 10:1–17

Ahlm L, Jones A, Stjern WC, Muri H, Kravitz B, Kristjánsson JE (2017) Marine cloud brightening - As effective without clouds. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 17:13071–13087

Ainsworth TD, Thurber RVL, Gates RD (2010) The future of coral reefs: a microbial perspective. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 25:233–240

Aitken SN, Whitlock MC (2013) Assisted gene flow to facilitate local adaptation to climate change. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 44:367–388

Alagely A, Krediet CJ, Ritchie KB, Teplitski M (2011) Signaling-mediated cross talk modulates swarming and biofilm formation in a coral pathogen *Serratia marcescens*. The ISME Journal 5:1609–1620

Albrecht BA (1989) Aerosols, cloud microphysics, and fractional cloudiness. Science 245:1227– 1230

Anthony K, Bay LK, Costanza R, Firn J, Gunn J, Harrison P, Heyward A, Lundgren P, Mead D, Moore T, Mumby PJ, van Oppen MJH, Robertson J, Runge MC, Suggett DJ, Schaffelke B, Wachenfeld D, Walshe T (2017) New interventions are needed to save coral reefs. Nature Ecology & Evolution 1:1420–1422

```
Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program, a partnership
```

Anthony KRN, Hoogenboom MO, Maynard JA, Grottoli AG, Middlebrook R (2009) Energetics approach to predicting mortality risk from environmental stress: a case study of coral bleaching. Functional Ecology 23:539–550

Arnold ML (1992) Natural hybridization as an evolutionary process. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 23:237–261

Atad I, Zvuloni A, Loya Y, Rosenberg E (2012) Phage therapy of the white plague-like disease of Favia favus in the Red Sea. Coral Reefs 31:665–670

Babcock RC (1991) Comparative demography of three species of scleractinian corals using ageand size- dependent classifications. Ecological Monographs 61:225–244

Babcock RC, Bull GD, Harrison PL, Heyward AJ, Oliver JK, Wallace CC, Willis BL (1986) Synchronous spawning of 105 coral species on the Great Barrier Reef. Marine Biology 90:379– 394

Babcock RC, Milton DA, Pratchett MS (2016) Relationships between size and reproductive output in the crown-of-thorns starfish. Marine Biology 163:234

Baillie BK, Belda-Baillie CA, Silvestre V, Sison M, Gomez AV, Gomez ED, Monje V (2000) Genetic variation in Symbiodinium isolates from giant clams based on random-amplifiedpolymorphic DNA (RAPD) patterns. Marine Biology 136:829–836

Bainbridge SJ (2017) Temperature and light patterns at four reefs along the Great Barrier Reef during the 2015–2016 austral summer: understanding patterns of observed coral bleaching. Journal of Operational Oceanography 10:16–29

Baine M (2001) Artificial reefs: a review of their design, application, management and performance. Ocean and Coastal Management 44:241–259

Baird AH, Babcock RC, Mundy CP (2003) Habitat selection by larvae influences the depth distribution of six common coral species. Marine Ecology Progress Series 252:289–293

Baird AH, Cumbo VR, Leggat W, Rodriguez-Lanetty M (2007) Fidelity and flexibility in coral symbioses. Marine Ecology Progress Series 347:307–309

Baird AH, Guest JR, Willis BL (2009) Systematic and Biogeographical Patterns in the Reproductive Biology of Scleractinian Corals. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 40:551–571

Baird AH, Morse ANC (2004) Induction of metamorphosis in larvae of the brooding corals *Acropora palifera* and *Stylophora pistillata*. Marine and Freshwater Research 55:469–472

Baker AC (1999) The symbiosis ecology of reef-building corals. University of Miami

Baker AC (2003) Flexibility and Specificity in Coral-Algal Symbiosis: Diversity, Ecology, and Biogeography of Symbiodinium. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 34:661–689

Baker AC, Rowan R (1997) Diversity of symbiotic dinoflagellates (zooxanthellae) in Scleractinian Corals of the Caribbean and Eastern Pacific. 2:1301–1306

Baker AC, Starger CJ, McClanahan TR, Glynn PW (2002) Corals' adaptive response to climate change. Nature 430:741–741

Barlow A, Desjardins M, Duncan M, Keller W, Leos C, Murphy J, Nash J, Nordschow A, Runyon C, Hill J, Others (2010) Distribution and abundance of Montipora dilatata and introduction of Tripneustes gratilla for mitigation of invasive algae (Kappaphycus spp.) in Kane'ohe Bay, Oahu, Hawai'i, 2010. University of Hawaii-Manoa BIOL403 (Field Problems in Marine Biology) 1–20

Barnes GT (2008) The potential for monolayers to reduce the evaporation of water from large water storages. Agricultural Water Management 95:339–353

Barott KL, Rohwer FL (2012) Unseen players shape benthic competition on coral reefs. Trends in Microbiology 20:621–628

Barrett RDH, Schluter D (2008) Adaptation from standing genetic variation. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 23:38–44

Barton JA, Willis BL, Hutson KS (2017) Coral propagation: a review of techniques for ornamental trade and reef restoration. Reviews in Aquaculture 9:238–256

Baumann J, Grottoli AG, Hughes AD, Matsui Y (2014) Photoautotrophic and heterotrophic carbon in bleached and non-bleached coral lipid acquisition and storage. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 461:469–478

Baums IB (2008) A restoration genetics guide for coral reef conservation. Molecular Ecology 17:2796–2811

Bay LK, Howells EJ, van Oppen MJH (2009a) Isolation, characterisation and cross amplification of thirteen microsatellite loci for coral endo-symbiotic dinoflagellates (Symbiodinium clade C). Conservation Genetics Resources 1:199

Bay LK, Ulstrup KE, Nielsen HB, Jarmer H, Goffard N, Willis BL, Miller DJ, van Oppen MJH (2009b) Microarray analysis reveals transcriptional plasticity in the reef building coral acropora millepora. Molecular Ecology 18:3062–3075

Bell JJ, Davy SK, Jones T, Taylor MW, Webster NS (2013) Could some coral reefs become sponge reefs as our climate changes? Global Change Biology 19:2613–2624

Bednarz V, Cardini U, van Hoytema N, Al-Rshaidat M, Wild C (2015) Seasonal variation in dinitrogen fixation and oxygen fluxes associated with two dominant zooxanthellate soft corals from the northern Red Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 519:141–152

Benner SA, Sismour AM (2005) Synthetic biology. Nature Reviews Genetics 6:533–543

Bergé J-P, Barnathan G (2005) Fatty acids from lipids of marine organisms: molecular biodiversity, roles as biomarkers, biologically active compounds, and economical aspects. Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology 96:49–125

Berkelmans R (2002) Time-integrated thermal bleaching thresholds of reefs and their variation on the Great Barrier Reef. Marine Ecology Progress Series 229:73–82

Berkelmans R, van Oppen MJH (2006) The role of zooxanthellae in the thermal tolerance of corals: a "nugget of hope" for coral reefs in an era of climate change. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 273:2305–2312

Bessell-Browne P, Negri AP, Fisher R, Clode PL, Jones R (2017) Impacts of light limitation on corals and crustose coralline algae. Scientific Reports 7:1–12

Birrell CL McCook LJ, Willis BL, Diaz-Pulido (2008). Effects on benthic algae on the replenishment of corals and the implications for the resilience of coral reefs. Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review 46: 25 – 63

Birrell CL, McCook LJ, Willis BL, Harrington L (2008) Chemical effects of macroalgae on larval settlement of the broadcast spawning coral Acropora millepora. Marine Ecology Progress Series 362:129–137

Blakeway D, Byers M, Stoddart J, Rossendell J (2013) Coral colonisation of an artificial reef in a turbid nearshore environment, Dampier Harbour, Western Australia. PloS One 8:e75281

Bongaerts P, Riginos C, Ridgway T, Sampayo EM, van Oppen MJH, Englebert N, Vermeulen F, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2010) Genetic divergence across habitats in the widespread coral Seriatopora hystrix and its associated Symbiodinium. PloS One 5:

Bourne D, Iida Y, Uthicke S, Smith-Keune C (2008) Changes in coral-associated microbial communities during a bleaching event. The ISME Journal 2:350–363

Bourne DG, Morrow KM, Webster NS (2016) Insights into the Coral Microbiome: Underpinning the Health and Resilience of Reef Ecosystems. Annual Review of Microbiology 70:317–340

Brown BE, Cossins AR (2011) The Potential for Temperature Acclimatisation of Reef Corals in the Face of Climate Change. In: Dubinsky Z., Stambler N. (eds) Coral Reefs: An Ecosystem in Transition. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp 421–433

Bruckner AW, Coward G, Bimson K, Rattanawongwan T (2017) Predation by feeding aggregations of Drupella spp. inhibits the recovery of reefs damaged by a mass bleaching event. Coral Reefs 36:1181–1187

Burnett WJ (2002) Longitudinal variation in algal symbionts (zooxanthellae) from the Indian Ocean zoanthid, Palythoa caesia. Marine Ecology Progress Series2 234:105–109

Burriesci MS, Raab TK, Pringle JR (2012) Evidence that glucose is the major transferred metabolite in dinoflagellate-cnidarian symbiosis. Journal of Experimental Biology 215:3467–3477

Cantin NE, van Oppen MJH, Willis BL, Mieog JC, Negri AP (2009) Juvenile corals can acquire more carbon from high-performance algal symbionts. Coral Reefs 28:405

Cardini U, Bednarz VN, Naumann MS, van Hoytema N, Rix L, Foster RA, Al-Rshaidat MMD, Wild C (2015) Functional significance of dinitrogen fixation in sustaining coral productivity under

oligotrophic conditions. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 282 doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.2257

Ceccarelli DM, Loffler Z, Bourne DG, Al Moajil-Cole GS, Boström-Einarsson L, Evans-Illidge E, Fabricius K, Glasl B, Marshall P, McLeod I, Read M, Schaffelke B, Smith AK, Jorda GT, Williamson DH, Bay L (2018) Rehabilitation of coral reefs through removal of macroalgae: state of knowledge and considerations for management and implementation: Coral reef macroalgae: role and removal. Restoration Ecology 26:827–838

Certner RH, Vollmer SV (2015) Evidence for Autoinduction and Quorum Sensing in White Band Disease-Causing Microbes on *Acropora cervicornis*. Scientific Reports 5:11134

Cetz-Navarro NP, Carpizo-Ituarte EJ, Espinoza-Avalos J, Chee-Barragán G (2015) The effect of filamentous turf algal removal on the development of gametes of the coral Orbicella annularis. PloS One 10:1–14

Chakravarti LJ, Beltran VH, van Oppen MJH (2017) Rapid thermal adaptation in photosymbionts of reef-building corals. Global Change Biology 23:4675–4688

Chakravarti LJ, van Oppen MJH (2018) Experimental Evolution in Coral Photosymbionts as a Tool to Increase Thermal Tolerance. Frontiers in Marine Science 5:227

Chalker BE, Barnes DJ (1990) Gamma densitometry for the measurement of skeletal density. Coral Reefs 9:11–23

Chamberland VF, Vermeij MJ, Brittsan M, Carl M, Schick, M, Snowden S, Schrier A,

Petersen D. (2015). Restoration of critically endangered elkhorn coral (*Acropora palmata*) populations using larvae reared from wild-caught gametes. Global Ecology and Conservation, 4: 526-537

Chamberland VF, Petersen D, Guest JR, Petersen U, Brittsan M, Vermeij MJA (2017) New Seeding Approach Reduces Costs and Time to Outplant Sexually Propagated Corals for Reef Restoration. Scientific Reports 7:18076

Chan WY, Peplow LM, Menéndez P, Hoffmann AA, van Oppen MJH (2018) Interspecific Hybridization May Provide Novel Opportunities for Coral Reef Restoration. Frontiers in Marine Science 5:160

Chan WY, Peplow LM, van Oppen MJH (2019). Interspecific gamete compatibility and hybrid larval fitness in reefbuilding corals: Implications for coral reef restoration. Scientific Reports 9: 4757

Cheal AJ, MacNeil MA, Cripps E, Emslie MJ, Jonker M, Schaffelke B, Sweatman H (2010) Coralmacroalgal phase shifts or reef resilience: Links with diversity and functional roles of herbivorous fishes on the Great Barrier Reef. Coral Reefs 29:1005–1015

Clark S, Edwards AJ (1994) Use of artificial reef structures to rehabilitate reef flats degraded by coral mining in the Maldives. Bulletin of Marine Science 55:724–744

Coelho VR, Fenner D, Caruso C, Bayles BR, Huang Y, Birkeland C (2017) Shading as a mitigation tool for coral bleaching in three common Indo-Pacific species. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 497:152–163

Coffroth MA, Lewis CF, Santos SR, Weaver JL (2006) Environmental populations of symbiotic dinoflagellates in the genus Symbiodinium can initiate symbioses with reef cnidarians. Current Biology 16:985–987

Cohen Y, Joseph Pollock F, Rosenberg E, Bourne DG (2013) Phage therapy treatment of the coral pathogen Vibrio corallilyticus. MicrobiologyOpen 2:64–74

Coles SL, Brown BE (2003) Coral bleaching-capacity for acclimatization and adaptation. Advances in Marine Biology 46:183–223

Coles SL, Jokiel PL (1978) Synergistic effects of temperature, salinity and light on the hermatypic coral Montipora verrucosa. Marine Biology 49:187–195

Coles SL, Jokiel PL, Lewis CR (1976) Thermal tolerance in tropical versus subtropical Pacific reef corals. Pacific Science 30:159–166

Coles SL, Riegl BM (2013) Thermal tolerances of reef corals in the Gulf: A review of the potential for increasing coral survival and adaptation to climate change through assisted translocation. Marine Pollution Bulletin 72:323–332

Conlan JA, Humphrey CA, Severati A, Francis DS (2017) Influence of different feeding regimes on the survival, growth, and biochemical composition of *Acropora* coral recruits. PloS One 12:e0188568

Connolly SR, Lopez-Yglesias MA, Anthony KRN (2012) Food availability promotes rapid recovery from thermal stress in a scleractinian coral. Coral Reefs 31:951–960

Cooper G, Foster J, Galbraith L, Jain S, Neukermans A, Ormond B (2014) Preliminary results for salt aerosol production intended for marine cloud brightening, using effervescent spray atomization. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 372:20140055–20140055

Crook JA, Jackson LS, Forster PM (2016) Can increasing albedo of existing ship wakes reduce climate change? Journal of Geophysical Research, D: Atmospheres 121:1549–1558

Cunning R, Baker AC (2014) Not just who, but how many: The importance of partner abundance in reef coral symbioses. Frontiers in Microbiology 5:1–10

Cunning R, Silverstein RN, Baker AC (2015a) Investigating the causes and consequences of symbiont shuffling in a multi-partner reef coral symbiosis under environmental change. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 282:20141725–20141725

Cunning R, Yost DM, Guarinello ML, Putnam HM, Gates RD (2015b) Variability of Symbiodinium Communities in Waters, Sediments, and Corals of Thermally Distinct Reef Pools in American Samoa. PloS One 10:e0145099

D'Angelo C, Wiedenmann J (2014) Impacts of nutrient enrichment on coral reefs: new perspectives and implications for coastal management and reef survival. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 7:82–93

Damjanovic K, Blackall LL, Webster NS, van Oppen MJH (2017) The contribution of microbial biotechnology to mitigating coral reef degradation. Microbial Biotechnology 10:1236–1243

Davy SK, Allemand D, Weis VM (2012) Cell Biology of Cnidarian-Dinoflagellate Symbiosis. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 76:229–261

De'ath G, Fabricius KE, Sweatman H, Puotinen M (2012) The 27-year decline of coral cover on the Great Barrier Reef and its causes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109:17995–17999

Deacon EL (1979) The role of coral mucus in reducing the wind drag over coral reefs. Boundary-Layer Meteorology 17:517–521

dela Cruz DW, Harrison PL (2017) Enhanced larval supply and recruitment can replenish reef corals on degraded reefs. Scientific Reports 7:1–13

Diaz-Pulido G, McCook LJ, Dove S, Berkelmans R, Roff G, Kline DI, Weeks S, Evans RD, Williamson DH, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2009) Doom and boom on a resilient reef: Climate change, algal overgrowth and coral recovery. PloS One 4:

Dixon G, Liao Y, Bay LK, Matz MV (2018) Role of gene body methylation in acclimatization and adaptation in a basal metazoan. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 115:13342–13346

Dixon GB, Davies SW, Aglyamova GV, Meyer E, Bay LK, Matz MV (2015) Genomic determinants of coral heat tolerance across latitudes. Science 348:1460–1462

Domart-Coulon IJ, Sinclair CS, Hill RT, Tambutte S, Puverel S, Ostrander GK (2004) A basidiomycete isolated from the skeleton of *Pocillopora damicornis* (Scleractinia) selectively stimulates short-term survival of coral skeletogenic cells. Marine Biology 144:583–592

Done TJ (1992) Phase shifts in coral reef communities and their ecological significance. Hydrobiologia 121–132

Done TJ, Turak E, Wakeford M, DeVantier LM, McDonald A, Fisk D (2007) Decadal changes in turbid-water coral communities at Pandora Reef: Loss of resilience or too soon to tell? Coral Reefs 26:789–805

Donner SD, Skirving WJ, Little CM, Oppenheimer M, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2005) Global assessment of coral bleaching and required rates of adaptation under climate change. Global Change Biology 11:2251–2265

Doropoulos C, Roff G, Bozec Y-M, Zupan M, Werminghausen J, Mumby PJ (2016) Characterizing the ecological trade-offs throughout the early ontogeny of coral recruitment. Ecological Monographs 86:20–44

```
Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program, a partnership
```

Doropoulos C, Elzinga J, ter Hofstede R, van Koningsveld M, Babcock RC (2019). Optimizing industrial-scale coral reef restoration: comparing harvesting wild coral spawn slicks and transplanting gravid adult colonies. Restoration Ecology <u>doi.org/10.1111/rec.12918</u>

Douglas AE (1998) Host benefit and the evolution of specialization in symbiosis. Heredity 81:599

Dowling TE, Secor CL (1997) The role of hybridization and introgression in the diversification of animals. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 28:593–619

Dulvy NK, Freckleton RP, Polunin NVC (2004) Coral reef cascades and the indirect effects of predator removal by exploitation. Ecology Letters 7:410–416

Dunlap WC, Shick JM (1998) Review - Ultraviolet radiation-absorbing Mycosporine-like amino acids in coral reef organisms: A biochemical and environmental perspective. Journal of Phycology 34:418–430

Dunn SR, Weis VM (2009) Apoptosis as a post-phagocytic winnowing mechanism in a coraldinoflagellate mutualism. Environmental Microbiology 11:268–276

Edmands S (2007) Between a rock and a hard place: Evaluating the relative risks of inbreeding and outbreeding for conservation and management. Molecular Ecology 16:463–475

Edwards AJ, Guest JR, Heyward AJ, Villanueva RD, Baria MV, Bollozos ISF, Golbuu Y (2015) Direct seeding of mass-cultured coral larvae is not an effective option for reef rehabilitation. Marine Ecology Progress Series 525:105–116

Efrony R, Atad I, Rosenberg E (2009) Phage therapy of coral white plague disease: Properties of phage BA3. Current Microbiology 58:139–145

Efrony R, Loya Y, Bacharach E, Rosenberg E (2007) Phage therapy of coral disease. Coral Reefs 26:7–13

Eidens C, Bayraktarov E, Pizarro V, Wilke T, Wild C (2012) Seasonal upwelling stimulates primary production of Colombian Caribbean coral reefs. Proceedings of the 12th International Coral Reef Symposium 9–13

Elena SF, Lenski RE (2003) Evolution experiments with microorganisms: The dynamics and genetic bases of adaptation. Nature Reviews Genetics 4:457–469

Ellegren H, Galtier N (2016) Determinants of genetic diversity. Nature Reviews Genetics 17:422–433

Esvelt KM, Smidler AL, Catteruccia F, Church GM (2014) Concerning RNA-guided gene drives for the alteration of wild populations. eLife 3:1–21

Evans RD, Wilson SK, Field SN, Moore JAY (2014) Importance of macroalgal fields as coral reef fish nursery habitat in north-west Australia. Marine Biology 161:599–607

Evensen NR, Doropoulos C, Morrow KM, Motti CA, Mumby PJ (2019) Inhibition of coral settlement at multiple spatial scales by a pervasive algal competitor. Marine Ecology Progress Series 612:29-42.

Feil R, Fraga MF (2012) Epigenetics and the environment: Emerging patterns and implications. Nature Reviews Genetics 13:97–109

Flot JF, Blanchot J, Charpy L, Cruaud C, Licuanan WY, Nakano Y, Payri C, Tillier S (2011) Incongruence between morphotypes and genetically delimited species in the coral genus Stylophora: phenotypic plasticity, morphological convergence, morphological stasis or interspecific hybridization? BMC ecology 11:1–14

Fogarty ND (2012) Caribbean acroporid coral hybrids are viable across life history stages. Marine Ecology Progress Series 446:145–159

Forrester GE, Taylor K, Schofield S, Maynard A (2013) Colony growth of corals transplanted for restoration depends on their site of origin and environmental factors. Marine Ecology 34:186–192

Forster P, Crook JA, Jackson LS, Jenkins AKL (2014) Geoengineering Using Oceanic Microbubbles. AGU Fall Meeting Abstracts 2014:

Fox HE, Mous PJ, Pet JS, Muljadi AH, Caldwell RL (2005) Experimental assessment of coral reef rehabilitation following blast fishing. Conservation biology: The Journal of the Society for Conservation Biology 19:98–107

Frias-Torres S, van de Geer C (2015) Testing animal-assisted cleaning prior to transplantation in coral reef restoration. PeerJ 3:e1287–e1287

Fulton CJ, Noble MN, Radford B, Gallen C, Harasti D (2016) Microhabitat selectivity underpins regional indicators of fish abundance and replenishment. Ecological indicators 70:222–231

Gahan JM, Schnitzler CE, DuBuc TQ, Doonan LB, Kanska J, Gornik SG, Barreira S, Thompson K, Schiffer P, Baxevanis AD, Frank U (2017) Functional studies on the role of Notch signaling in Hydractinia development. Developmental Biology 428:224–231

Gardner JPA (1997) Hybridization in the Sea. pp 1–78

GBRMPA (2011) Grounding of the Shen Neng 1 on Douglas Shoal, April 2010: Impact assessment report. Townsville, Australia

Gibbin EM, Chakravarti LJ, Jarrold MD, Christen F, Turpin V, Massamba N'Siala G, Blier PU, Calosi P (2017) Can multi-generational exposure to ocean warming and acidification lead to the adaptation of life history and physiology in a marine metazoan? The Journal of Experimental Biology 220:551–563

Gierz SL, Forêt S, Leggat W (2017) Transcriptomic analysis of thermally stressed Symbiodinium reveals differential expression of stress and metabolism genes. Frontiers in Plant Science 8:1–20

Glasby TM, Connell SD, Holloway M, Hewitt C (2007) Nonindigenous biota on artificial structures: could habitat creation facilitate biological invasions? Marine Biology 151: 887-895.

Gleason DF (1993) Differential effects of ultraviolet radiation on green and brown morphs of the Caribbean coral Porites astreoides. Limnology and Oceanography 38:1452–1463

Gochfeld D, Aeby G (2008) Antibacterial chemical defenses in Hawaiian corals provide possible protection from disease. Marine Ecology Progress Series 362:119–128

Golbuu Y, van Woesik R, Richmond RH, Harrison PL, Fabricius KE (2011) River discharge reduces reef coral diversity in Palau. Marine Pollution Bulletin 62:824–831

Goreau T, Mcclanahan TR, Hayes R, Strong A (2000) Conservation of coral reefs after the 1998 bleaching event. Conservation Biology: The Journal of the Society for Conservation Biology 14:5–15

Goreau TJ, Goreau NI (1959) The physiology of skeleton formation in corals. II. Calcium deposition by hermatypic corals under various conditions in the reef. The Biological Bulletin 117:239–250

Goreau TJ, Trench RK (2013) Innovative methods of marine ecosystem restoration. CRC Press (Taylor & Francis Group), Boca Raton, Florida, USA, pp 312pp–312pp

Goyen S, Pernice M, Szabo M, Warner ME, Ralph PJ, Suggett DJ (2017) A molecular physiology basis for functional diversity of hydrogen peroxide production amongst Symbiodinium spp. (Dinophyceae). Marine Biology 164:1–12

Grégoire V, Schmacka F, Coffroth MA, Karsten U (2017) Photophysiological and thermal tolerance of various genotypes of the coral endosymbiont Symbiodinium sp. (Dinophyceae). Journal of Applied Phycology 29:1893–1905

Grottoli AG, Rodrigues LJ, Palardy JE (2006) Heterotrophic plasticity and resilience in bleached corals. Nature 440:1186–1189

Guest JR, Baria MV, Gomez ED, Heyward AJ, Edwards AJ (2014) Closing the circle: Is it feasible to rehabilitate reefs with sexually propagated corals? Coral Reefs 33:45–55

Guo X, Li Q, Wang QZ, Kong LF (2012) Genetic mapping and QTL analysis of growth-related traits in the Pacific oyster. Marine Biotechnology 14:218–226

Hadfield MG (2011) Biofilms and marine invertebrate larvae: What bacteria produce that larvae use to choose settlement sites. Annual Review of Marine Science 3:453–470

Hall MR, Kocot KM, Baughman KW, Fernandez-Valverde SL, Gauthier MEA, Hatleberg WL, Krishnan A, McDougall C, Motti CA, Shoguchi E, Wang T, Xiang X, Zhao M, Bose U, Shinzato C, Hisata K, Fujie M, Kanda M, Cummins SF, Satoh N, Degnan SM, Degnan BM (2017) The crownof-thorns starfish genome as a guide for biocontrol of this coral reef pest. Nature 544:231–234

Hancock B, Lewis K-A, Conklin E (2017) The restoration of coral reefs. Routledge, New York, New York, USA, pp 355–371

Handel AE, Ebers GC, Ramagopalan SV (2010) Epigenetics: molecular mechanisms and implications for disease. Trends in Molecular Medicine 16:7–16

Harrington L, Fabricius KE, De'Ath G, Negri A (2004) Recognition and selection of settlement substrata determine post-settlement survival in corals. Ecology 85:3428–3437

Harrison DP (2018) Could localized marine cloud brightening buy coral reefs time? Ocean Sciences Meeting AI44B–1733

Harrison PL (2011) Sexual Reproduction of Scleractinian Corals. In: Dubinsky Z., Stambler N. (eds) Springer, Dordrecht,

Harrison PL, Wallace CC, Dubinsky Z (1990) Ecosystems of the world: coral reefs. Reproduction, dispersal and recruitment of scleractinian corals Elsevier, Amnsterdam

Hatcher BG (1984) A maritime accident provides evidence for alternate stable states in benthic communities on coral reefs. Coral reefs 3:199–204

Hein MY, Birtles A, Willis BL, Gardiner N, Beeden R, Marshall NA (2019) Coral restoration: Socio-ecological perspectives of benefits and limitations. Biological conservation 229:14–25

Hein MY, Willis BL, Beeden R, Birtles A (2017) The need for broader ecological and socioeconomic tools to evaluate the effectiveness of coral restoration programs: Socioecological effectiveness of coral restoration revisited. Restoration Ecology 25:873–883

Henke JM, Bassler BL (2004) Three Parallel Quorum-Sensing Systems Regulate Gene Expression in *Vibrio harveyi*. Journal of Bacteriology 186:6902–6914

Hernandez-Agreda A, Gates RD, Ainsworth TD (2017) Defining the core microbiome in corals' microbial soup. Trends in microbiology 25:125–140

Hettinger A, Sanford E, Hill TM, Russell AD, Sato KNS, Hoey J, Forsch M, Page HN, Gaylord B (2012) Persistent carry-over effects of planktonic exposure to ocean acidification in the Olympia oyster. Ecology 93:2758–2768

Heyward AJ, Negri AP (1999) Natural inducers for coral larval metamorphosis. Coral reefs 18:273–279

Heyward AJ, Negri AP (2010) Plasticity of larval pre-competency in response to temperature: observations on multiple broadcast spawning coral species. Coral Reefs 29:631–636

Heyward AJ, Smith LD, Rees M, Field SN (2002) Enhancement of coral recruitment by in situ mass culture of cora larvae. Marine ecology progress series 230:113–118

Hoegh-Guldberg O (1999) Climate change, coral bleaching and the future of the world's coral reefs. Marine and Freshwater Research 50:839–839

Hoegh-Guldberg O (2012) The adaptation of coral reefs to climate change: Is the Red Queen being outpaced? Scientia marina 76:403–408

Hoegh-Guldberg O (2014) Coral reef sustainability through adaptation: Glimmer of hope or persistent mirage? Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 7:127–133

Hoegh-Guldberg O, Hughes L, McIntyre S, Lindenmayer DB, Parmesan C, Possingham HP, Thomas CD (2008) Assisted colonization and rapid climate change. Science 321:345–346

Hoegh-Guldberg O, McCloskey LR, Muscatine L (1987) Expulsion of zooxanthellae by symbiotic cnidarians from the Red Sea. Coral reefs 5:201–204

Holderegger R, Kamm U, Gugerli F (2006) Adaptive vs. neutral genetic diversity: Implications for landscape genetics. Landscape ecology 21:797–807

Hoogenboom MO, Frank GE, Chase TJ, Jurriaans S, Alvarez-Noriega M, Peterson K, Critchell K, Berry KLE, Nicolet KJ, Ramsby B, Paley AS (2017) Environmental Drivers of Variation in Bleaching Severity of Acropora Species during an Extreme Thermal Anomaly. Frontiers in Marine Science 4:1–16

Howells EJ, Beltran VH, Larsen NW, Bay LK, Willis BL, van Oppen MJH (2012) Coral thermal tolerance shaped by local adaptation of photosymbionts. Nature climate change 2:116–120

Howells EJ, Berkelmans R, van Oppen MJH, Willis BL, Bay LK (2013) Historical thermal regimes define limits to coral acclimatization. Ecology 94:1078–1088

Howells EJ, Ketchum RN, Bauman AG, Mustafa Y, Watkins KD, Burt JA (2016) Species-specific trends in the reproductive output of corals across environmental gradients and bleaching histories. Marine pollution bulletin 105:532–539

Hudson JH, Diaz R (1988) Damage survey and restoration of M/V wellwood grounding site, molasses reef, Key Largo National Marine Sanctuary, Florida. 231–236

Hufford KM, Mazer SJ (2003) Plant ecotypes: Genetic differentiation in the age of ecological restoration. Trends in ecology & evolution 18:147–155

Hughes TP (1994) Catastrophes, phase shifts, and large-scale degradation of a Caribbean coral reef. Science 265:1547–1551

Hughes TP, Rodrigues MJ, Bellwood DR, Ceccarelli DM, Hoegh-Guldberg O, McCook LJ, Moltschaniwskyj NA, Pratchett MS, Steneck RS, Willis BL (2007) Phase shifts, herbivory, and the resilience of coral reefs to climate change. Current biology: CB 17:360–365

Hughes TP, Kerry JT, Alvarez-Noriega M, Alvarez-Romero JG, Anderson KD, Baird AH, Babcock RC, Beger M, Bellwood DR, Berkelmans R, Bridge TC, Butler IR, Byrne M, Cantin NE, Comeau S, Connolly SR, Cumming GS, Dalton SJ, Diaz-Pulido G, Eakin CM, Figueira WF, Gilmour JP, Harrison HB, Heron SF, Hoey AS, Hobbs JPA, Hoogenboom MO, Kennedy EV, Kuo CY, Lough JM, Lowe RJ, Liu G, McCulloch MT, Malcolm HA, McWilliam MJ, Pandolfi JM, Pears RJ, Pratchett MS, Schoepf V, Simpson T, Skirving WJ, Sommer B, Torda G, Wachenfeld DR, Willis BL, Wilson SK (2017) Global warming and recurrent mass bleaching of corals. Nature 543:373–377

Hughes TP, Anderson KD, Connolly SR, Heron SF, Kerry JT, Lough JM, Baird AH, Baum JK, Berumen ML, Bridge TC, Claar DC, Eakin CM, Gilmour JP, Graham NAJ, Harrison H, Hobbs J-PA, Hoey AS, Hoogenboom M, Lowe RJ, McCulloch MT, Pandolfi JM, Pratchett M, Schoepf V, Torda G, Wilson SK (2018a) Spatial and temporal patterns of mass bleaching of corals in the Anthropocene. Science 359:80–83

Hughes TP, Kerry JT, Baird AH, Connolly SR, Dietzel A, Eakin CM, Heron SF, Hoey AS, Hoogenboom MO, Liu G, McWilliam MJ, Pears RJ, Pratchett MS, Skirving WJ, Stella JS, Torda G (2018b) Global warming transforms coral reef assemblages. Nature 1–5

Hughes TP, Kerry JT, Baird AH, Connolly SR, Chase TJ, Dietzel A, Hill T, Hoey AS, Hoogenboom MO, Jacobsen M, Kerswell A, Madin J, Mieog A, Paley AS, Pratchett MS, Torda G, Woods RM (2019) Global warming impairs stock-recruitment dynamics of corals transforms coral reef assemblages. Nature 568: 387–390

Hunter ML (2007) Climate change and moving species: Furthering the debate on assisted colonization. Conservation biology: the journal of the Society for Conservation Biology 21:1356–1358

Idjadi JA, Haring RN, Precht WF (2010) Recovery of the sea urchin *Diadema antillarum* promotes scleractinian coral growth and survivorship on shallow Jamaican reefs. Marine ecology progress series 403:91–100

Ikmi A, McKinney SA, Delventhal KM, Gibson MC (2014) TALEN and CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing in the early-branching metazoan *Nematostella vectensis*. Nature communications 5:1–8

Jin YK, Lundgren P, Lutz A, Raina J-B, Howells EJ, Paley AS, Willis BL, van Oppen MJH (2016) Genetic markers for antioxidant capacity in a reef-building coral. Science Advances 2:e1500842– e1500842

Johns KA, Emslie MJ, Hoey AS, Osborne K, Jonker MJ, Cheal AJ (2018) Macroalgal feedbacks and substrate properties maintain a coral reef regime shift. Ecosphere 9:e02349

Johnson JA, Altwegg R, Evans DM, Ewen JG, Gordon IJ, Pettorelli N, Young JK (2016) Is there a future for genome-editing technologies in conservation? Animal conservation 19:97–101

Jones AM, Berkelmans R, van Oppen MJH, Mieog JC, Sinclair W (2008) A community change in the algal endosymbionts of a scleractinian coral following a natural bleaching event: field evidence of acclimatization. Proceedings Biological sciences / The Royal Society 275:1359–1365

Jones G, Curran M, Swan H, Deschaseaux E (2017) Dimethylsulfide and coral bleaching: Links to solar radiation, low level cloud and the regulation of seawater temperatures and climate in the Great Barrier Reef. American Journal of Climate Change 06:328–359

Jones G, Ristovski Z (2010) Reef emissions affect climate. Australasian science incorporating search 26–28

Jones TA, Monaco TA (2009) A role for assisted evolution in designing native plant materials for domesticated landscapes. Frontiers in ecology and the environment 7:541–547

Kaebnick GE, Heitman E, Collins JP, Delborne JA, Landis WG, Taneyhill LA, Winickoff DE (2016) Precaution can be consistent with support of science. Science 354:710–711

Kassam Z, Lee CH, Yuan Y, Hunt RH (2013) Fecal microbiota transplantation for clostridium difficile infection: Systematic review and meta-analysis. The American journal of gastroenterology 108:500–508
Kemp DW, Thornhill DJ, Rotjan RD, Iglesias-Prieto R, Fitt WK, Schmidt GW (2015) Spatially distinct and regionally endemic Symbiodinium assemblages in the threatened Caribbean reefbuilding coral Orbicella faveolata. Coral reefs 34:535–547

Kimes NE, Van Nostrand JD, Weil E, Zhou J, Morris PJ (2010) Microbial functional structure of *Montastraea faveolata*, an important Caribbean reef-building coral, differs between healthy and yellow-band diseased colonies. Environmental Microbiology 12:541–556

Kirk NL, Howells EJ, Abrego D, Burt JA, Meyer E (2018) Genomic and transcriptomic signals of thermal tolerance in heat-tolerant corals (Platygyra daedalea) of the Arabian/Persian Gulf. Molecular ecology 27:5180–5194

Kirke B, Gezawy AE (1997) Design and model tests for an efficient mechanical circulator/aerator for lakes and reservoirs. Water research 31:1283–1290

Kirke BK (2000a) Circulation of Reservoirs: A Niche Market for Solar and Wind? Renewable Energy Transforming Business 593–601

Kirke BK (2000b) Circulation, destratification, mixing and aeration: why and how? WATER 16-21

Kirkwood M, Todd JD, Rypien KL, Johnston AWB (2010) The opportunistic coral pathogen *Aspergillus sydowii* contains *dddP* and makes dimethyl sulfide from dimethylsulfoniopropionate. The ISME Journal 4:147–150

Kita M, Kitamura M, Koyama T, Teruya T, Matsumoto H, Nakano Y, Uemura D (2005) Feeding attractants for the muricid gastropod Drupella cornus, a coral predator. Tetrahedron letters 46:8583–8585

Klosin A, Casas E, Hidalgo-Carcedo C, Vavouri T, Lehner B (2017) Transgenerational transmission of environmental information in C. elegans. Science 356:320–323

van Koningsveld M, ter Hofstede R, Elzinga J, Smolders T, Schutter M, Osinga R (2017) ReefGuard: A scientific approach to active reef rehabilitation. Terra et Aqua 5–16

Kreyling J, Bittner T, Jaeschke A, Jentsch A, Steinbauer MJ, Thiel D, Beierkuhnlein C (2011) Assisted colonization: a question of focal units and recipient localities. Restoration Ecology 19:433–440

Kvennefors ECE, Sampayo E, Kerr C, Vieira G, Roff G, Barnes AC (2012) Regulation of Bacterial Communities Through Antimicrobial Activity by the Coral Holobiont. Microbial Ecology 63:605–618

LaJeunesse TC (2001) Investigating the biodiversity, ecology, and phylogeny of endosymbiotic dinoflagellates in the genus Symbiodinium using the ITS region: in search of a "species" level marker. Journal of phycology 37:866–880

LaJeunesse TC (2002) Diversity and community structure of symbiotic dinoflagellates from Caribbean coral reefs. Marine biology 141:387–400

LaJeunesse TC, Loh WKW, van Woesik R, Hoegh-Guldberg O, Schmidt GW, Fitt WK (2003) Low symbiont diversity in southern Great Barrier Reef corals, relative to those of the Caribbean. Limnology and oceanography 48:2046–2054

Lapointe BE (1997) Nutrient thresholds for bottom-up control of macroalgal blooms on coral reefs in Jamaica and southeast Florida. Limnology and oceanography 42:1119–1131

Latham J (1990) Control of global warming? Nature 347:339-340

Latham J, Bower K, Choularton T, Coe H, Connolly P, Cooper G, Craft T, Foster J, Gadian A, Galbraith L, Iacovides H, Johnston D, Launder B, Leslie B, Meyer J, Neukermans A, Ormond B, Parkes B, Rasch P, Rush J, Salter S, Stevenson T, Wang H, Wang Q, Wood R (2012a) Marine cloud brightening. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 370:4217–4262

Latham J, Parkes B, Gadian A, Salter S (2012b) Weakening of hurricanes via marine cloud brightening (MCB). Atmospheric Science Letters 13:231–237

Leahy SM, Kingsford MJ, Steinberg CR (2013) Do clouds save the Great Barrier Reef? Satellite imagery elucidates the cloud-SST relationship at the local scale. PloS one 8:1–12

Lema KA, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2012) Corals Form Characteristic Associations with Symbiotic Nitrogen-Fixing Bacteria. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78:3136–3144

Lesser MP, Farrell JH (2004) Exposure to solar radiation increases damage to both host tissues and algal symbionts of corals during thermal stress. Coral reefs 23:367–377

Levin RA, Beltran VH, Hill R, Kjelleberg S, McDougald D, Steinberg PD, van Oppen MJH (2016) Sex, Scavengers, and Chaperones: Transcriptome Secrets of Divergent Symbiodinium Thermal Tolerances. Molecular biology and evolution 33:2201–2215

Levin RA, Suggett DJ, Nitschke MR, van Oppen MJH, Steinberg PD (2017a) Expanding the Symbiodinium (Dinophyceae, Suessiales) toolkit through protoplast technology. The Journal of eukaryotic microbiology 64:588–597

Levin RA, Voolstra CR, Agrawal S, Steinberg PD, Suggett DJ, van Oppen MJH (2017b) Engineering Strategies to Decode and Enhance the Genomes of Coral Symbionts. Frontiers in microbiology 8:1220

Liang J, Yu K, Wang Y, Huang X, Huang W, Qin Z, Pan Z, Yao Q, Wang W, Wu Z (2017) Distinct bacterial communities associated with massive and branching scleractinian corals and potential linkages to coral susceptibility to thermal or cold stress. Frontiers in microbiology 8:1–10

Lindahl U (2003) Coral reef rehabilitation through transplantation of staghorn corals: Effects of artificial stabilization and mechanical damages. Coral reefs 22:217–223

Little AF, van Oppen MJH, Willis BL (2004) Flexibility in algal endosymbioses shapes growth in reef corals. Science 304:1492–1494

Littman R, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2011) Metagenomic analysis of the coral holobiont during a natural bleaching event on the Great Barrier Reef. Environmental microbiology reports 3:651–660

Loffler Z, Hoey AS (2017) Canopy-forming macroalgal beds (Sargassum) on coral reefs are resilient to physical disturbance. The Journal of ecology 1156–1164

Loh WKW, Loi T, Carter D, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2001) Genetic variability of the symbiotic dinoflagellates from the wide-ranging coral species Seriatopora hystrix and Acropora longicyathus in the Indo-West Pacific. Marine ecology progress series 222:97–107

Lundgren P, Vera JC, Peplow LM, Manel S, van Oppen MJH (2013) Genotype - environment correlations in corals from the Great Barrier Reef. BMC genetics 14:1–1

Mallet J (2005) Hybridization as an invasion of the genome. Trends in ecology & evolution 20:229–237

Manning MM, Gates RD (2008) Diversity in populations of free-living Symbiodinium from a Caribbean and Pacific reef. Limnology and oceanography 53:1853–1861

Marimuthu N, Ramachandran P, Robin RS, Tudu D, Hariharan G, Ramesh R (2016) Spatial variation in the health of coral reef communities of Palk Bay, southeast coast of India. Aquatic ecosystem health & management 19:360–367

Marx V (2016) Microbiology: The return of culture. Nature methods 14:37-40

Matz MV, Treml EA, Aglyamova GV, Bay LK (2018) Potential and limits for rapid genetic adaptation to warming in a Great Barrier Reef coral. PLoS genetics 14:e1007220

Maynard J, Van Hooidonk R, Eakin CM, Puotinen M, Garren M, Williams G, Heron SF, Lamb J, Weil E, Willis B, Harvell CD (2015) Projections of climate conditions that increase coral disease susceptibility and pathogen abundance and virulence. Nature climate change 5:688–694

McDonald T, Gann G, Jonson J, Dixon K (2016) International standards for the practice of ecological restoration--including principles and key concepts. (Society for Ecological Restoration: Washington, DC, USA.). Soil-Tec, Inc. © Marcel Huijser, Bethanie Walder

McKeon CS, Moore JM (2014) Species and size diversity in protective services offered by coral guard-crabs. PeerJ 2:e574–e574

Meron D, Atias E, Iasur Kruh L, Elifantz H, Minz D, Fine M, Banin E (2011) The impact of reduced pH on the microbial community of the coral Acropora eurystoma. The ISME journal 5:51–60

Messer PW, Petrov DA (2013) Population genomics of rapid adaptation by soft selective sweeps. Trends in ecology & evolution 28:659–669

Meyer JL, Gunasekera SP, Scott RM, Paul VJ, Teplitski M (2015) Microbiome shifts and the inhibition of quorum sensing by Black Band Disease cyanobacteria. The ISME Journal 10:1204–1216

Mieszkin S, Callow ME, Callow JA (2013). Interactions between microbial biofilms and marine fouling algae: a mini review. Biofouling 29: 1097 - 1113

Miller MW (2001) Corallivorous snail removal: evaluation of impact on Acropora palmata. Coral reefs 19:293–295

Morris LA, Voolstra CR, Quigley KM, Bourne DG, Bay LK (2019). Nutrient availability and metabolism affect the stability of coral – Symbiodiniaceae symbioses. Trends in Microbiology DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2019.03.004

Morrow KM, Paul VJ, Liles MR, Chadwick NE (2011) Allelochemicals produced by Caribbean macroalgae and cyanobacteria have species-specific effects on reef coral microorganisms. Coral reefs 30:309–320

Mortzfeld BM, Urbanski S, Reitzel AM, Künzel S, Technau U, Fraune S (2016) Response of bacterial colonization in Nematostella vectensis to development, environment and biogeography. Environmental microbiology 18:1764–1781

Mumby PJ (2009) Phase shifts and the stability of macroalgal communities on Caribbean coral reefs. Coral reefs 28:761–773

Mumby PJ, Chisholm JRM, Edwards AJ, Andrefouet S, Jaubert J (2001) Cloudy weather may have saved Society Island reef corals during the 1998 ENSO event. Marine ecology progress series 222:209–216

Mumby PJ, Dahlgren CP, Harborne AR, Kappel CV, Micheli F, Brumbaugh DR, Holmes KE, Mendes JM, Broad K, Sanchirico JN, Buch K, Box S, Stoffle RW, Gill AB (2006) Fishing, trophic cascades, and the process of grazing on coral reefs. Science 311:98–101

Munday PL, Warner RR, Monro K, Pandolfi JM, Marshall DJ (2013) Predicting evolutionary responses to climate change in the sea. Ecology letters 16:1488–1500

Muscatine L (1980) Productivity of zooxanthellae. In: Falkowski P.G. (eds) Plenum Press, New York, New York, pp 381–402

Muscatine L (1990) The role of symbiotic algae in carbon and energy flux in reef corals. In: Dubinsky Z. (eds) Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands, pp 75–87

National Research Council, Division on Earth and Life Studies, Board on Environmental Studies and Toxicology, Commission on Life Sciences, Committee on Toxicology (1997) Toxicity of Military Smokes and Obscurants. National Academies Press,

Ng W-L, Bassler BL (2009) Bacterial Quorum-Sensing Network Architectures. Annual Review of Genetics 43:197–222

Oliveira J, Castilho F, Cunha A, Pereira MJ (2012) Bacteriophage therapy as a bacterial control strategy in aquaculture. Aquaculture international: journal of the European Aquaculture Society 20:879–910

Oliver JK, Willis BL (1987) Coral-spawn slicks in the Great Barrier Reef: Preliminary observations. Marine biology 94:521–529

Olson ND, Ainsworth TD, Gates RD, Takabayashi M (2009) Diazotrophic bacteria associated with Hawaiian *Montipora* corals: Diversity and abundance in correlation with symbiotic dinoflagellates. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 371:140–146

van Oppen MJH (2004) Mode of zooxanthella transmission does not affect zooxanthella diversity in acroporid corals. Marine biology 144:1–7

van Oppen MJH, Baker AC, Coffroth MA, Willis BL (2009) Bleaching Resistance and the Role of Algal Endosymbionts. In: van Oppen M.J.H., Lough J.M. (eds) Coral Bleaching: Patterns, Processes, Causes and Consequences. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 83–102

van Oppen MJH, Gates RD, Blackall LL, Cantin NE, Chakravarti LJ, Chan WY, Cormick C, Crean A, Damjanovic K, Epstein H, Harrison PL, Jones TA, Miller M, Pears RJ, Peplow LM, Raftos DA, Schaffelke B, Stewart K, Torda G, Wachenfeld DR, Weeks AR, Putnam HM (2017) Shifting paradigms in restoration of the world's coral reefs. Global change biology 23:3437–3448

van Oppen MJH, Mahiny AJ, Done TJ (2005) Geographic distribution of zooxanthella types in three coral species on the Great Barrier Reef sampled after the 2002 bleaching event. Coral reefs 24:482–487

van Oppen MJH, Oliver JK, Putnam HM, Gates RD (2015) Building coral reef resilience through assisted evolution. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112:2307–2313

van Oppen MJH, Puill-Stephan E, Lundgren P, De'ath G, Bay LK (2014) First-generation fitness consequences of interpopulational hybridisation in a Great Barrier Reef coral and its implications for assisted migration management. Coral reefs 33:607–611

Osborne K, Dolman AM, Burgess SC, Johns KA (2011) Disturbance and the dynamics of coral cover on the Great Barrier Reef (1995-2009). PloS one 6:e17516

Paine RT (1969) A note on tropic complexity and community stability. The American naturalist 103:91–93

Paterson RA (1990) Effects of long-term anti-shark measures on target and non-target species in Queensland, Australia. Biological conservation 52:147–159

Peixoto RS, Rosado PM, Leite DC de A, Rosado AS, Bourne DG (2017) Beneficial microorganisms for corals (BMC): Proposed mechanisms for coral health and resilience. Frontiers in microbiology 8:1–16

Pelini SL, Dzurisin JDK, Prior KM, Williams CM, Marsico TD, Sinclair BJ, Hellmann JJ (2009) Translocation experiments with butterflies reveal limits to enhancement of poleward populations under climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106:11160–11165

Petersen D, Wietheger A, Laterveer M (2008) Influence of different food sources on the initial development of sexual recruits of reefbuilding corals in aquaculture. Aquaculture 277:174–178

Petit RJ, Excoffier L (2009) Gene flow and species delimitation. Trends in ecology & evolution 24:386–393

Piaggio AJ, Segelbacher G, Seddon PJ, Alphey L, Bennett EL, Carlson RH, Friedman RM, Kanavy D, Phelan R, Redford KH, Rosales M, Slobodian L, Wheeler K (2017) Is it time for synthetic biodiversity conservation? Trends in ecology & evolution 32:97–107

Plough LV, Hedgecock D (2011) Quantitative trait locus analysis of stage-specific inbreeding depression in the pacific oyster Crassostrea gigas. Genetics 189:1473–1486

Plough LV, Shin G, Hedgecock D (2016) Genetic inviability is a major driver of type III survivorship in experimental families of a highly fecund marine bivalve. Molecular ecology 25:895–910

Pollock FJ, Katz SM, van de Water JAJM, Davies SW, Hein MY, Torda G, Matz MV, Beltran VH, Buerger P, Puill-Stephan E, Abrego D, Bourne DG, Willis BL (2017) Coral larvae for restoration and research: a large-scale method for rearing Acropora millepora larvae, inducing settlement, and establishing symbiosis. PeerJ 5:e3732–e3732

Pollock FJ, Morris PJ, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2011) The urgent need for robust coral disease diagnostics. PLoS pathogens 7:

Power ME, Tilman D, Estes JA, Menge BA, Bond WJ, Mills LS, Daily G, Castilla JC, Lubchenco J, Paine RT (1996) Challenges in the Quest for Keystones. Bioscience 46:609–620

Pratchett M, Caballes C, Wilmes J, Matthews S, Mellin C, Sweatman H, Nadler L, Brodie J, Thompson C, Hoey J, Bos A, Byrne M, Messmer V, Fortunato S, Chen C, Buck A, Babcock R, Uthicke S (2017) Thirty Years of Research on Crown-of-Thorns Starfish (1986–2016): Scientific Advances and Emerging Opportunities. Diversity 9:41

Putnam HM, Gates RD (2015) Preconditioning in the reef-building coral Pocillopora damicornis and the potential for trans-generational acclimatization in coral larvae under future climate change conditions. The Journal of experimental biology 218:2365–2372

Putnam HM, Ritson-Williams R, Cruz JA, Davidson JM, Gates RD (2018) Nurtured by nature: Considering the role of environmental and parental legacies in coral ecological performance. BioRxiv

Putnam HM, Stat M, Pochon X, Gates RD (2012) Endosymbiotic flexibility associates with environmental sensitivity in scleractinian corals. Proceedings Biological sciences / The Royal Society 279:4352–4361

Qiao GG, Prime EL, Scofield JMP, Flores F, Negri AP (2017). Surface Films to Protect Coral Reefs, Report to The Tiffany & Co. Foundation and the Great Barrier Reef Foundation.

Quigley KM, Willis BL, Bay LK (2016) Maternal effects and *Symbiodinium* community composition drive differential patterns in juvenile survival in the coral Acropora tenuis. Royal Society Open Science 3:160471–160471

Quigley KM, Bay LK, Willis BL (2017) Temperature and Water Quality-Related Patterns in Sediment-Associated *Symbiodinium* Communities Impact Symbiont Uptake and Fitness of Juveniles in the Genus Acropora. Frontiers in Marine Science 4:401

Quigley KM, Willis BL, Kenkel C (2018a) Transgenerational inheritance of shuffled symbiont communities in the coral *Montipora digitata*. BioRxiv 264796

Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program, a partnership

Quigley KM, Warner PA, Bay LK, Willis BL (2018bc) Unexpected mixed-mode transmission and moderate genetic regulation of *Symbiodinium* communities in a brooding coral. Heredity 121:524–536Restoration Ecology 1–4

Quigley KM, Bay LK, van Oppen M (2019) The spread of adaptive variation for reef resilience and adaptation. *In Review*.

Radulovich R, Umanzor S, Cabrera R, Mata R (2015) Tropical seaweeds for human food, their cultivation and its effect on biodiversity enrichment. Aquaculture 436:40–46

Raina J-B, Tapiolas D, Motti CA, Foret S, Seemann T, Tebben J, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2016) Isolation of an antimicrobial compound produced by bacteria associated with reef-building corals. PeerJ 4:e2275

Ratianingsih R, Ismawati N, Puspita JW, Jaya AI (2017) The role of top predator in the preservation of coral reefs ecosystem. Communication in Biomathematical Sciences 1:54–61

Rau GH, McLeod EL, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2012) The need for new ocean conservation strategies in a high-carbon dioxide world. Nature climate change 2:720–724

Raymundo LJ, Couch CS, Drew Harvell C, Laurie C, Raymundo J, Couch CS, Bruckner AW, Drew Harvell C, Work TM, Weil E, Woodley CM, Jordan-dahlgren E, Willis BL, Sato Y, Aeby GS (2008) Coral Disease Handbook Guidelines for Assessment, Monitoring & Management.

Rhymer JM, Simberloff D (1996) Extinction by hybridization and introgression. Annual review of ecology and systematics 27:83–109

Ricciardi A, Simberloff D (2009) Assisted colonization is not a viable conservation strategy. Trends in ecology & evolution 24:248–253

Richards ZT, Hobbs JPA (2015) Hybridisation on coral reefs and the conservation of evolutionary novelty. Current zoology 61:132–145

Richmond RH (1987) Energetics, competency, and long-distance dispersal of planula larvae of the coral Pocillopora damicornis. Marine biology 93:527–533

Riegl BM, Purkis SJ, Al-Cibahy AS, Abdel-Moati MA, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2011) Present limits to heat-adaptability in corals and population-level responses to climate extremes. PloS one 6:

Rio Tinto (2015) A practical guide to the construction and management of artificial reefs in northwestern Australia. MScience, Nedlands, Western Australia. [URL: http://www.mscience.net.au/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/AR-Guide-Current\_online.pdf; Accessed 21 Jan 2019]

Ritchie K (2006) Regulation of microbial populations by coral surface mucus and mucusassociated bacteria. Marine Ecology Progress Series 322:1–14

Ritson-Williams R, Paul VJ, Arnold SN, Steneck RS (2010) Larval settlement preferences and post-settlement survival of the threatened Caribbean corals *Acropora palmata* and *A. cervicornis*. Coral Reefs 29:71–81

Robock A (2011) Bubble, bubble, toil and trouble. Climatic change 105:383-385

Rocheleau GJ, Grandelli P (2011) Physical and biological modelling of a 100 mega watt Ocean Thermal Energy Conversion discharge plume. 1–10

Rocker MM. (2016) Effects of water quality on the health and condition of inshore corals. *PhD* thesis, James Cook University.

Rocker MM, Francis DS, Fabricius KE, Willis BL, Bay LK (2017) Variation in the health and biochemical condition of the coral Acropora tenuis along two water quality gradients on the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Marine pollution bulletin 119:106–119

Rodrigues LJ, Grottoli AG (2007) Energy reserves and metabolism as indicators of coral recovery from bleaching. Limnology and oceanography 52:1874–1882

Rodriguez-Lanetty M, Cha HR, Song JI (2002) Genetic diversity of symbiotic dinoflagellates associated with anthozoans from Korean waters. 163–166

Rodriguez-Lanetty M, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2003) Symbiont diversity within the widespread scleractinian coral Plesiastrea versipora, across the northwestern Pacific. Marine biology 143:501–509

Rohwer F, Seguritan V, Azam F, Knowlton N (2002) Diversity and distribution of coral-associated bacteria. Marine ecology progress series 243:1–10

Rosenberg E, Koren O, Reshef L, Efrony R, Zilber-Rosenberg I (2007) The role of microorganisms in coral health, disease and evolution. Nature reviews Microbiology 5:355–362

Röthig T, Costa RM, Simona F, Baumgarten S, Torres AF, Radhakrishnan A, Aranda M, Voolstra CR (2016) Distinct bacterial communities associated with the coral model Aiptasia in aposymbiotic and symbiotic states with Symbiodinium. Frontiers in Marine Science 3:

Rothschild MF, Ruvinsky A (2007) Marker-assisted selection for aquaculture species. Blackwell Publishing, pp 551–551

Rowan R, Knowlton N (1995) Intraspecific diversity and ecological zonation in coral-algal symbiosis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 92:2850–2853

Rowan R, Knowlton N, Baker A, Jara J (1997) Landscape ecology of algal symbionts creates variation in episodes of coral bleaching. Nature 388:265–269

RRRC, Robertson B (2017) RRRC welcomes funding for Reef water-mixing technology as bleaching season approaches. [URL: https://www.rrrc.org.au/rrrc-welcomes-funding-for-reef-water-mixing-technology-as-bleaching-season-approaches; accessed 21 Jan 2019]

Ruiz GM, Freestone AL, Fofonoff PW, Simkanin C (2009). Habitat distribution and heterogeneity in marine invasion dynamics: the importance of hard substrate and artificial structures, p. 321-332. In: Wahl M (Ed.) Marine Hard Bottom Communities: Patterns, Dynamics, Diversity and Change. Berlin, Springer.

Russell LM, Sorooshian A, Seinfeld JH, Albrecht BA, Nenes A, Ahlm L, Chen Y-C, Coggon M, Craven JS, Flagan RC, Frossard AA, Jonsson H, Jung E, Lin JJ, Metcalf AR, Modini R, Mülmenstädt J, Roberts G, Shingler T, Song S, Wang Z, Wonaschütz A (2013) Eastern Pacific Emitted Aerosol Cloud Experiment. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 94:709–729

Samsuri AN, Kikuzawa YP, Taira D, Sam SQ, Sim WT, Ng CSL, Afiq-Rosli L, Wee TWD, Ng NK, Toh TC, Chou LM (2018) The effectiveness of Trapezia cymodoce in defending its host coral *Pocillopora acuta* against corallivorous *Drupella*. Marine biology 165:1–8

Sanford E, Kelly MW (2011) Local adaptation in marine invertebrates. Annual review of marine science 3:509–535

Dos Santos HF, Carmo FL, Duarte G, Dini-Andreote F, Castro CB, Rosado AS, van Elsas JD, Peixoto RS (2014) Climate change affects key nitrogen-fixing bacterial populations on coral reefs. The ISME Journal 8:2272–2279

dos Santos HFA, Duarte GAS, Da Costa Rachid CT, Chaloub RM, Calderon EN, De Barros Marangoni LF, Bianchini A, Nudi AH, Do Carmo FL, van Elsas JD, Rosado AS, Castro CBE, Peixoto RS (2015) Impact of oil spills on coral reefs can be reduced by bioremediation using probiotic microbiota. Scientific reports 5:1–11

Santos SR, Gutierrez-Rodriguez C, Lasker HR, Coffroth MA (2003) Symbiodinium sp. associations in the gorgonian *Pseudopterogorgia elisabethae* in the Bahamas: high levels of genetic variability and population structure in symbiotic dinoflagellates. Marine biology 143:111–120

Sauvage C, Boudry P, De Koning DJ, Haley CS, Heurtebise S, Lapègue S (2010) QTL for resistance to summer mortality and OsHV-1 load in the Pacific oyster (Crassostrea gigas). Animal genetics 41:390–399

Savage AM, Goodson MS, Visram S, Trapido-Rosenthal H, Wiedenmann J, Douglas AE (2002) Molecular diversity of symbiotic algae at the latitudinal margins of their distribution: dinoflagellates of the genus Symbiodinium in corals and sea anemones. Marine ecology progress series 244:17–26

Seitz R (2011) Bright water: hydrosols, water conservation and climate change. Climatic change 105:365–381

Servetnick MD, Steinworth B, Babonis LS, Simmons D, Salinas-Saavedra M, Martindale MQ (2017) Cas9-mediated excision of *Nematostella brachyury* disrupts endoderm development, pharynx formation and oral-aboral patterning. Development 144:2951–2960

Shaish L, Levy G, Katzir G, Rinkevich B (2010) Coral Reef Restoration (Bolinao, Philippines) in the Face of Frequent Natural Catastrophes. Restoration Ecology 18:285–299

Sharp KH, Ritchie KB (2012) Multi-Partner Interactions in Corals in the Face of Climate Change. The Biological Bulletin 223:66–77

Shaver EC, Burkepile DE, Silliman BR (2018) Local management actions can increase coral resilience to thermally induced bleaching. Nature ecology & evolution 2:1075–1079

Shikuma NJ, Pilhofer M, Weiss GL, Hadfield MG, Jensen GJ, Newman DK (2014) Marine Tubeworm Metamorphosis Induced by Arrays of Bacterial Phage Tail-Like Structures. Science 343:529–533

Shlesinger Y, Loya Y (1991) Reproductive patterns of scleractinian corals in the northern Red Sea. Hydrobiologia 216:101–108

Shull GH (1948) What is "heterosis"? Genetics 33:439-439

Simkiss K (1964) Phosphates as crystal poisons of calcification. Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society 39:487–505

Smith LW, Barshis D, Birkeland C (2007) Phenotypic plasticity for skeletal growth, density and calcification of Porites lobata in response to habitat type. Coral reefs 26:559–567

Smith LW, Birkeland C (2007) Effects of intermittent flow and irradiance level on back reef Porites corals at elevated seawater temperatures. Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology 341:282–294

Spadaro AJ (2014) Caribbean coral reef restoration: A brief review and concept proposal of a new method. Annual Conference of the Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute 67:374–377

Stat M, Morris E, Gates RD (2008) Functional diversity in coral – dinoflagellate symbiosis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105:9256– 9261

Stimson J, Cunha T, Philippoff J (2007) Food preferences and related behavior of the browsing sea urchin *Tripneustes gratilla* (Linnaeus) and its potential for use as a biological control agent. Marine biology 151:1761–1772

Stjern CW, Muri H, Ahlm L, Boucher O, Cole JNS, Ji D, Jones A, Haywood J, Kravitz B, Lenton A, Moore JC, Niemeier U, Phipps SJ, Schmidt H, Watanabe S, Kristjánsson JE (2018) Response to marine cloud brightening in a multi-model ensemble. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 18:621–634

Streit RP, Hoey AS, Bellwood DR (2015) Feeding characteristics reveal functional distinctions among browsing herbivorous fishes on coral reefs. Coral reefs 34:1037–1047

Sunday JM, Calosi P, Dupont S, Munday PL, Stillman JH, Reusch TBH (2014) Evolution in an acidifying ocean. Trends in ecology & evolution 29:117–125

Swain TD, DuBois E, Goldberg SJ, Backman V, Marcelino LA (2017) Bleaching response of coral species in the context of assemblage response. Coral reefs 36:395–400

Swain TD, Vega-Perkins JB, Oestreich WK, Triebold C, DuBois E, Henss J, Baird AH, Siple M, Backman V, Marcelino L (2016) Coral bleaching response index: a new tool to standardize and compare susceptibility to thermal bleaching. Global change biology 22:2475–2488

Sweatman H (2008) No-take reserves protect coral reefs from predatory starfish. Current biology: CB 18:598–599

Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program, a partnership

Sweet M, Bythell J (2017) The role of viruses in coral health and disease. Journal of invertebrate pathology 147:136–144

Tait K, Hutchison Z, Thompson FL, Munn CB (2010) Quorum sensing signal production and inhibition by coral-associated vibrios: Quorum sensing and coral-associated vibrios. Environmental Microbiology Reports 2:145–150

Tanner JE (1995) Competition between scleractinian corals and macroalgae: An experimental investigation of coral growth, survival and reproduction. Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology 190:151–168

Thomas MA, Roemer GW, Donlan CJ, Dickson BG, Matocq M, Malaney J (2013) Gene tweaking for conservation. Nature 501:485–486

Thompson EL, O'Connor W, Parker L, Ross P, Raftos DA (2015) Differential proteomic responses of selectively bred and wild-type Sydney rock oyster populations exposed to elevated CO2. Molecular ecology 24:1248–1262

Thompson FL, Barash Y, Sawabe T, Sharon G, Swings J, Rosenberg E (2006) Thalassomonas loyana sp. nov., a causative agent of the white plague-like disease of corals on the Eilat coral reef. International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology 56:365–368

Tian P, Wang J, Shen X, Rey JF, Yuan Q, Yan Y (2017) Fundamental CRISPR-Cas9 tools and current applications in microbial systems. Synthetic and Systems Biotechnology 2:219–225

Toh TC, Ng CSL, Peh JWK, Toh KB, Chou LM (2014) Augmenting the post-transplantation growth and survivorship of juvenile scleractinian corals via nutritional enhancement. PloS one 9:e98529

Toller WW, Rowan R, Knowlton N (2001) Zooxanthellae of the *Montastraea annularis* species complex: Patterns of distribution of four taxa of Symbiodinium on different reefs and across depths. The Biological bulletin 201:348–359

Tolleter D, Seneca FO, DeNofrio JC, Krediet CJ, Palumbi SR, Pringle JR, Grossman AR (2013) Coral bleaching independent of photosynthetic activity. Current biology: CB 23:1782–1786

Torda G, Donelson JM, Aranda M, Barshis DJ, Bay LK, Berumen ML, Bourne DG, Cantin NE, Foret S, Matz M, Miller DJ, Moya A, Putnam HM, Ravasi T, van Oppen MJH, Thurber RVL, Vidal-Dupiol J, Voolstra CR, Watson SA, Whitelaw E, Willis BL, Munday PL (2017) Rapid adaptive responses to climate change in corals. Nature climate change 7:627–636

Towle EK, Enochs IC, Langdon C (2015) Threatened Caribbean coral is able to mitigate the adverse effects of ocean acidification on calcification by increasing feeding rate. PloS one 10:e0123394

Tran C, Hadfield MG (2011) Larvae of *Pocillopora damicornis* (Anthozoa) settle and metamorphose in response to surface-biofilm bacteria. Marine ecology progress series 433:85–96

Trapon ML, Pratchett MS, Hoey AS, Baird AH (2013) Influence of fish grazing and sedimentation on the early post-settlement survival of the tabular coral *Acropora cytherea*. Coral reefs 32:1051–1059

Tremblay P, Grover R, Maguer JF, Legendre L, Ferrier-Pages C (2012) Autotrophic carbon budget in coral tissue: a new 13C-based model of photosynthate translocation. Journal of Experimental Biology 215:1384–1393

Trench RK (1979) The cell biology of plant-animal symbiosis. Annual review of plant physiology 30:485–531

Trench RK (1987) Dinoflagellates in non-parasitic symbioses. In: Taylor F.J.R. (eds) Blackwell Publishing, Oxford England, pp 530–570

Trench RK (1993) Microalgal-invertebrate symbiosis-a review. Endocytobiosis and cell research 9:135–175

Twomey S (1991) Aerosols, clouds and radiation. Atmospheric Environment Part A, General Topics 25:2435–2442

Tyrell MC, Byers JE (2007) Do artificial substrates favor nonindigenous fouling species over native species? Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 342: 54-60.

Underwood JN, Richards ZT, Miller KJ, Puotinen ML, Gilmour JP (2018) Genetic signatures through space, time and multiple disturbances in a ubiquitous brooding coral. Molecular ecology 1586–1602

Väli Ü, Einarsson A, Waits L, Ellegren H (2008) To what extent do microsatellite markers reflect genome-wide genetic diversity in natural populations? Molecular ecology 17:3808–3817

Van Oppen MJH, Peplow LM, Kininmonth S, Berkelmans R (2011a) Historical and contemporary factors shape the population genetic structure of the broadcast spawning coral, *Acropora millepora*, on the Great Barrier Reef. Molecular ecology 20:4899–4914

Van Oppen MJH, Souter P, Howells EJ, Heyward A, Berkelmans R (2011b) Novel Genetic Diversity Through Somatic Mutations: Fuel for Adaptation of Reef Corals? Diversity 3:405–423

Vega Thurber RL, Burkepile DE, Correa AMS, Thurber AR, Shantz AA, Welsh R, Pritchard C, Rosales S (2012) Macroalgae decrease growth and alter microbial community structure of the reef-building coral, *Porites astreoides*. PloS one 7:1–10

Vega Thurber RL, Burkepile DE, Fuchs C, Shantz AA, Mcminds R, Zaneveld JR (2014) Chronic nutrient enrichment increases prevalence and severity of coral disease and bleaching. Global change biology 20:544–554

Vega Thurber RL, Willner-Hall D, Rodriguez-Mueller B, Desnues C, Edwards RA, Angly F, Dinsdale E, Kelly L, Rohwer F (2009) Metagenomic analysis of stressed coral holobionts. Environmental microbiology 11:2148–2163

Verbruggen H, Tribollet A (2011) Boring algae. Current Biology 21:R876–R877

Visser ME (2008) Keeping up with a warming world; assessing the rate of adaptation to climate change. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 275:649–659

Vollmer SV, Palumbi SR (2002) Hybridization and the evolution of coral reef diversity. Science 296:2023–2025

Wagner D, Mielbrecht E, van Woesik R (2008) Application of landscape ecology to spatial variance of water-quality parameters along the Florida Keys reef tract. Bulletin of marine science 83:553–569

Wang HH, Isaacs FJ, Carr PA, Sun ZZ, Xu G, Forest CR, Church GM (2009) Programming cells by multiplex genome engineering and accelerated evolution. Nature 460:894–899

Webster NS, Smith LD, Heyward AJ, Watts JEM, Webb RI, Blackall LL, Negri AP (2004) Metamorphosis of a Scleractinian coral in response to microbial biofilms. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70:1213–1221

Webster FJ, Babcock RC, van Keulen M, Loneragan NR (2015) Macroalgae inhibits larval settlement and increases recruit mortality at Ningaloo Reef, Western Australia. PloS one 10:1–14

Webster NS, Negri AP, Botté ES, Laffy PW, Flores F, Noonan S, Schmidt C, Uthicke S (2016) Host-associated coral reef microbes respond to the cumulative pressures of ocean warming and ocean acidification. Scientific reports 6:1–9

Webster NS, Reusch TBH (2017) Microbial contributions to the persistence of coral reefs. The ISME journal 11:2167–2174

Wei NV, Hsieh HJ, Dai C-F, Wallace CC, Baird AH, Chen CA (2012) Reproductive isolation among Acropora species (Scleractinia: Acroporidae) in a marginal coral assemblage. Zoological studies 51:85–92

Weis VM (2008) Cellular mechanisms of Cnidarian bleaching: stress causes the collapse of symbiosis. The Journal of experimental biology 211:3059–3066

Weis VM (2010) The suceptibility and resilience of corals to thermal stress: Adaptation acclimatization or both? Molecular ecology 19:1515–1517

West JM, Salm RV (2003) Resistance and resilience to coral bleaching: Implications for coral reef conservation and management. Conservation biology: the journal of the Society for Conservation Biology 17:956–967

Westcott, D.A., Fletcher, C. S, Babcock, R., Plaganyi-Lloyd, E. (2016) A Strategy to Link Research and Management of Crown-of-Thorns Starfish on the Great Barrier Reef: An Integrated Pest Management Approach. Report to the National Environmental Science Programme. Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns (80pp.).

Whiteley AR, Fitzpatrick SW, Funk WC, Tallmon DA (2015) Genetic rescue to the rescue. Trends in ecology & evolution 30:42–49.

Wiedenmann J, D'Angelo C, Smith EG, Hunt AN, Legiret F-E, Postle AD, Achterberg EP (2012) Nutrient enrichment can increase the susceptibility of reef corals to bleaching. Nature climate change 3:160

Wilkerson FP, Kobayashi D, Muscatine L (1988) Mitotic index and size of symbiotic algae in Caribbean Reef corals. Coral reefs 7:29–36

Williams DE, Miller MW, Bright AJ, Cameron CM (2014) Removal of corallivorous snails as a proactive tool for the conservation of acroporid corals. PeerJ 2:e680

Willis BL, Babcock RC, Harrison PL, Wallace CC (1997) Experimental hybridization and breeding incompatibilities within the mating systems of mass spawning reef corals. Coral reefs 16:S53–S65

Willis BL, van Oppen MJH, Miller DJ, Vollmer SV, Ayre DJ (2006) The role of hybridization in the evolution of reef corals. Annual review of ecology, evolution, and systematics 37:489–517

Wilson JR, Harrison PL (1998) Settlement-competency periods of larvae of three species of scleractinian corals. Marine biology 131:339–345

Wilson SK, Depczynski M, Fisher R, Holmes TH, O'Leary RA, Tinkler P (2010) Habitat associations of juvenile fish at Ningaloo Reef, Western Australia: the importance of coral and algae. PloS one 5:e15185

van Woesik R, Ripple K, Miller SL (2017) Macroalgae reduces survival of nursery reared Acropora corals in the Florida reef tract. Restoration Ecology 1–7

Wood R, Ackerman TP (2013) Defining success and limits of field experiments to test geoengineering by marine cloud brightening. Climatic change 121:459–472

Yonge SCM, Nicholls AG (1931) The structure, distribution and physiology of the zooxanthellae. British Museum,

Yue GH (2014) Recent advances of genome mapping and marker-assisted selection in aquaculture. Fish and fisheries 15:376–396

Zamani NP, Bachtiar R, Madduppa HH, Wahyu J, Isnul J, Iqbal M, Subhan B (2010) Study on Biorock® technique using three different anode materials (magnesium, aluminum, and titanium). E-Jurnal Ilmu dan Teknologi Kelautan Tropis 2:1–8

Zhang X, Lewis M, Johnson B (1998) Influence of bubbles on scattering of light in the ocean. Applied optics 37:6525–6536

Ziegler M, Seneca FO, Yum LK, Palumbi SR, Voolstra CR (2017) Bacterial community dynamics are linked to patterns of coral heat tolerance. Nature communications 8:1–8

### **APPENDIX A – RRAP DOCUMENT MAP**

**Reef Restoration and Adaptation Program** 



### **APPENDIX B – GLOSSARY**

All relevant terms are in **BOLD PURPLE** throughout this report.

(Physiological) acclimatisation - (i) phenotypic changes by an organism (usually reversible and limited by the genotype) to stressors in the natural environment that result in readjustment of the organism's tolerance levels (Coles and Brown, 2003); (ii) (phenotypic plasticity) the capacity of an organism to tune its biochemical attributes and physiological performance to a variety of environmental conditions within its lifetime and is also referred to as phenotypic plasticity (Coles and Brown, 2003; Weis, 2010; Brown and Cossins, 2011; Sanford and Kelly, 2011); (iii) the ability of the same genotype to adjust its phenotype under different environmental conditions without genetic change (reversible, developmental or transgenerational; Webster and Reusch, 2017).

(Developmental) acclimatisation - irreversible phenotypic plasticity resulting from environmental cues experienced during development (also known as developmental plasticity; Munday *et al.*, 2013).

(Transgenerational) acclimatisation (TGP)) - acclimatisation or plasticity passed between generations potentially through epigenetic programing or vertically transferred microbial communities; (ii) the phenotype of a new generation is influenced by the environment experienced by the previous generation (Torda *et al.*, 2017).

<u>Adult (coral)</u> - mature coral colony, capable of sexual reproduction, through internal brooding of larvae or broadcast spawning and subsequent external fertilisation.

<u>Albedo</u> – a measure of how much light hits a surface and is reflected without being absorbed. Something that appears white reflects most of the light that hits it and has a high **albedo**, while something that looks dark absorbs most of the light that hits it, indicating a low **albedo**.

<u>Allele</u> – a variant form of a gene. Some genes have a variety of different forms, which are located at the same position, or genetic locus, on a chromosome. Humans are considered diploid organisms because they have two **alleles** at each genetic locus, with one **allele** inherited from each parent.

<u>Amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP)</u> - fragments of DNA (50-500bp) used in DNA fingerprinting.

<u>Assisted evolution (AE)</u> - the acceleration of naturally-occurring evolutionary processes via human intervention to enhance certain traits (Jones and Monaco, 2009; van Oppen *et al.*, 2015); holistic term that includes genetic adaptation, transgenerational changes through epigenetic mechanisms, and modifications in the community composition of microbes associated with the target organism (van Oppen *et al.*, 2017).

<u>Assisted gene flow (AGF)</u> - (i) intentional translocation of individuals within a species range to facilitate adaptation to anticipated local conditions (Aitken and Whitlock, 2013); (ii)

managed movement of individuals into populations to reduce local mis-adaptation to climate or other environmental changes (Whiteley *et al.*, 2015).

<u>Assisted colonisation</u> - the intentional movement of focal units (ecotypes, species, taxa, functional types, life forms) to recipient localities, where these focal units are currently absent, and where they cannot be expected to colonise by natural means within a short time (i.e. years or decades; Kreyling *et al.*, 2011).

<u>Assisted migration</u> - intentional translocation of individuals within or outside the natural range of a species (Aitken and Whitlock, 2013).

<u>Autotroph</u> – an organism capable of synthesising its own food from inorganic substances, using light or chemical energy. Green plants, algae, and certain bacteria are autotrophs.

**Beneficial microorganisms for corals (BMC)** - coral symbionts that possess potential beneficial traits, including nutritional ('probiotics') and protective mechanisms that improve coral fitness and contribute to coral resilience (Peixoto *et al.*, 2017).

**Biofilm** - a complex assemblage of microorganisms, including bacteria, diatoms, fungi, protozoa, other small organisms, and can also include a large amount of secreted extracellular polymeric substance in which the cells of the component organisms are buried (Hadfield, 2011).

<u>Cells</u> – the cell is the basic structural, functional, and biological unit of all known living organisms. A **somatic cell** is any biological cell forming the body of an organism other than a gamete, germ cell, gametocyte or undifferentiated stem cell. The **germ line** are cells that give rise to gametes of organisms that reproduce sexually.

<u>Co-adapted gene complexes</u> – specific combinations of genes at multiple loci that interact to confer higher fitness relative to other genotypes.

<u>Colony</u> - term to describe any coral that has two or more genetically identical polyps. Usually reserved for larger, easily visible coral colonies.

<u>Conditioning</u> - inducing a shift in the phenotypic performance of an organism due to sublethal stress exposure.

<u>CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing</u> - originally isolated from 'Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats' acquired immune systems in bacteria, Cas9 is a non-repetitive enzyme that can be directed to cut almost any DNA sequence by simply using a 'guide RNA' containing that same sequence.

<u>Delivery method</u> - The method to deploy the intervention. Delivery methods consist of three parts: the specific approach, production, and deployment on the Reef. The same production and deployment methods may be combined with different approaches to deliver different interventions. For example, aquaculture production can enhance recovery or adaptation depending on the stock and treatments used.

<u>Environmental adjustment</u> - reef-scale physical implementations to reduce the exposure of corals to acute environmental stress events.

**Epigenetics** - (i) the external modification of genes (without a change in the actual gene sequence) that causes a change in expression level of those genes (i.e. DNA methylation, histone tail modification, chromatin remodelling and biogenesis of small non-coding RNAs; Handel *et al.*, 2010); (ii) regarding turning genes on or off, stable cellular memory that persists after cell division, and, in some cases, even through sexual reproduction (Crossley, 2013); (iii) a term originally coined by Waddington in 1940, intended to explain the phenomenon of cellular differentiation in multicellular organisms from a single genome, and more recently the concept has evolved to include all mechanisms that potentially regulate gene expression (i.e. DNA methylation, histone modifications and variants, noncoding and antisense RNA; Torda *et al.*, 2017); (iv) environmentally induced changes not encoded in the base sequence of the DNA that may nevertheless alter gene expression levels and have a heritable component (i.e. DNA-methylation marks, histone acetylation and microRNA; Webster and Reusch, 2017).

<u>Epistasis</u> - the interaction of genes that are not alleles, particularly the suppression of the effect of one such gene by another.

**Experimental evolution** - the directed evolution of a population across multiple generations under *defined* and reproducible conditions (generally in a laboratory; FAO report, 2017).

**F1** – an F1 hybrid is the first filial generation of offspring of distinctly different parental types. F1 hybrids are used in genetics, and selective breeding. Subsequent generations are called F2, F3 and so on.

**Facilitated adaptation** - (i) rescuing a target population or species by endowing it with adaptive alleles, or gene variants, using genetic engineering (Thomas *et al.*, 2013); (ii) supplementing genomic diversity of bottle-neck populations to increase adaptive potential in a changing environment (Johnson *et al.*, 2016).

<u>Fecundity</u> – a term used in demography and population biology to describe the potential for reproduction of an organism or population, measured by the number of gametes (eggs), seed set, or asexual propagules.

**Functional diversity** - a component of biodiversity that generally concerns the range of things that organisms do (functions) in communities and ecosystems.

**Functional objective** - the core benefit being targeted by an intervention, such as reducing conditions that induce bleaching, or enhancing the ability of Reef populations to recover from, or withstand, bleaching.

**Functional objective type** - Groupings of like functional objectives used to cluster interventions that share intended benefits, such as reducing conditions that induce bleaching, or enhancing the ability of Reef populations to recover from, or withstand, bleaching. They have been used for communication and outreach purposes as they commonly have similar social and regulatory considerations.

<u>Gene drive</u> - (i) technique for spreading selected, usually recombinant, DNA sequences (genes) through wild populations with the aim of eliminating unwanted characteristics of an organism or adding desired characteristics (Piaggio *et al.*, 2017); (ii) a stretch of DNA that is inherited more frequently than normal. In sexually reproducing organisms, most DNA sequences have a 50 percent chance of being inherited by each offspring ('Mendelian inheritance'), while gene drives manage to rig the system so that they are inherited more frequently (up to 100 percent of the time; Esvelt website:

http://www.sculptingevolution.org/genedrives/genedrivefaq).

<u>Gene swamping</u> - rapid increase in frequency of an introduced variant that leads to substantial replacement of local variants due to a numerical or fitness advantage (Hufford and Mazer, 2003).

<u>Genotype by environment interaction</u> - (i) two different genotypes respond to environmental variation in different ways; (ii) potential phenotypic responses revealed by a reciprocal transplant design: (a) fixed differences in the performance of corals from different source populations regardless of environmental exposure (source effect), indicating no plasticity in phenotypic responses; (b) plasticity in the performance of corals depending on the environment (environmental effect), leading to similarly expressed phenotypes at a given location and acclimatisation of foreign genotypes to local conditions; and (c) a source by environment interaction, indicating local adaptation arising from genetic effects or potentially through developmental canalisation (Rocker, 2016).



(Genetic) adaptation - a change in phenotype from one generation to the next through natural selection and involves a genetic change in the form of allele frequency changes between generations; (ii) when the more stenotopic members of a population are eliminated by environmental stress, leaving the more tolerant organisms to reproduce and recruit to available habitat (Coles and Brown, 2003); (iii) the fine-tuning of populations to their local environment via natural selection, resulting in resident genotypes with a higher fitness in their native habitat than foreign genotypes from more distant populations (Sandford and Kelly, 2011).

<u>Genetic engineering (modification/manipulation)</u> - the development and application of technologies that permit direct manipulation of genetic material to alter hereditary traits of a cell or organism (Piaggio *et al.*, 2017).

<u>Heterosis (hybrid vigour)</u> - (i) an increase in fitness relative to parental populations; (ii) 'the physiological vigor' of a heterozygous offspring in terms of growth, height and general robustness compared with its parents (Shull, 1948).

<u>Heterotroph</u> – an organism that cannot manufacture its own food by carbon fixation and therefore derives its intake of nutrition from other sources of organic carbon, mainly plant or animal matter. In the food chain, heterotrophs are secondary and tertiary consumers.

Holobiont (coral) - the collective community of the coral host and a range of eukaryotic and prokaryotic microorganisms (Rohwer *et al.*, 2002; Ainsworth *et al.*, 2010).

<u>Hybridisation</u> - interbreeding of individuals from what are believed to be genetically distinct populations, regardless of the taxonomic status of such populations (Rhymer and Simberloff, 1996).

**Intervention (under RRAP)** - suite of tools that can be deployed for large-scale restoration and adaptation.

Introgression - (i) new alleles entering the population by hybridisation with members of a differentiated population or even a different species (Ellegren and Galtier, 2016); (ii) the permanent incorporation of genes from one differentiated population to another (Petit and Excoffier, 2009); (iii) gene flow between populations whose individuals hybridise, achieved when hybrids backcross to one or both parental populations (Rhymer and Simberloff, 1996).

<u>Juvenile (coral)</u> - Sexually immature coral that has grown from a spat into a juvenile through the process of asexual budding. Often used interchangeably with 'recruit'. Generally, 'settlers' are younger than 'recruits', which are younger than 'juveniles'.

**Larval (coral)** - Planktonic stage of a stony coral, also called a planula. Larvae develop through the process of embryogenesis & larval development.

Larval seeding - enhancement of recruitment onto reefs using sexually derived larvae.

**Local adaptation** - higher fitness of local than nonlocal populations resulting from divergent selection among environments (Aitken and Whitlock, 2013).

**Loci** - a locus (plural loci) is a fixed position on a chromosome, or any region of genomic DNA, that is considered to be a discrete genetic unit. It can range in length from a few base pairs to a megabase-size region containing a large gene family (Silver 2001).

<u>Marine cloud brightening (MCB)</u> - a method of mitigating bleaching of corals by increasing the reflectivity (also known as albedo) of low-lying marine clouds over the reef so that they reflect more of the sun's incoming solar radiation back into space (Harrison, 2018).

<u>Metamorphosis</u> - a biological process by which an animal physically develops. It involves a conspicuous and relatively abrupt change in the animal's body structure through cell growth and differentiation. For corals, metamorphosis marks the transition from larva to spat.

<u>Microbe</u> – A microorganism, or microbe, is a microscopic organism, which may exist in its single-celled form or in a colony of cells. Microorganisms include all unicellular organisms and so are extremely diverse. All archaea and bacteria are microorganisms and were previously grouped together as prokaryotes. The third domain, Eukaryota, includes all multicellular organisms and many unicellular protists and protozoans.

<u>Microbiome (coral)</u> - (i) the collective genome of the coral-associated (symbiotic and nonsymbiotic) microorganisms (Ainsworth *et al.*, 2010); (ii) the collective genome of microorganisms or microbial assemblages (bacteria, archaea, protists) associated with any system such as the body of an animal, a water or soil sample, or an entire ocean (Ainsworth *et al.*, 2010); (iii) the sum of genetic information of the microbiota (Rosenberg *et al.*, 2016); (iv) the entire microbial community (and associated genes) that resides on or within a coral (Bourne *et al.*, 2016).

<u>Microbiome-mediated transgenerational acclimatisation (MMTA)</u> - because rapidly dividing microbial species can evolve much faster than the host, adaptive evolution can occur within weeks to months (Elena and Lenski, 2003), which is two to three orders of magnitude faster than genetic adaptation at the population level for the coral hosts (Webster and Reusch 2017). If this acclimatisation is vertically transmitted it would enable microbiome-mediated transgenerational acclimatisation (MMTA) of reef species.

<u>Mutagenesis</u> - the change of genetic information resulting in a mutation that may be spontaneous in nature, due to mutagen exposure, or experimentally induced in the laboratory.

<u>National Environmental Research Program (NESP)</u> - a long-term commitment by the Australian Government to environment and climate research; projects deliver collaborative, practical and applied research to inform decision making and on-ground action.

<u>Natural selection</u> - the process whereby organisms better adapted to their environment tend to survive and produce more offspring. The theory of its action was first fully expounded by Charles Darwin, and it is now regarded to be the principal process that brings about evolution. The death, or non-reproduction, needed for selection may be hard or soft.

<u>Hard natural selection</u> - occurs when one gene or variant is substituted completely for another. This may occur by means of an extreme advantage of one gene over another resulting in decreased fitness and subsequently increased mortality of individuals within a population with those genes or variants.

<u>Soft natural selection</u> – occurs when genes or variants are substituted at varying proportions throughout a population due to differential fitness of individuals. This may cause shifts in genes or variants within the population without an increase in the background mortality rate.

<u>Ocean Thermal Energy Conversion (OTEC)</u> - a process that can produce electricity by using the temperature difference between deep cold ocean water and warm tropical surface waters.

<u>**Outbreeding depression</u>** - (i) loss of fitness resulting from intra- or interspecific hybridisation caused by the disruption of either intrinsic gene interactions (epistasis) or interactions of genes and environment (Baums, 2008); (ii) lowered fitness in offspring, or later generations, of crosses between genetically different sources (Rhymer and Simberloff, 1996); (iii) a threat to small populations as it reduces the reproductive capacity of the population through demographic swamping, thus increasing the probability of population extinction (Byrne *et al.*, 2011); (iv) reduction in mean populations of the same species (detected in F1 or subsequent generations; Hufford and Mazer, 2003).</u>

<u>Outplanting</u> - attaching nursery-grown fragments to natural or engineered substrate using epoxy, cement, or cable ties.

Phage therapy - treatment of bacterial disease with a virus.

<u>Phenotype</u> - the composite of an organism's observable characteristics or traits, including its morphology or physical form and structure; its developmental processes; its biochemical and physiological properties and its behaviour. The phenotype results from the expression of the genetic code, or its genotype, and the influence of environmental factors. The genotype and environment may also interact, further affecting phenotype.

<u>Prevention (under RRAP)</u> - technologies and processes to reduce exposure to, and impacts of, disturbance.

<u>Probiotics</u> - (i) live microorganisms that, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit to the host (FAO/WHO, 2002); (ii) for increasing coral resilience this will likely include bateria, the algal endosymbionts and/or fungi (FAO report, 2017); (iii) a live microbial feed supplement that beneficially affects the host animal by improving its intestinal balance (Fuller, 1989; Peixoto *et al.*, 2017)

<u>Quantitative trait locus (QTL)</u> - a section of DNA (the locus) which correlates with variation in a phenotype (the quantitative trait) and are mapped by identifying molecular markers (such as SNPs or AFLPs) that correlate with an observed trait.

**<u>Recruit (coral)</u>** - Newly 'settled' coral of the benthic polyp stage. Term is usually reserved to describe corals of one or a few polyps only. Often used interchangeably with 'spat' and 'settler'.

<u>Repair (treatment; under RRAP)</u> - technologies and processes to enhance recovery after disturbance (e.g. coral bleaching, crown-of-thorns starfish outbreaks, cyclones, or ship groundings).

<u>Reverse genetics</u> - method to help understand the function of a gene by analysing the phenotypic effects of specific engineered gene sequences (Cleves *et al.*, 2018).

(Environmental) shading - conditions that decrease solar irradiance (e.g. cloud cover, high turbidity) and offer protection to corals under thermal stress (Coelho *et al.*, 2017).

<u>Settler (coral)</u> - Newly 'settled' coral of the benthic polyp stage. Term is usually reserved to describe corals of one or a few polyps. Often used interchangeably with '**spat** and '**recruit**'.

**<u>SNP (single nucleotide polymorphism)</u>** - the most common type of genetic variation represented by a difference in a single nucleotide.

<u>Spat (coral)</u> - Newly 'settled' coral of the benthic polyp stage. Term is usually reserved to describe corals of one or a few polyps. Often used interchangeably with '**settler**' and '**recruit**'.

<u>Stress hardening</u> - a process where prior exposure to stress events (e.g. extreme heat or cold) increases the tolerance to successive events.

<u>Synthetic biology</u> - (i) emerging area of research that can broadly be described as the design and construction of novel artificial biological pathways, organisms or devices, or the redesign of existing natural biological systems; (ii) the application of science, technology, and engineering to facilitate and accelerate the design, manufacture and/or modification of genetic materials in living organisms (SCENIHR *et al.*, 2014; Piaggio *et al.*, 2017).

<u>**Transgressive hybridisation</u></u> - the creation of hybrids with phenotypes more extreme than their parental lines (Whiteley** *et al.,* **2015).</u>** 

<u>Vertical mixing</u> - in the oceans, an upward and downward movement of water that occurs as a result of the temperature gradients (temperature differences between layers of the fluid).

# **Reef Restoration** and **Adaptation Program**

## **GBRrestoration.org**

Dr. Line Bay Australian Institute of Marine Science <u>I.bay@aims.gov.au</u>















